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Tuesday, October 12, 2010


--- On commencing at 9:07 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.


We are continuing with panel 2 today, the nuclear benchmarking, and I have Mr. Millar up first, but are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair, just a couple of preliminary matters.  More FYIs, I guess, than anything.


Firstly, on Friday, OPG filed --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Is your microphone on?


MR. KEIZER:  My light is on.  Maybe I am just unduly quiet today.  I don't know, but hopefully that microphone is on.  Just so FYI, the OPG filed on Friday amendments to its prefiled evidence relating to variance and deferral accounts, just to bring that to your attention, and those amendments dealt with three aspects, the updated information with respect to the expected deferral and variance account balances as at December 31, 2010.


Also, there was an amended proposal to clear the actual audited balances as at December 31, 2010, and that methodology for doing so is set out in the evidence.  And there was a request to establish a pension and other post-employment benefit cost variance account, which was also set out in that evidence with the amendments.


The second issue or second aspect to talk about is something we have been working on currently.  In the last day of hearing, based on this panel and their transcript, there is some confusion in the transcript as to which witnesses are speaking at which times, and that is between Mr. Sequeira and Mr. Leavitt.


So we are going to listen to the tapes and make sure that -- and also the witnesses will review the transcript to make sure that the appropriate testimony is attributable to the proper witness.  And we will hopefully have that clarified sometime Thursday or Friday for the record, as well.


And just also of note, we filed -- OPG filed last week eight interrogatories -- sorry, eight undertaking responses for the record, as well, and so those are available for parties to review.  Those are the only preliminary matters that we have.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Are there any others?


MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, perhaps I can introduce myself.  I am David Crocker, and Andrew Lord and I are going to split.  I think I will do the lion's share of it, but it will depend on how long we go and how much I can move other things out of the way.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, if I may, David MacIntosh, Energy Probe.


On the transcripts indicating who was present, Mr. Larry Schwartz was listed under Peter Faye's name, and he has not appeared yet, but will be appearing later in the hearing.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, that's fine.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 2, RESUMED


J. Sequeira, Previously Sworn


R. Leavitt, Previously Sworn


P. Tremblay, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.


I have produced a booklet of materials that I believe everyone should have a copy of.  Ms. Binette will bring up copies to the Panel.  These are, by and large, documents taken directly from the prefiled evidence.  I believe there are one or two documents that are not already on the evidentiary record at this proceeding, but we provided those in advance.  In this booklet, I think there may only be one, and it is not particularly significant.  I don't think there will be any problems, but Mr. Keizer can tell me, when we get there, if there are.


So I would propose to call that, Madam Chair, Exhibit K3.1, and that would be the Board Staff compendium of documents for panel 2.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FOR PANEL 2.


MR. MILLAR:  I will also be making -- there are numerous excerpts in the booklet from the phase 1 and phase 2 reports prepared by ScottMadden.  It may be necessary to turn to some pages that are not in the booklet.  So just for everyone's reference, I believe you can find the full copies of those reports at Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1, and Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 2.  So you may wish to have those ready, just in case.


I will start with some questions I think for you, Mr. Sequeira.  These relate to the phase 1 and phase 2 report.  So just by way of some background, there are two reports, is that correct, phase 1 and phase 2?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And phase 1, the phase 1 report focusses on benchmarking OPG to a number of comparators; is that correct?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is.


MR. MILLAR:  And the phase 2 report included your observations and recommendations for improvement; is that right?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, it is.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  And, again, some very high-level stuff.  What the phase 2 report recommends at the highest level is that OPG adopt a gap-based business planning approach; is that correct?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me what that is?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Essentially, that is a process of what we would refer to as top-down business planning based on closing gaps to known performance measures versus a more traditional business planning approach, which is used by both governments and utilities, largely, prior to the 2000s.


In the bottom-up business planning process, business units are asked to develop their business plans for whatever the planning horizon is.  Those typically are then assembled based on what was done in the past, plus modifications.  They are rolled up to a company level, typically at that point adjusted against some sort of financial cap or reality check, and then pushed back down to the business units.


And so we refer to it as a bottom-up/top-down business planning process.


The gap-based business planning process is a top-down/bottom-up, which means that the fundamental question is different.  Instead of asking the business units, What can we do next year, the question becomes, What must we do next year?


It starts with where are we ourselves; then how do we compare to others?  Is there a performance gap?  If there is, what is a reasonable time frame or level of aggressiveness for closing the gap, and then targets are set at the top and communicated to the business units, and the business units are requested to define ways to close the gap or improve performance or whatever the target is.


MR. MILLAR:  And when you say "gap", I assume it is obviously a gap from where you are and where you want to be.  I understand you divide the comparators into quartiles; is that correct?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, the comparators used at OPG are divided into the four cornerstone areas that OPG uses, both for internal management, but that is very consistent with the balance scorecard approach to strategic planning, which we would have recommended had there not been those cornerstones in place.


MR. MILLAR:  The phase 1 report benchmarks OPG against comparators for 19 metrics; is that correct?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.


MR. MILLAR:  And you identify three of those metrics as being key metrics; is that correct?  I am referring to page -- I believe it is 140 of your report.  I don't know if it is in my materials, but perhaps if I can jog your memory, you speak of the WANO Nuclear Performance Index, the total generating cost per megawatt-hour and unit capability factor.


MR. SEQUEIRA:  We have haven't used the...  Wait a minute.


MR. MILLAR:  When I say page 140, I am referring to the "140" at the top of the page as opposed to the bottom.


MR. SEQUEIRA:  We haven't been using the term, because we also have key improvement areas, as well, but those are the three I would say highest-level aggregators of overall performance for an operator.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  Can you tell me a little bit about each of those?  What is the WANO Nuclear Performance Index?


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, WANO is World Association of Nuclear Operators.  It is an international association very similar to what is in place in North America as INPO.


It represents the industry, but in terms of what we have done here, they also produce a nuclear performance index, which is the NPI.  That, in turn, is a roll-up of ten indicators, all of which are focussed on operational excellence in what the industry is doing.

What WANO does is collects that information for all of the operators that are members of WANO, and then reports it on a consistent basis over time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  What about total generating costs per megawatt-hour?  Can you describe what that is?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Total generating cost is -- follows another source of benchmarking information.  In this course, it is EUCG, which is Electric Utility Cost Group.  This is a group of utilities started some time ago, realizing that there was a need for cost benchmarks within the industry, but every individual company had different definitions of costs and different sub-breakdowns, so they came up with an overall functional process model for costs, and established that as an industry standard and then have been collecting cost data from members consistently since then.

MR. MILLAR:  And just to be clear, perhaps it is self-explanatory, but it says total generating cost.  That would include all costs for generation?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is the all-in cost, the highest cost measure.

MR. MILLAR:  So including fuel costs and...

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Including fuel and capital, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  The works?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Finally, the unit capability factor, what is that?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is a measure of the plants' actual output over a period of time.  So it is generation.

MR. MILLAR:  And is that expressed as a percentage, or how...

MR. LEAVITT:  It is expressed as a percentage.  The definition for unit capability factor is given in Exhibit F5, tab 1, schedule 1, page 152, and that is the nomenclature at the top of the page.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Sequeira, you may have already answered this but you said that these are the -- I called them the three key metrics and you might have described them somewhat differently.  Why are those either the three most important metrics or three of the most important metrics?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, primarily because they're roll-ups.  The NPI, for example, is a roll-up of 10 very critical operating indicators.  The total cost is a roll-up of all-in cost.  And the capability factor, especially, as you will notice, often benchmark is used the denominator in the calculations.

And so that determines just how much power has been produced by the units involved.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Could I ask you to turn to page 31 of Exhibit K3.1?  That is the booklet I just handed out.

What we've done here is we have reproduced three charts from your report; I believe it is the phase 1 report.

We put them all on the same page, but otherwise these are lifted directly from the report.  In fact, you can see the references beside them.

And these are the three key metrics we have just discussed and OPG's ranking for those metrics.

Would it be fair to say that OPG did not do particularly well against any of these three metrics?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It would.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look, the WANO NPI, they were 17th out of 20; for UCF, 18 out of 20; and for TGC, it was 16 out of 16.  Is that correct?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Millar, I am lost here.  You said page 31 of exhibit... oh, it is Exhibit K3.1.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  It's --


MS. SPOEL:  Are you referring to the numbers at the bottom of the page, the top of the page?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I'm sorry.  I should have been clearer.  I was referring to the pages at the top, handwritten pages at the top.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, the handwritten pages at the top.

MR. MILLAR:  My apologies.

MS. SPOEL:  Fine.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  And it is confusing since I started at virtually the end of the book.

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine.  I'm here.  I've got it.

MR. MILLAR:  To make sure everyone is awake at the after the long weekend.

MS. SPOEL:  I'm getting there.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, I am going to flip all the way back to page 1, and page 1 of handwritten numbers.  I think from here on it will be moving more or less as it goes in the booklet.

Mr. Sequeira, I am just -- I have a few -- these are really clarification-type questions on things that we read in the report and we were a little bit curious about, so you will see I have reproduced page 99 of the phase 1 report.

These are two charts showing, I believe, the contributing factors to capability factor performance at Pickering A and B; is that right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.

MR. MILLAR:  And the capability factor, what is that?  Is that UCF?  Or similar to UCF?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is UCF, is it not?  It is UCF.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  And what we see here, there is a chart showing various percentages.  I understand –- and this is described a little bit more in the report and perhaps in pages I didn't reproduce, but maybe you can confirm for me -- you identify that there was a gap to best quartile for Pickering A and B; is that correct?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.

MR. MILLAR:  And I believe the gap for Pickering A was over 30 percent, and it was over 15 percent for Pickering B; does that sound right, subject to check?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Subject to change.

MR. MILLAR:  And what this chart is showing are the factors that are creating that gap.  Is that a fair way to put it?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Factors contributing to the gap.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the one I had, I see there is a number of categories, but there is one called human performance, for which I guess it contributes 13 percent of the gap for Pickering A and 14 percent for Pickering B.

We weren't sure what "human performance" meant.  Are you able to help us with that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It is -- the human performance is really recognizing that the plants are run by humans and humans are error-prone, and those are impacts on production caused by error.  And it -- essentially that is what that factor pertains to.

MR. MILLAR:  So human error, do you mean things like accidents or just --


MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  Just perhaps a unit shutdown caused by an error in sequencing, a procedure.  Some kind of an issue or problem that relates to humans, as opposed to equipment malfunction or a problem, a mechanical problem of some kind.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this would be an instance where someone makes a mistake?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this wouldn't relate to -- I guess this is not a financial metric.  So we are not talking about overstaffing or staff costs or anything here.  These would simply be the folks, someone makes an error that leads to a reduction in production?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.  This particular chart refers to contributing factors to capability factor.  And it just seeks to point out the various elements of that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Could I ask you to flip to page 2 of the booklet?  Again, handwritten page 2?

Again, this is an excerpt from the phase 1 report where you note that both Darlington and Pickering A and B did very well on the three-year capital cost per megawatt DER measure.  What does DER stand for?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Design engineering requirement?  Let me get my...

MR. TREMBLAY:  It is with regards to the design output of the plan.  That is what DER stands for.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Then you note, if you look at the second-last bullet point toward the bottom, the second sentence, you note:

"The minimum expenditure threshold for capitalization at OPG for generating assets is $200,000 per unit, whereas the majority of the companies in the industry have adopted minimum capitalization thresholds that are significantly lower."

So is what you're saying here that part of the reason OPG does well on this metric, or on this measure, is that they capitalize less things that some of their comparators?  Is that what that sentence is telling us?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It would appear that way.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, it would appear that is what it is saying, or that's what you would suspect because of the higher capitalization threshold?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is what we would suspect.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you note that the industry standard is somewhat lower.

Can you give us an idea of what a typical capitalization threshold might be?  Do you know what the average is, or can you give us a ballpark figure?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No.  When we were looking into this, it was a question that came up, and based on that we made phone calls to a number of prior clients where we had done benchmarking and simply asked them what they were using.

So I wouldn't say it is a formal benchmarking.  This is not something that is reported.  It is a policy matter, so it is not reported by EUCG and benchmarked across the industry, but we called four or five of the larger nuclear fleets and asked.  And the answer is it was all over the map.  There was no consistent basis in terms of the response, but the responses were consistently lower, or different than OPG, in terms of how they applied the capitalization threshold.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you say they're all over the map, but at page 2 of the Staff booklet you say that the majority of the comparators are significantly lower.

So although it was over the map, I take it it was, by and large, much less?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, again, I don't want to put words into your mouth or ideas into your mouth.  Are we talking that normally it might be $50,000 or $100,000 or $150,000 or $10,000?  Is there any order of magnitude we can get as to how much higher OPG might be than their comparators?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I don't have that information with me at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So all we can say is "significantly lower"?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.  I think that is a fair statement.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could ask you to flip over to page 3, this is from the phase 2 report, page 26 of that report at the top.  This is talking about some of the staffing levels.  And I am skipping around a bit, because these are largely clarification-type questions.

But if I could read to you from the first paragraph, it says:
"The results of both the EUCG and the Bruce Power functional comparison show that overall OPGN staff levels per unit exceed both the industry median and Bruce Power levels.  OPGN staffing levels are higher than the peer groups for some functional areas and lower for others.  For the most part, however, OPGN staff levels are generally higher than the comparison panels.  It should be noted that, however, that staffing levels can be influenced by a company's approach to staffing project-based outage functions.  Certain North American operators rely extensively on third-party contractors for such services, whereas others, including OPGN, largely rely on in-house resources."


Do you see that?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, based on your what I assume to be very extensive experience in benchmarking utilities, can you tell us generally if it is cheaper to -- or more efficient, I should say, to hire third-party contractors to do these types of services, or is it better to use in-house folks, from a cost perspective?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I would think that the majority of companies who have decided, for a particular function, to employ outside contractors have done so for cost reasons, cost-reduction reasons.

MR. MILLAR:  Does that mean it is generally cheaper to do it that way?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Again, on staffing levels, if you could flip over to page 4, I have produced -- this is merely by way of reference, but it is an excerpt from the Board's EB-2007-0905 decision.  That is the previous OPG case.  I am not going to ask you anything substantive about this, but just use it to reference a number.

I understand - I wasn't involved in this case - but that there was a Navigant staffing benchmarking report which, in that case, identified OPG's 2006 staffing levels to be 12 percent higher than the benchmark.  You can see that in the last paragraph on that page 4.

Now, I know that you noted that OPG's staff levels exceed the industry median, and Bruce Power levels.  You didn't come up with a percentage there, so I wanted to know either if that 12 percent sounded about right to you, or if you had done any analysis on a specific percentage by which they would be above the industry median?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We did not do a specific analysis.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't have a percentage?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, I do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, a final question on staffing levels.  If I could ask you to flip to page 9 of the Staff booklet, here we have in fact created a chart.  However, the data is taken directly from your phase 2 report, and the sourcing is below, and it shows the total staff level at the plant level.

And we can see Pickering A, Pickering B and Darlington, and then all of those are ahead of the mean of the median and certainly the mean of the lowest quartile.

First of all, with respect to these numbers, you do a summary at a plant level, and it occurs to me there might be all sorts of reasons a plant would have different staffing levels.  Typically, however, would these plants have four nuclear units, with the exception of Pickering A?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  The chart that -- originally on Exhibit F1-1-2, page 59, in that particular chart we selected three plants which we believed were larger plants to compare to the Darlington and Pickering stations, and then three smaller plants to compare to Pickering A.

The larger plants are -- the attempt was to get to three four-unit stations and the smaller two-unit stations.
MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And, sorry, so the mean at the median, is that showing the three four stations or the two stations?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is the overall EUCG panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Overall.  Pickering A only has two units; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Pickering A has four units.  Two are operational and two are --


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.

MR. LEAVITT:  -- heading to a state of safe storage.

MR. MILLAR:  So two operating units, my apologies.

I am not sure I have further comment on this right now.  It may come up in a different panel.  But Pickering A, even with two operating units, is more than -- has more staff than Pickering B, Darlington, and of course the comparators.  So I don't really have a question there, at least not for this panel.

If I can ask you to flip back to page 5, this is another excerpt from the phase 2 report and target-setting conclusions.

And you note on the second column, "Conclusions", the last bullet point, it states:
~"Without downplaying the success achieved during the current planning cycle, we believe that opportunities remain for continuous improvement beyond the current business planning horizon."


And Staff, in fact, asked OPG about this statement in an interrogatory.  It is Board Staff 60, which you can find on the next page.

And OPG's response to that question, you can see in the first sentence it says:
~"No, ScottMadden did not identify any opportunities beyond the current business planning horizon."

So maybe I can ask you, Mr. Sequeira, when you were talking about opportunities that remain for continuous improvement, when you were speaking of opportunities, what were you talking about?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Opportunities for improvement beyond the planning horizon.  I am not clear on the question.

MR. MILLAR:  What are these opportunities for improvement beyond the business planning horizon?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  At the time this was written, there weren't specific opportunities that were identified.

What we were trying to do is make a point that even though there is a planning period in which improvement opportunities were identified to close the gap, we wanted to just primarily make the point that OPG and most companies should be dedicated to a philosophy of continuous improvement.

So there are always opportunities beyond the planning horizon to make additional improvements, but there were no specific additional improvements in mind when that was said.

MR. MILLAR:  So this was, I guess, a general statement?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is a general statement showing the importance of continuous improvement as a philosophy.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am looking at page 7 now of the Staff booklet.  And, again, this is another excerpt from the phase 2 final report under section 4.4, "Site and Support Business Unit Plans".  You will see again a table with two columns, "Observations" and "Conclusions".

If you look at the bottom of the last bullet point for observations, it says:
"At the time of ScottMadden's departure from the project, some issues remained open with respect to the financial targets and selected business unit plans."

Again, we asked OPG about that in an interrogatory, and their response you will see at page 8 of the Staff booklet:

"This observation by ScottMadden was not specifically related to financial targets in the 2010 to 2014 nuclear business plan, as these had been set at an earlier stage in the business planning process.  Rather, the reference was to the impacts of the fleet-wide initiatives on closing the financial performance gaps."

Have they got that right?  Were you not talking about financial targets in the 2010 to 2014 business plan?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We were talking about the financial targets, but the implication wasn't related to the actual selection and establishment of the targets as much as the confirmation of how those targets would be achieved at each site, when the site improvement initiatives were integrated with the fleet improvement initiatives.

MR. MILLAR:  So is that what you meant when you said some issues remained open with respect to the financial targets?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And you say some issues remained open; are you able to identify for us what those issues were?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, at the time that we were finishing up, the business planning process was still underway.

The targets had been set.  We had been working primarily with the fleet initiatives, which are improvement initiatives that affect all of the stations.

Those, then, once the initiative teams had established what they thought they were capable of contributing to closing the targets, most of those targets or actions would be impacted in one of the three stations or in some of the support business units.

It was then up to the support business units and the stations to review those contributions that were coming to them from the fleet functional teams, and basically decide:  Do they agree with those contributions?  Do they think that is realistic?

And so there was a lot of give and take at that point between the business units which would eventually own the budget and the targets, with those functional teams which were suggesting that they were able to or thought they could contribute to those targets.

And that process had not been fully resolved at the time of our departure.

MR. LEAVITT:  It is significant to note that the savings referenced in the ScottMadden phase 2 report total to 165.1 million.

In the end, following departure of ScottMadden, the business plan was finalized with savings of 293 million.

The evidence reference for these numbers is Exhibit F2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 16.

MR. MILLAR:  And I will have some questions on that.  I had seen a number of 260 million but I think we are probably talking about something similar.  I will have some questions about that, I think, for you and also probably for panel 3 as well, but thank you for that.

And thank you, Mr. Sequeira, for that response.

I am going to move on to some questions I think are probably more for the OPG side, but Mr. Sequeira, please feel free to chime in if you have anything to add on these.

If I can ask you to turn to page 12 of the Staff booklet, this is from Exhibit A1, tab 4, schedule 3.  You will see about two-thirds of the way down there, section 6:  "Nuclear mandate and objectives."

Here you have provided some quotations from your Memorandum of Agreement with your shareholder; is that correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I would like to read part of that.  If you can skip down to the second paragraph, the last paragraph that is quoted on this page, it states:

"OPG will seek continuous improvement in its nuclear generation business and internal services.  OPG will benchmark its performance in these areas against nuclear plants worldwide, as well as against the top quartile of private, publicly-owned nuclear electricity generators in North America.  OPG's top operational priority will be to improve the operation of its existing nuclear fleet."

Do you see that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then you set out cornerstone objectives underneath, and without reading the full description, those are safety, human performance, reliability, and finally, value for money; is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it that this objective, from the Memorandum of Agreement, form the basis of your planning for 2010 to 2014?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It did.

MR. MILLAR:  It is reflected throughout this application?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It is.

MR. MILLAR:  If you could flip ahead to page 14 of the booklet, this is Staff IR 55, Issue 6.5.

I won't dwell on this, but this relates to the capitalization threshold.  And this is where Staff asked you, as I discussed with Mr. Sequeira, the ScottMadden report pointed out that you had a significantly higher capitalization threshold than your comparators.  We asked you about that.

I think if I can paraphrase your response, it is that you find that your number is appropriate.

And then in the technical conference, which is on the next page, page 15, there was a question, I believe from CME, asking you to calculate the revenue requirement impact, if you lowered your threshold from $200,000 to $100,000.

Do you recall that?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.  No panel members were at this technical conference at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. LEAVITT:  But it appears to be reflected in the minutes.

MR. KEIZER:  I think those questions were directed to those panel members relating to finance and business processes.  It is the same as the IR was directed to that panel, as well, in terms of who was responsible for that IR.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let me try the question and we will see how far we can get.  I am not sure too much actually –-

MR. KEIZER:  In other words, it may be better to defer to the other panel, that maybe can give you more precise responses relating to your IR or the technical conference response.

MR. MILLAR: Sorry, which panel would that be?

MR. KEIZER:  That would be the finance, business process.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Okay.  Maybe we could turn to page 16, again of the Staff booklet.  It is Board Staff IR No. 58, and it is Issue No. 6.5.

This is with reference to a top-down staffing analysis pilot that ScottMadden did on one segment of OPG's organization, and that is the radiation protection function.

And first, can you confirm for me -- maybe Mr. Sequeira -- that this was a detailed review of a single segment of the organization?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, it was.

MR. MILLAR:  And that, generally speaking, you did not do a similar analysis for other areas of the organization?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We did not.

MR. MILLAR:  And did you pick this one more or less at random?  Or was there a reason that the RP function was selected?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  At the time, we were trying to primarily demonstrate a methodology.  And so we selected a functional area where the initial functional staffing analysis showed a relatively significant difference between the panel staffing and the OPG staffing.

Secondly, we selected a function where the business manager responsible for the function was interested in exploring this further, and in driving it.

And so, and thirdly, we picked an area where ScottMadden had recently done the similar function or looked at the similar function at some other fleet, so we had readily available information to assist the team with the comparison.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

And what you found in your report was that the RP function, again radiation protection function, was overstaffed by about 28 percent; is that correct?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I don't recall the percent.  I recall the numbers, but...

MR. MILLAR:  Let me just see if I have quoted it.  Yes, I think we quoted it in the interrogatory, page 16.  If you look at line 13-14, it says:

"For future consideration by OPG, include a potential reduction of 53 FTEs or 28 percent."

I think actually 53 is a typo.  It is actually meant to be 48.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is the 28 percent correct?  Or did that reflect a reduction of 53 instead of 48?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think the actual opportunity was around 13, and the reason for that is that the suggestion was that the organization could realign around some functions.

For example, the radiation group was also responsible for training, and that function was suggested to be moved elsewhere. So the actual reduction was potential -- was -- in this work was around 13.

Now, John can confirm that, but that is what we drew from this.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, yes, I understand what was recommended is that 35 folks be reassigned and that 13 positions be eliminated; is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I am taking this directly from the report.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So a question for OPG.  Twenty-eight percent is a fairly significant amount, and, again, I take that number from the report.

Was there a recognition within OPG, before the report, that maybe you had too many people working in RP?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think that we benchmark a lot.  We do a lot of work in this area.  Certainly this suggests a challenge.  There was some good insight that we picked up from this, and, again, our view would be that at least as we stand today, there are further -- there are reductions along these lines that we can make.

So, yes, we recognize that we could be more efficient and I think this helped us.  And, you know, I would add, as well, that this organizational review and the process that was used was a useful exercise, and we are looking to do this elsewhere and are doing it elsewhere, in terms of getting more efficient.  So...

MR. MILLAR:  Well let's look at what you did to respond to the report.  As we discussed, the recommendation was to reassign 35 positions and eliminate 13 FTEs.

I understand you did reassign 35; is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We moved the training people and -- that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But for the 13 recommended reduction in positions, do I understand that you only actually eliminated one?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And do I also understand you don't anticipate making any further reductions until at least 2015 or the next planning period?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, we do intend on making some changes to the structure as we consolidate Pickering A and B.  That work is currently under way, and we expect a number of savings to come from that.  Whether it is as many as 13, it is unlikely right now, given some additional work challenges that we face, but certainly the principle is there and we are making effort at making reductions.

MR. MILLAR:  So why did you accept the first recommendation, but not the second?

MR. TREMBLAY:  There were a whole number of recommendations that were made.  We selected the highest value ones, the ones we thought we could do, and kept this one in abeyance to study further as part of the consolidation of Pickering A and B, which is currently under way now.

MR. MILLAR:  So the elimination of the one position, what happened to that one?  How were you able to pick one position to eliminate?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I don't think I have the specific role that was involved with the position, but I would say, generally, it would be as a result of consolidating duties or responsibilities and reorganizing.  But I don't have that specific role itself.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know if it was through a retirement or something like that?  Was someone actually --


MR. TREMBLAY:  No, I do not.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't know, okay.

Now, those positions, the 13 or the 12 remaining, would those be PWU positions or would they be Society folks?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Those are -- those were in fact -- might be both Society and PWU positions.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen -- I am trying to get a quantum on the costs for this, and I know that, on average, the Society nuclear folks come in at a bit more than the PWU folks.

Do you have a sense as to whether it is half and half, PWU and Society?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I really do not, given that we are really -- you know, we have the recommendation from the report.  You know, we are looking at consolidating along these lines.  Where we will actually end up, I really can't speak.

I would -- as a specific example, I would tell you that in the last six months to eight months, there's been a fairly significant industry issue around alpha contamination.  We have had to absorb that level of work and effort, and we are looking at that extra work load in the context of, you know, trying to be as efficient as possible.

So I really can't give you, Here's the distribution of reductions.  I can tell you we are working on it and we are certainly committed, in the large scheme of things, to the reductions, but I can't give you a breakdown of one versus the other right now.

MR. MILLAR:  I assume you are not able, then, to give us an average total compensation cost for the radiation protection function employees?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I cannot, no.

MR. MILLAR:  There is a VECC IR that summarizes -- that sort of averages out the PWU employee costs and the Society costs.  It's VECC 21.  I don't have it here and I don't even know you need to turn it up, but I will just put the numbers to you.

And in the analysis OPG provided there, someone from the PWU nuclear, the average all-in cost is about $137,000 and it is about $155,000 for Society nuclear folks.  Does that sound generally right?

MR. KEIZER:  Can they actually maybe turn it up, just because it is...

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, absolutely.  It is not in my booklet, but if you wish to turn it up, please feel free to do so.  It's VECC IR 21, issue 6.8.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I'm sorry, but can you repeat that for me, please?  I have it in front of me now, I believe.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Just let me...  I had sort of jotted down the numbers.  I think what we have done here is we have summed the total benefits, the -- pardon me, the total wages, the benefits and the pension, and then you can see there is the nuclear category at the top.  This is page 2 of 4.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  What we've done is -- you can look at PWU regular, nuclear, total wages $109, plus benefits and pensions, and I think that gets us to close to $136,700.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that --


MR. MILLAR:  Then if you skip over to the Society, it comes in at a little more, 155,300?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, not to interrupt your cross, but the IR that you have put in front of the witness has an extensive table with various footnotes and other aspects to it.

I haven't heard your final question, but my concern is that there may be elements buried within these numbers which these gentlemen may not necessarily have the expertise to address, and members of the corporate functions and cost allocation panel may be --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keizer, I am happy to take an undertaking.  My question to them was:  What is the average cost of these 13 positions?  And they weren't able to give that to me.

So as a proxy, I was using VECC IR 21, which sort
of -- fair enough, these would not be radiation protection folks necessarily, but I wanted to get a ballpark figure on how much each of these positions costs.

And if you would like to give an undertaking, I am happy to accept that, or if people can say that this is more or less what these people would be getting paid, that would be fine, as well.

MR. KEIZER:  So the undertaking you would be asking for is what the average cost would be reflected in the 13 positions?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Is that an undertaking that we can provide?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, certainly we can.  It might be helpful to back up a little.  There are many initiatives that have been undertaken by the nuclear fleet, and the commitment on the table is the commitment to meet the business plan.

Initiatives will come and go.  This particular one was very useful to have in the report, because it talked to organizational restructure and cleaning the lines of accountability and gaining some efficiencies, which we are undertaking to examine closely.

So far, we have only taken the one position out of the organization.  But as part of the consolidation of Pickering A and B, which is currently being studied in detail now, we expect to see more benefits to come from it.

So I guess what I would say is there are many sources, many places where we are looking to make savings, and we have put a fairly aggressive plan together.

So, you know, things will ebb and flow.  And there are some interrogatories around:  Where are you today?  And there have been some changes to those initiatives.

What remains solid is our commitment to achieve the results; that is really what is consistent.  But certainly, if that is useful, we can certainly undertake to look at that.

However, I would tell you that since I don't know the mix or the specifics of the reductions, it will be difficult to land on a number.  But if that is useful, I will certainly do that.

MR. MILLAR:  It can be a best-efforts undertaking.  It doesn't have to be down to the penny, but what we are trying to get is an order of magnitude here as to the average total compensation cost for those 12 or 13 positions.

MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.

MR. KEIZER:  So we will undertake to do that, to see what we can provide in that regard.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  to MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE AVERAGE TOTAL COMPENSATION COSTS FOR THE 13 POSITIONS.

MR. MILLAR:  Just getting back to something you just said, first, do you have any cause to disagree with the conclusions of the ScottMadden report on the staffing levels and radiation protection?

MR. TREMBLAY:  As I say, it is a recommendation.  There's clearly some value there.  We need to look at the specifics in the context of the consolidation of the plant, new requirements that are coming up, like the alpha program that I mentioned.

So we will land at some place, likely, other than the recommendations.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But I understand you are not looking to make any additional reductions prior to at least 2015?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  That's not correct.  There will be some reductions that will be effected as part of the consolidation.  The RP organization will be looked at from that standpoint.  Can I tell you what those are?  Not at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they will be looked at, but they haven't been looked at yet?

MR. TREMBLAY:  They are being looked at currently, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess my question is:  You just stated that you are looking to make savings, you have a goal of continuous improvement, you have a firm recommendation from your consultant that you can eliminate 13 positions here.

This would have seemed to me to be an obvious place to take action.  To the extent you haven't already, can you explain why more positions haven't been eliminated here?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, we are taking action.  And as I, you know -- certainly this is, you know, work in progress.  There have been some significant challenges in this organization in the last year.

And so I would say that we need to manage this area, and that is what we are doing.  So we are looking at all of the options, and certainly looking very carefully at this.

But in the end, it is our organization and we need to do what is right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I will move on another area.  Maybe you could flip to page 20 of the Staff booklet.  It is Board Staff IR 53, from Issue 6.4.

Just to give some background to this question, I understand that you are targeting below the median for the TGC metric for the Pickering units over the planning period; is that correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess to summarize Staff's question, we asked you why.

And in your response -- I will try to summarize it here -- you mention the material condition of the plants reflects higher outage days and FLRs compared to industry median.  You note that certain issues remain for Pickering A, associated with a seven-year shutdown of the units that returned to service in 2003 and 2005.

Then you conclude, towards the bottom, by noting that poor material condition is only one factor limiting the ability of Pickering A and B to achieve the median TGC by 2014.  You discuss structural factors that drive higher costs at the Pickering stations, including smaller size of the reactor units compared to industry median, and the complexity of CANDU technology compared to the benchmark reactors, which are predominantly PWR and BWR.

Have I got that right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Speaking about the first one, the issues related to the seven-year shut down, aren't we getting -- certainly by 2014 -- won't we be getting close to a decade after those units were returned to service?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And did not the Board previously approve a temporary increase in your revenue requirement to reduce the backlogs of corrective and elective matters to improve the material condition?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  And in fact, if we look at the expectations for Pickering A, the expectations that its forced-loss rate and its production increase significantly.

If we look at the challenge around the dollars, those are primarily as a result of the facility not generating to its full potential.

There are factors, obviously, but that is really the key for us at Pickering A, is getting the capacity factor and getting the forced-loss rate down, and that is really a focus on reliability.  That is really what we have and what we know to be the key ingredient for improving Pickering A's performance.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, but you reference some problems that are hangovers, if I could call them that, from the shutdown.  I guess we are getting many years since the shutdown now.  Is that still a --


MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, you know, I think the other element for Pickering A is they are moving to a templated program, you know.  Once you get your backlogs under control and the plant has made some good progress there, you need to move your facility from essentially a corrective maintenance or a breakdown repair to preventive maintenance.

That is where you get the real benefits, and that is really what we know to have worked, certainly at Darlington, which is enjoying very good forced-loss rate, Pickering B, which has seen significant improvement over the last few years.  And we know Pickering A will get there if we keep a focus on material condition and reliability.

That is really, you know, in those years, those programs were not developed, and we believe they're on the right track.  And our business plan challenges them to improve their performance.

MR. MILLAR:  Towards the bottom of the response, you discuss certain technical factors and disadvantages, if you will, relating to Pickering.  And these are things that are outside of OPG's control, or at least outside of your control now since the plant has been built.

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at the ScottMadden report again, if I could ask you to turn -- I think it is pages 22 and 23.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I'm sorry, are we talking about the phase 1 report?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I'm sorry, of the Staff booklet, page 22 and 23.  These are excerpts, in fact, from the phase 1 report.

So in fairness to you, certainly ScottMadden does point out certain things that are outside of your immediate control.

But then if you look towards the bottom -- sorry.  Just give me one second.

The non-fuel operating costs line, the very last sentence:

"Specific drivers of performance vary from station to station..."


And will be discussed in more detail later in the report.

"...but overall the biggest drivers are capability factor, station size, CANDU technology..."

So those are all things that are outside of OPG's control in the planning period, certainly.

And then it says:

"...corporate cost allocation and potential controllable costs."

Do you see that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So there are factors, at least identified by ScottMadden, that arguably are within your control.  Is that fair enough?

MR. TREMBLAY:  There are.  There are, absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps Mr. Sequeira, I can ask you.  You talk about potential controllable costs.  Can you provide a little bit more detail on what you are referring to there?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  In effect, that is after you've identified all the fixed factors, and corporate allocation, that is what is left over as costs which are potentially controllable, I guess is the word we use, to identify anything that we could not easily explain directly through technology or financial allocations.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to quantify the extent to which the corporate or controllable costs contribute to OPG's gap relative to the median for TGC?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We were not requested to do that and did not do that.

MR. MILLAR:  And I imagine you are not prepared to do it on the stand right now?

[Laughter.]

MR. SEQUEIRA:  You're correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thought I would try.

Now, there are certain technical limitations, if I can call it that, related to the CANDU reactors, that lead to higher costs.  Is that fair enough?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But there are also some advantages to the CANDU plants, chiefly, although there may be others, the much lower fuel cost; is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, although I would suggest to you that, you know, Darlington has been able to go to a three-year outage cycle, for example, and that is a direct reflection of having on-power fuelling.

The fuelling systems, you know, the flip side is those fuelling machines need to be maintained.  There are costs associated with that, and if you have reliability issues with those, they can impact on reliability.

But, yes, that's a fundamental advantage of the CANDU.

MR. MILLAR:  And, in fact, if you flip to page 24 of the Staff booklet, that is discussed.  The second-last bullet point says:
"CANDU is the most efficient of all reactors in using uranium, requiring about 15% less uranium than a pressurized water reactor for each megawatt of electricity produced."


Is anyone in a position to explain the extent to which the advantages of the CANDU reactors might offset some of the technical disadvantages that you have discussed?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Just something I responded to in earlier testimony.  I don't know if this is directly responsive to your question, but I think it is important relative to the process.

We have been doing benchmarks like this for a number of years, and the issue that often comes up very similar to this is trying to -- when there is a gap - and there is a gap here in total cost - trying to explain and, not only to explain, but to quantify every individual contributor.  And often we are asked to adjust the benchmarking metrics to make them an absolute apples-to-apples comparison.

What we have learned in the process of doing that for several years is that it is not productive.  It is almost -- I wouldn't say "almost".  It probably is impossible to absolutely quantify the contributions of every piece of technology.  Every one of the plants, whether they're PWR or CANDU, is almost a unique design.  No two are absolutely the same.

It gets to be very complicated, and our experience is that what happens is you end up not with four or five, but 20, 30, 50 contributing factors, all of which have different camps, debating whether or not they're contributing five dollars or ten dollars or six dollars.

When we try to adjust the benchmarks over time, it gets to the point that nobody believes the benchmarks anymore.  I mean, it is like, Well, that's just a fabricated number that OPG wants to look at to compare themselves.

So we have learned what we call "just don't go down that rat hole".  It ends up -- more importantly than trying to get apples to apples, which we honestly don't think you will ever get to, I think it changes the discussion at the company that is being benchmarked from a discussion of relative performance and a recognition that current performance isn't anywhere near where it needs to be.  Instead, it turns the discussion into a very expensive, detailed search for excuses, which means everybody wants to find the last two dollars' worth of explanation of why CANDU plants are more expensive than PWR plants.

My recommendation is that it is not ultimately doable, but, worse than that, I am more concerned with the impact on the discussion.  And I would say that was part of the large cultural change in this particular exercise is coming to grips with the fact that we are not trying to explain why OPG is or should be equal to those other plants, but a recognition on management that this is just not acceptable.

Our costs are high and our performance is low.  And whether or not you can explain the gap down to the last two dollars, the gap is large enough that management recognizes it and came to an overall commitment that it is unacceptable and we are going to change it.

That's where the discussion should be, and so that is why I would get back to the measure such as total costs.  I mean, that is all-in cost.  How a company gets there versus staffing or capital costs, ultimately, to the ratepayers, it doesn't make a difference.

What makes a difference is costs per megawatt-hour or kilowatt of electricity produced.  If that is just simply unacceptable, then we have to come up for a plan for closing the gap.  The question then is how fast and how aggressive that plan is.

But I think trying to quantify every contributing factor plus or minus is probably not as productive as you might think.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, thank you for that.  That is quite helpful.  I will move on.  I have a couple of questions relating to interrogatories posed by the School Energy Coalition.  I know my friend, Mr. Shepherd, is in fact up next, so I won't dwell on these, and it is possible he will touch on these, as well.

But if you could look to page 25 of the Staff booklet, it is SEC Interrogatory 30 and that is issue 6.5.  And it is a question relating to the targeted Darlington forced-loss rate percentage.  And just by way of background, could you confirm for me that what you are targeting for the test years is 1.5 percent in each of 2011 and 2012?

MR. LEAVITT:  Do you have a reference?

MR. MILLAR:  It may be in the interrogatory response itself.  Yes, it is.  If you look at line 23 at page 25 of the Staff booklet, it says Darlington's targets for 2011 and 2012 are 1.5 percent for each year.

MR. LEAVITT:  I can confirm that that is how the interrogatory response reads.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will take that as a "yes" and if, for some reason, that turns out to be incorrect, you can correct me later.

Mr. Shepherd -- or, pardon me, School Energy Coalition pointed out that the two-year average for the forced-loss rates for Darlington was quite a bit lower than that, 0.93 percent, and he asked you to explain how you came up with 1.5.

What you did was produced a chart showing years 2005 through 2009; came up with a five-year average, which was 1.6 percent; and then I guess you based your targets on something slightly better than that.  Is that fair enough?

MR KEIZER:  Sorry, I don't mean to interject, but the panel just received this compendium this morning, and I note that the IR is for the production forecast in outage OM&A.

So if my friend wants to go through the calculation here, then, out of fairness, the panel should at least be able to take the time to go through the IR and see how it was actually responded to.  Although it is OPG's IR, obviously given a multitude of the interrogatories that we have had in this process, witness panels became responsible for those applicable to their area.

But just, I guess, out of concern that if we are going to go through a calculation, if it is possible, we may need some time after the break to be able to come back to it.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is fine by me, but I think all I've done -- it says five-year average rate at the bottom, 1.6.  So all I have done is I haven't even run the numbers myself.  I have just trusted that this table shows what it says it shows.

But, again, if after the break people wish to review this and come back with something else, that is fine with me, as well.

MR. TREMBLAY:  The only comment I would make here is that that is a very aggressive forced-loss rate.  Others can do the calculations.

Certainly this year's performance, Darlington will be very challenged to meet that goal, and that is a very good forced-loss rate.

MR. MILLAR:  How are you doing for 2010 so far?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We are going to certainly struggle to get there.

MR. MILLAR:  To get to --


MR. TREMBLAY:  It is well above 1 percent now.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, I didn't hear that last part.

MR. TREMBLAY:  It is above 1 percent now.  It is certainly above the target.

MR. MILLAR:  The target I think is 1.5, so is it --


MR. TREMBLAY:  It is above that.

MR. MILLAR:  It is above 1.5 currently.

Well, again, if we could look at this chart, you do come up with a five-year average of 1.6 percent.

It is fair to say, though, I think, or maybe you won't think so, but 2006 is a fairly significant outlier for your forced-loss rate over the last five years; is that fair?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And we -- I know you can run these numbers any number of different ways, but if you take the numbers from 2007 - in other words, you leave out 2005 and 2006 - you get 1.1 percent for 2007, 0.7 percent for 2008, 1.6 percent for 2009.  And if I add those up and average them, I get a rate of just over 1.1 percent.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you did, in that interrogatory response to Mr. Shepherd, I believe, provide the revenue requirement impact if you were able to achieve a 0.93 percent forced-loss rate in the test years.

Your answer to that was it would be 10.3 million?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If we looked at a number of 1.1 percent, I don't know if you can -- if this is something that can be easily calculated, or through an undertaking, or if even you can provide me with a close enough answer right now.

Can you tell us what the revenue requirement impact would be if you were at about 1.1 percent?  Or is that something you would be able to do by way of undertaking?

MR. LEAVITT:  We can take an undertaking to provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  That will be J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  to PROVIDE REVENUE REQUIREMENT IMPACT IF FORCED-LOSS RATE WERE 1.1 PERCENT.

MR. MILLAR:  Moving on to page 27 of the Staff booklet, this refers to Schools Interrogatory No. 29, and it is a discussion around the total generating costs for Darlington.

First, I understand -- and this is referenced at line 20 of the interrogatory response -- that the total generating cost for Darlington for 2008 was $31.56.

Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  However, the targets for the test years are, in fact, higher than that.  And this is, if you look at line 11 of the IR response, 35.70 for 2011 and 36.69 for 2012.

Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And by my math, those are increases, over 2008 anyway, of about 8.4 percent and 11.3 percent.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. LEAVITT:  That is as per line 33 of this response.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then in your response to why the costs were –- or, pardon me, the TGC costs were rising over 2008, you talked about a 4 percent inflation factor each year; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  What is the basis for the 4 percent?  How did you come up with that?  Is that a historical average?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is a historical average, looking back, I believe, over four years, and then averaging what the industry experience has been and going forward in those categories.

MR. MILLAR:  So is it a historical average for Darlington?  Or is it a historical average for the comparators?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is a historical average for the comparators.

MR. MILLAR:  So year-over-year, the comparators' TGC costs increase approximately 4 percent; is that right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it, since this is an all-in cost, these would include salaries, things like that?

MR. LEAVITT:  They do.

MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent that you've budgeted increased salaries for your employees, that would form part of that inflation factor?

MR. LEAVITT:  There is a wage escalation built in.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, in your Memorandum of Agreement with your shareholder, you reference continuous improvement in the nuclear generation business.

Would this be something that you could seek to do a bit better than the industry average on?  Sort of beating the inflation target -- not the target, the inflation average?  Would that be something that you could have looked at in an effort to reduce costs?

MR. LEAVITT:  We will seek to set challenging but achievable goals for all 19 of the benchmark measures.  Cost is one of them.

We can't lose sight of the 15 non-cost measures as well.

MR. MILLAR:  If you could turn to page 29, please, of the Staff booklet, this is a similar question regarding the non-fuel operating costs for Darlington.

The three-year historical average for non-fuel operating costs is about $25.10.  You will see that in line 12.

However the targets for 2010 to 2012 are $28.22, 26.52 and 29.68.  You will see that at line 18.

A similar sort of question; how does this fit in with your goal of continuous improvement on all 19 metrics?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. TREMBLAY:  I guess it would be our view that it is consistent, that it brings Darlington across the board, essentially, you know, either top quartile or excellent performance.  And in this are some significant reductions that are targeted at the plant.

So, you know, in terms of -- in terms of your question, it would be our view that it is consistent with that.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I see I am a little bit over my hour.  I just have a few questions left.  So unless you are looking to break now, I would propose to continue and finish.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't you finish before we break?

MR. MILLAR:  Could you turn to page 30, please, of the booklet?

Earlier, somebody -- I forget if it was Mr. Leavitt or Mr. Tremblay -- mentioned $293 million in savings.  I am not sure if we are talking about the same exhibit here.

But what we see here are certain operational and cost savings that OPG has made or is looking to make through the 2010 through 2012 period.

If you look down at the bullet points, the first one says:

"2012 base OM&A costs are to be forecast to be below 2008 actual costs, with cumulative work-driven cost savings of 260 million for the 2010 to 2012 period."

Do you see that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that part of the 293 million that was referenced before?  Or are we...

It strikes me that those numbers were close, if not identical.  Or is that talking about something totally different?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think it is different years.  This is the 2010 to 2012 period.  The 293 million I referenced earlier was a plan-over-plan comparison with the prior year.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is a longer term?  Is that why the number is different?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's -- that's one reason.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But it is 260 million for the 2010 to 2012 period?

Mr. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is accurate?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Then the next bullet point states:

"2012 regular staff levels are forecast below 2008 levels by 689 staff, while non-regular staff FTEs are reduced by 559."

Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I will have more questions on this topic, I think, for panel 3, but I think it would be appropriate to ask this panel or at least to put it to you that Staff is having some difficulty reconciling these savings with the performance targets for total generating costs and non-fuel operating costs for Darlington.

And the reason we are having a problem is that the costs, as I have just gone through with you, the TGC metric are going up from 2008, and yet you're referencing what appear to be very significant cost savings over that time.

So can you help me out why, in light of all of the savings that you have identified here, how is it that the TGC is still going up?

MR. LEAVITT:  The numbers we're referencing here are OM&A costs.

Total generating cost includes OM&A costs, but also fuel costs and capital costs, and of course the total is normalized by the amount of electricity produced.

So we could be seeing the impacts of total generation in a particular year, as well as fluctuations in costs.

MR. MILLAR:  So essentially you're saying there would be a number of offsets, whether they be the amount of power produced or increased capital costs, something like that?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And on an all-in basis, those offsets exceed the savings on base OM&A?

MR. LEAVITT:  They would have the tendency to affect the total generating cost and could send it in a direction contrary to what savings were planned for OM&A.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I will move on.  Just one final area.  If I could ask you to turn again to page 31 of the Staff booklet, this is the OPG's performance against the three key metrics.  We discussed it a little bit earlier with Mr. Sequeira.

I asked him to confirm OPG had done relatively poorly on these metrics.  Can I take it that you would agree with me that it would certainly be OPG's goal to improve their ranking in these metrics?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, indeed, your memorandum of agreement with your shareholder states that you will seek continuous improvement in your nuclear generation business; is that right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, when we look at your targets, if you can flip to page -- I think it is 33.  This is taken from Exhibit F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 8, and I believe what it is showing is your targets on a variety of the metrics; is that right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look under "reliability", you see NPI at the top, and then the third one down is "unit capability factor".  Then under "value for money", that is where you find TGC as the first item; is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So let's look at TGC, first of all.  Again, if you flip back -- we'll be flipping between 31 and 33, but the way you came out in the phase 1 report is 16 out of 16, and your costs were $60.34 per megawatt-hour; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Do you have a reference?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is right on page 31 of the Staff booklet, and it is the bottom chart, which is "Total Generating Costs per Megawatt-Hour".  And I am reading directly from it.  OPG is the blacked-in line, and it is $60.34 per megawatt-hour?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is a significant -- that's significantly higher than the 15 out of 16, which is $44.89?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if I look at your targets for TGC on page 33, I see for 2010 $49.41, and then it is about just under $47 for 2011 and just over $47 for 2012.

First of all, are you able to -- I am not sure when this was prepared, exactly.  How are you tracking for the 2010 number?  Do you happen to know?

MR. LEAVITT:  No, I'm sorry, we don't have that data with us.

MR. MILLAR:  Would OPG have that data?  Is that something that could be done by undertaking, or do you need the year end data to perform that calculation?

MR. LEAVITT:  We will need the year end data to be precise for benchmarking.

MR. MILLAR:  If I asked for an undertaking, would you be able to give us an idea as to how you are doing for 2010?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I guess the undertaking would be to provide an update for your -- not your target, but your actual results under TGC for 2010, and that would be undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED ACTUAL RESULTS UNDER TGC FOR 2010 AND ACTUAL TGC FIGURE FOR 2009


MR. MILLAR:  And I do notice that would be well under your $60 that shows up in the phase 1 report.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, if I could interrupt for a second.  I see the 2008 actual.  It would be useful to see the 2009 actual, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would we be able to add that to the undertaking?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that would be -- I don't think we need a separate undertaking, but J3.3, add the actual TGC figure for 2009.

Again, focussing on 2011 and 2012, let's imagine that you hit those targets.  If we flip back to page 31, I see -- I know there may be some inflation involved, but that would still place you -- I believe for the current figures, that would still have you 16 out of 16; is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Based on this chart, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know you discussed that there
are -- that inflation happens, of course.  So, in fairness, those numbers may go up a bit, but would you agree with me that if you hit your targets, you would still seem to be either at the bottom or close to the bottom?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, a significant improvement over where -- on the chart, but certainly in relative ranking that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I was going to ask how that fits in with your goal of continuous improvement.

I take it your improvement here is your reduction in your TG -- in your own TGC costs as opposed to where you end up on the rankings?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  Well, I think looking at the overall issue here, the basic factors associated with the Nuclear Performance Index, the WANO, is one of forced-loss rate and total generation, and certainly the tale of two cities, if you will, from Pickering and Darlington, where Darlington is, you know, operating with a low forced-loss rate and high capacity and gets WANO points for that.  Pickering A certainly does not, and Pickering B is starting to pick up some points.

So the premise here is that as we improve performance, the WANO index generally will rise.  The capacity -- capability factor will rise, as well.

One factor with Pickering B with regards to the 2011-2012, there are significantly long outages in terms of the SLAR campaigns with regard to continued life.  So that needs to be factored into this plan in terms of the overall results.

But certainly this, overall, demonstrates a considerable improvement in performance and recognizing all of the factors involved.

MR. MILLAR:  And, indeed, I was only asking about TGC.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I understand.

MR. MILLAR:  But you bring up NPI and the UCF measures, as well.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, on page 33, you show your targets for nuclear operations for NPI, and NPI you are targeting 80.6 and 85.0.

I wonder if it would be helpful here to complete the record.  I know Ms. Hare was interested in your actuals for 2009.  Are you able to provide those for both NPI and unit capability factor?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We can.

MR. MILLAR:  And, again, maybe I will ask if you could provide your updated actuals for 2010 or how you are tracking for 2010.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I will provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that J3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE BOTH NPI AND UNIT CAPABILITY FACTOR, AND UPDATED ACTUALS OR TRACKING FOR 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  And -- I'm sorry.  So let's imagine that you hit those targets for 2011, 2012.  If you flip back to page 31, that would move you up a little bit in the rankings, anyways.  It would put you more towards the middle or just under the middle; is that fair?

MR. LEAVITT:  We would really have to see how the remainder of the utilities changed over that time, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and that was my question.

My hypothetical to you at least assumed that the others were stagnant, but I imagine that all nuclear operators are always trying to improve their results.  Would that be a fair statement?

MR. LEAVITT:  I can't speak for other nuclear operators in terms of their policy of improvement, but certainly inflationary pressures probably are shared by most of us.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that would be true for TGC, but inflationary factors wouldn't affect NPI or UCF, would they?  Those are productivity --


MR. TREMBLAY:  Certainly not directly.  I mean, that really is essentially generating electricity and overall performance.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I can put this to Mr. Sequeira.

Mr. Sequeira, by 2012, would you expect the numbers -- I am looking at page 31 of the Staff booklet.  The numbers under the NPI index and UCF rankings, would those be the same, or would you expect that other operators would be both seeking to improve and, in all likelihood, would improve over that time period?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, I think it is fair to say most operators are attempting to improve.  As part of the process that we recommended that OPG adopt, and I believe they have adopted, is to update this benchmarking report on an annual basis as part of the business planning process.  And that is in light of the fact that all of these metrics change from year to year.

It is not possible to say that all of the operational metrics improve year to year.  There are years in which some of the overall metrics actually decline for the industry as a whole.

But for the most part, they improve.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So for example, an improvement -- I will just take an example -- if they, under the NPI, if OPG hits its target of 85, that would put them something about -- move them up to -- move them up two or three ranks anyway.

One shouldn't assume necessarily that the benchmarks won't change over that time?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.  Actually, the -- as you might imagine, the improvement in the benchmarks as you get toward the top end of what is the theoretically possible gets to be less and less.

As you can see from many of these companies, for NPI they are now pushing the theoretical limit of 100.

So there is going to be very little improvement.

The improvement that might occur or would be noticeable from one year to the other would be in the trailing seven or eight companies who can make a substantial improvement, such as what OPG is projecting.

And until we saw what those are, it would be difficult to understand exactly where the ranking would be of OPG.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Okay.  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

We will break now for 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:39 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:06 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd, just before you begin, just to alert you that the Board will need to rise at 12:30, or even maybe slightly before.  I believe your cross is expected to go longer than that, but if you could find a logical break in and around that time, that would be helpful

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd and I represent the School Energy Coalition.

Madam Chair, I have provided for the parties and for the Board the document which is a compendium.  I'm sorry it is not bound and the tabs are virtual tabs, but there was no cerlox machine on the weekend.

I wonder if we can give this an exhibit number?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K3.2, the School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR PANEL 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we have provided colour copies for some people, but we're going to run out shortly, and then we have black and white copies for the laggards.

I want to just follow up -- oh, and by the way, Madam Chair, we will also be referring to -- we haven't included it in these materials.  We'll be referring to the two ScottMadden reports, but since we are referring to a number of places, we just figured you memorized them, anyway, and so we don't need to include them in the materials.

I just want to follow up on something that, Mr. Sequeira, you said this morning before I get into my main questions.  You said, if I understand correctly, that you recommended an annual updating of the benchmarking process?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  There we go.  The gap-based business planning process, whenever possible, we would encourage companies to do annual updating of the benchmarks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did I understand you correctly to say that OPG has agreed with that recommendation?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, to the best of my knowledge they have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So the reason I am asking that is because your reports were somewhat more than a year ago.  Do you know whether the updating has happened or is going to happen?

MR. LEAVITT:  The updating has happened.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we have new benchmarks?

MR. LEAVITT:  We have benchmarks for the additional year, 2015, included in this year's business planning process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And were the benchmarks for the test periods also changed, because when you update, you update every year; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, the updating is primarily a look at how we did, I mean, 2009 to year end, in comparison with how the industry did in 2009.

So we rank ourselves and place ourselves again amongst the peer utilities for use in the following year's business planning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is a -- ScottMadden didn't do that update?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So who did it, then?

MR. LEAVITT:  OPG Nuclear did that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did it internally?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, part of the phase 1 process was not merely to come up with a benchmarking report, but to create an ongoing capability within OPG to do that.

And so in addition to the report, we also delivered a procedure for preparing and updating the report, as well as did training to the folks within the finance department as to how to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So that you have now a new -- an update of that report, some new report, right, that updates it?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to file that then, please.

MR. KEIZER:  First of all, I just want to clarify, though.  Are we talking about -- I think the witness said related to the 2009 year is when the update relates to.  We have already, I think, given an undertaking to clarify the NPI numbers and the other numbers for historical 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I heard - and the witness can correct me if I am wrong - is that the company looked at the 2009 actuals, and then rethought what the appropriate benchmarks are going forward.  That's what you do; right?  That's the process?

MR. LEAVITT:  It looks at how OPG Nuclear did in 2009 and, from the various peer databases that we have access to, examines how the industry did in that same time frame, and then again looks for gaps in our performance that will help us set targets for the future years.

Now, those targets have not been approved yet.  We are still in the middle of the business planning process.  So we have no new targets to share.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you have a report similar to the ScottMadden report number 2, but updated?

MR. LEAVITT:  Similar to report number 1, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Report number 1.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But updated?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think that would be relevant information, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We agree.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J3.5, and that is to produce the -- I'm not sure if it has a title, but the update to the phase 1 report prepared by OPG.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE THE UPDATE TO THE PHASE 1 REPORT PREPARED BY OPG.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I have questions in two main areas.  One is your business planning process and numbers, and the other is the benchmarking exercise and, in the latter, with a particular focus on Darlington.

I want to start by following up on some of the questions asked by Mr. DeRose last week.  And to do that, I wonder if you could turn to the first tab of our materials.  You will see the virtual tab that is ten pages from your nuclear business plan.

Do you recognize these pages?

MR. LEAVITT:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so this is your current five-year plan, 2010 to 2014; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are in the process of updating it, but right now it is the one that you are operating to?

MR. LEAVITT:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I will just let you know that there is a confidential version of this document, but my questions only deal with the public version.  So if you want to veer into the confidential data, please give us all fair warning so that we can batten down the hatches and all of that stuff.

The year for comparison in this document is 2008; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because when you are doing this process in 2009, the only actuals you have are 2008?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are a one-year lag.  You have a plan for -- it is like a bridge year; right?  2009 is like your bridge year for business planning purposes?

MR. LEAVITT:  I suppose it is.  It's the most recent information we can reliably obtain.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the first page of this is the performance plan itself, and then you have a number of pages, four pages.  These are your four cornerstones that you talked about last week; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I wonder if you can just go to the "Value For Money" page.  It's -- the numbers in the document itself is number 14.  See it says "Value For Money Cornerstone"?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is a line there which, on the colour copy, is in yellow, "total five-year savings required".  Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes, the top numerical line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the number that you had -- the savings that you have to achieve in those years to meet your benchmarking metrics or your budget metrics?  Is this to meet budget or to meet your benchmarks?

MR. LEAVITT:  It is to meet the target that was set for -- in this case, in the first portion of the table, for OM&A, and in the second portion of the table it just provides the impact on capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so in the context of this document, the benchmarks are the -- are the equivalent numbers to your budget, right; that is, your plan says, We're going to meet these benchmarks?  So when we see benchmark figures, they are the unit figures associated with your budget; true?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It might be helpful if I explain the top-down process.

Essentially, the first step of that is to determine where you are compared to others, and that's benchmarking.  As I said earlier, we assisted OPG doing that one year and creating the capability for them to do that ongoing.

That is information that is informative to what the next step is, which is target setting.  The targets is what OPG commits to, not the benchmarks.

The benchmark, as we said, you know, unless we want to try to identify every contributing factor and quantify every portion of every contributing factor, what the benchmarks really show is where the industry is going in general and the trends in that direction, and they document a gap.

It is up to management to determine how much of that gap they choose to close and how aggressively, relative to time, they choose to close it.

From that point forward, once the targets are set, then the financial plan is trying to close the gap to the target, not to the benchmark.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we should be careful in our terminology, that the benchmarks are an external piece of information, and targets are what you are actually going after?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So although you refer sometimes to the -- to your internal targets as benchmarks, they're really not benchmarks per se.  They're really targets, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  The benchmarks are the exercise we go through to evaluate our relative performance.  The targets are the commitment of the organization to meet a result.

And so, you know, generally the -- those areas that are most gapped are the areas that we go after for improved performance, but you are quite correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Sequeira, you raised the top-down approach, and I was actually going to talk about that later but I will talk about it now.  You talked about it this morning a little bit.

And tell me whether this is correct, that bottom-up budgeting is something that is quite typical in the government sector, for example.  It is sort of:  Here's what we need to operate.  Here's what we think we need.

Whereas top down is a more private-sector oriented approach, where the private sector company says:  This is how much we can afford to spend, given what we think our revenues are going to be?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is a more competitive approach, insofar as it starts with a comparison of where you are to others and sets a direction based on that, not only what an internal groups thinks they can do or would like to do for the next year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's more of a budget envelope approach.  It is:  Here's how much we are going to let you spend.  Figure out what the best you can do within that number.  Is that fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I am not quite sure that that correctly characterizes it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I going too far?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I think you are coming more from the government point of view on that.

When I said it is competitive, it is if you're in a private-sector business, whatever you are doing is always in the market compared to somebody else's, and if you are going to survive, yours has to look better than somebody else's.  So it is naturally comparative by nature.

That just flows through the process.  But essentially it is saying, from a nuclear industry point of view:  Where's the industry going?  What seems reasonable?  Where are we compared to that?  Are we ahead of the industry in one area or another, or are we lagging?  And if we are lagging, what are we going to do about it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I understood you to be saying that this was a big change for OPG, because -- and I guess because they had sort of had a history of being essentially a government-type organization, and you were saying:  No, it is time now to test yourself a different way.  Right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you had resistance?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  From some parts, yes.  And from others, full acceptance.  It is as you might expect in an organization of that size.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the characteristics of the top-down approach -- and you didn't say quite this, but I thought this is where you were going -- is that you can no longer have the sort of search for excuses that is sometimes a case in bottom-up budgeting.

It is simply a question of:  Here's the number.  You've got to, like, deal with it.  Right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I think that is fair.  I think whether it is government or utility, it is a matter of:  Do we justify why we need it?  Or do we just recognize that we need to go someplace new?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said when you talked with Mr. Millar about the FTE analysis for radiation protection, you said that you selected an area where the manager of that business area was particularly interested in the analysis.

And I take it what you mean is that -- tell me whether this is right -- that somebody who thought:  Gee, a top down approach might help me do this. I like this.  Right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And presumably there were other areas where there were managers that would have said:  No, no, no, no, I don't like that very much.  True?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I'm not sure we got that far along to ask any who said no.  We just sort of went where we thought the least resistance might be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You commented that -- you were talking about adjusting your benchmarks, and you commented that there's so many contributing factors that to try to normalize them, if you like, to create a true apples-to-apples comparison is just not possible.  Right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I don't think it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What it does is it feeds back into that old mentality, right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So basically what you say is:  The world is imperfect, benchmarking is imperfect, but here is your number?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

So I want to come back to this Value for Money chart that we were just talking about.

What you have here is a list of initiatives to get to your totals.  Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are two big ones here.  One is "Days Based Maintenance" and the other is "Engineering Value for Money Improvement".  The first one is 25.9 million and the second is 38.7 million.

Can you briefly give us a sort of elevated pitch on each?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Sure.  I can speak to that.  Days Based Maintenance is a move to increasing productivity of our work force.  And really, having examined how we work, the dedication of staff on -- to specific work activities on days, and having them dedicated to that function has proved to us that they're simply more efficient.  There is more that can be done with the same number of people, or fewer, in fact.

In order to do that, there are a number of things that need to be done to facilitate that.

One feature of this particular one is because of our requirements to have minimum complement 24/7 at a nuclear power plant, this proposal essentially automates some of the functions that would be required in the event of an emergency, and that automation allows us to reduce the number of staff.

Without getting into all of the details, there is obviously regulatory approvals that need to be sought and some physical work that needs to be done.  And so that work is currently ongoing and we are interacting with the regulator, and that really is where the bulk of the benefits come from Days Based Maintenance.

The other --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you there.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Sure.  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I can understand that.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Sure.  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I understand you to be saying is if you ask skilled staff to do one type of maintenance all day for the whole day, they will simply be more efficient?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Fewer hand-offs, which is currently the case now with people from –- on-shift, rotating through work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, what was the connection between that and automating some of your functions?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, there's -- the cost associated with this really is the automation of some of our radiological indicators and so on.  This is work that the people have to do, essentially, on-shift.  They need to be available to do that.

And so that automation would eliminate the need to have these people on-shift, on nights, and we could move those resources on to days.

So there is an increase in efficiency when we do that.  There is a little cost, obviously, to make this happen.  But that is really the essence of this.

We also, you know, obviously save on shift premiums and differential and so on.  So all in all, there is a fairly good payback for this particular initiative, and maintenance managers themselves, as a peer team, essentially came forward with this one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to ask you that.  So when you talk about automating functions, basically what you are saying is when you went to this system, it threw up this other need, right?

You said if you are going to do Days Based Maintenance, then this is something you need to do as well?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

Then Engineering Value for Money Improvement, what is that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I guess it links to sort of the discussion we had in radiation.

This was a fundamental review of the support functions in engineering, and looking specifically at consolidating some of the functions in the corporate headquarters and essentially providing engineering services more efficiently.

And so that is being worked through the engineering managers or directors' peer team meeting, and that will –- that, in fact, is ongoing, and is expected to yield significant benefits to us.

This is a function of the fact that we have three plants in relative proximity, and the engineering function at corporate can provide a lot of support more efficiently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is centralizing more of your engineering?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It means you have less people in that area?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how many?  How many FTEs are you --


MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, this is essentially an FTE equivalent.  So I don't have that number specifically, but essentially this one is mostly labour.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it would be whatever the math is on 38.7 million over four years?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

And there is one other program here I wanted to ask you about, and that is -- it is called TR-04.  It says "Initial Authorization Training Program".  Can you tell me what that is?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  This is essentially a program aimed at improving our certification program, and the dollars associated with that are for training development and improving our authorized training program to ensure that we have the necessary staff to man the control room.

It also is looking at reducing the duration of authorization right now.  It is a significant investment to turn out a control room operator, and we seek to improve that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this page is all full of savings things, except this line is actually not a saving; right?  It is a cost?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  I think at the time that this was developed, it was difficult to get our arms around the potential savings.  We believe that, as this moves on, that may become clear and there may be some savings associated with this.

We certainly have a need for competent, qualified operators, and this was reflecting a challenge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Now, on the previous page, the human performance cornerstone page, there is a note at the bottom saying, "TR-04 is included in the Value for Money slide".

So is this actually not a value for money initiative; right?  It is a human performance initiative?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  Clearly, a training will impact on human performance.  Because of the costs involved, it was placed on the Value for Money slide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Are there any other costs buried in this value for money page?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, in the sense that there are some costs associated with a number of the -- a number of the reductions, ultimately, something is done to allow us to access the savings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, "Days Based Maintenance", you said you also automated some functions along the way.

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the cost of doing that is included?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It's included, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sort of netted out; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LEAVITT:  Those costs, if they're capital instalments, are reflected in the right-hand side of this chart where there is an impact to capital, and for day based maintenance, you will see numbers like 1.5 million, 775,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so that is what that is?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see, okay.  But the savings on the left-hand side of that chart are OM&A savings, but the costs are capital costs?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then this all ends up with a line -- I am not going to go through every line of this, but you have a line at the bottom, "Estimated savings from initiatives", which we calculate totals $121.3 million over five years.  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. LEAVITT:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your gap that you had to go after is $344.6 million; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Do you have a reference for that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It is the total across the top, I think.

MR. LEAVITT:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think we have it somewhere else, but I think that is the number, isn't it?

So you have two lines at the bottom here, "gap closed" and "final gap".  Can you explain what those are?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  These represent fleet initiatives that were established to assist in the savings across nuclear.

In addition to these, there were also local initiatives within the business unit, Pickering A, Pickering B, nuclear programs and training, et cetera.  And they had local cost savings initiatives in there, as well.

So the subtotal that is labelled gap closed in Site and Support Group Plans is the total of all of those, the fleet initiatives and any local initiatives that were undertaken by the facility.

The final gap, then, is what is left, in most cases zero.  In some cases, we exceeded expectations, and in others there was a remainder still to be established.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me understand this.

You have -- for example, take Darlington.  You have $33.5 million of fleet-wide initiatives that are savings for Darlington; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you say Darlington was supposed to find $77.8 million, so it has found the rest of it internally?

MR. LEAVITT:  Internal to Darlington, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that because you have added up a series of programs at the plant or because you simply said, Look, this is how much your budget has to be cut by?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, it certainly started out, as Mr. Sequeira has explained, as a top-down target set for Darlington.

Darlington accepted the values that are listed here as a contributor to their savings through the fleet initiatives, and also accepted the burden of the remainder internal to Darlington.  Some specific initiatives would have been established at the time of business planning for Darlington, and perhaps not all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They basically said, Okay, we have to find $44.3 million in our station budget.  Where do we find it?  And they gave you a budget that met that requirement?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the only areas -- the only area where that wasn't the case was nuclear programs and training; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the panel members is the person in charge of this area?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's you.  And, I mean, tell me whether I am being cynical, but it sounds like you were the only one who was able to argue, No, I can't meet this budget.

MR. TREMBLAY:  The commitment was made across the fleet, and my particular area came in slightly above -- above the targeted result, so that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn over to page 16 of this same presentation.  The page is headed up "Cost Plan, OM&A Cost Savings".

This is the summary of your OM&A adjustment since the 2009 through 2013 business plan; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Before I go into this, I just want you to turn up, if you could, please, the ScottMadden report number 2.  This is F5, tab 1, schedule 2, and look at page 15.  Can you do that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, top.  I will consistently refer to "top" if I remember.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  What was the page number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  "15" at the top, "14" at the bottom.

Do you have that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have it?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So figure 7 has two tables.  The first is business plan numbers and changes with the continued operation of Pickering, right, and the second is without the continued operation of Pickering?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So none of these numbers bear any resemblance to these numbers in your business plan itself.

I wonder if I could just ask you to help me understand that.  So, for example, in 2010, this document says -- sorry -- yes, your 2009 to 2013 budget had a budget for OM&A for 2010 of 1543, and here you say -- on the other document, the business plan itself, you say that it was 1679 was your approved business plan.

And then all of the numbers are different all the way across.  Can you help me with that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  The numbers that were provided in the ScottMadden report -- are we talking savings or total or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about -- right now the line says:  "Total 2009 to 2013 plan OM&A."  In the ScottMadden report.

And in the business plan, it says:  "Total OM&A 2009 to 2013 approved business plan."

I would have thought those would be the same numbers, and I don't understand why they're not.  And they're out by a lot.

MR. LEAVITT:  I believe the difference is in the inclusion of or exclusion of outage OM&A from the numbers, but I would have to verify that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the difference is outage OM&A?

So if we see, for example -- take a look at the line here in the ScottMadden that says:  "Total 2010 to 14 plan OM&A targets."  Do you see that line?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Still looking at the second of the two charts, because this is the -- without continuing operation of Pickering, you see 2010 is 1,504?  1,503,777, do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in your business plan, nuclear operations OM&A, you have 1,595.  So that $91 million difference, that is outage OM&A?

MR. LEAVITT:  I'm suggesting that that is -- that could be a primary cause of the discrepancy, but I would have to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I wonder if you could undertake, then, to give us a reconciliation of these two tables, the figure 7 in ScottMadden report number 2, and page 16 of Exhibit F2-1-1, attachment 1.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.6.

MR. KEIZER:  To clarify, are we talking about the second chart on figure 7?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking -- I was going to eventually get to the whole thing.  They're all different.  It may be that there is a single explanation that solves the problem.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  to RECONCILE AMOUNTS IN FIGURE 7, SCOTTMADDEN REPORT 2, AND PAGE 16 OF EXHIBIT F2, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 1, ATTACHMENT 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then back to the business plan itself.  We are finished with ScottMadden for a second.

What you have on this page 16, the cost plan OM&A cost saving, is the first line here is the previous business plan, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then a little farther down, there is a line that says:  "Corporate planning guidelines, 2010 to 2014."  Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talked the other day about the fact that you were asked to knock $40 million off 2010, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that is where that $40 million is, the difference between 1,679 and 1,639?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then the numbers for 2011 through 2013, the guidelines are the same as the previous business plan, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  The corporate guidelines were the same as the previous business plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so if you could take a look at -- now I have to figure out what tab number this is -- at tab 2 of our materials.  Don't lose that place, because we are going to come back there in a minute.

Tab 2 is an excerpt from your corporate planning guidelines, right?

It is about six or seven pages along.  This is Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 10.  Again, I am looking at the public version of it.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes, that's an excerpt from corporate business planning guidelines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it says here, you will see, it says -- just above the table, it says:

"Until guidelines for 2011 and beyond are set, the interim guidelines are the planned OM&A levels for 2011 to 2013 as approved in the 2009 to 2013 business plan, as indicated in the table below."

Do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So basically, if I understand correctly, what you were being told when you did the new business is:  We haven't set new guidelines for 2011 and beyond.  So use the old ones for now, and we will give you new ones in a while.  Right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have new ones now?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this document is dated June 3rd, 2009.  You have not –- you have not -- you do not have updated corporate guidelines since then?

MR. LEAVITT:  I do not recollect receiving any updated corporate guidelines.

What was taking place during this time was a communication of the savings that were being built into the nuclear business plan.

And those are as documented in -- on F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 16, as you indicated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said earlier that you are in the process of doing the new version of the business plan right now, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  For 2011 through '15, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You don't have new guidelines?

MR. LEAVITT:  We have new guidelines for that new planning period, yes.  I'm sorry.  For the addition of 2015 into the five-year planning period, we have new guidelines for that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they include 2011 to 2013?

MR. LEAVITT:  And '14 and '15, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the company just sort of skipped one set of guidelines for 2011 to '13; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you get them every year, right?  They update every year the guidelines.  Here is what your budgets are going to look like going forward, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  In 2009, we will receive the guidelines that will permit us to business plan for five years; on this particular, case for 2010 through 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But here's what I'm --


MR. LEAVITT:  Not in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- asking.  What they said in 2009 -- tell me whether this is what I am reading here -- is:  We're going to use last year's guidelines for now.  We are going to give you new ones.

And you're saying they didn't give you new ones last year.  They're giving you new ones this year.  They skipped last year?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think a better way to say that would be to say to assume for the guidelines for 2010 through 2014, there was no change proposed for the interim years, 2011, 2012, 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I brought you to the page, because it doesn't say that.  What it says is until the guidelines are set, the interim guidelines -- these are interim guidelines, right?  That's what it says.

MR. LEAVITT:  So it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you didn't get any more until this year for the next business plan, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.  These guidelines were adopted as the final guidelines for business planning for nuclear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.

MR. LEAVITT:  Which were bettered through the use of top-down business planning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So these, the interim guidelines, were made final?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there a process to do that?  Did you get another communication saying:  No, no, they're not interim any more, now they're final?

MR. LEAVITT:  Not to my recollection, but I can't remember.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I wonder if you can give us the most recent guidelines for 2011 through 2013.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess I am having a hard time understanding the relevance of that.

These are the guidelines that are based on the current business plan that forms part of this rate application for the 2010 to '14 period, and for the test years, '11 and '12.

So I am not quite sure what the current guidelines related to a completely different planning process has to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the witness has said that he has received new guidelines for the test period.

I don't understand why that would not be relevant.

MR. KEIZER:  No.  I think what he said -- these were the guidelines that were finalized and form part of what this test period is, and the basis of this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2011 and 2012, to the best of my knowledge, are the test period.  He has new guidelines for the test period.  I think we should see them.  If they're lower or if they're higher, I think we should know.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  One moment, please.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. CHAPLIN:  I am never quite sure if I pushed the right buttons.

So just to ensure that we understand clearly, what's being requested are the guidelines that have to do with the next planning period, although there is an overlap obviously for the specific years involved, and this was a document that came out subsequent to the business plan and case that is before us now; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.  And I think as the witnesses stated in evidence, that the business plan currently is not finalized and is in the midst of preparation.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So on that basis, and I think consistent with some prior rulings that we have made on what's going to be considered relevant and not in this proceeding, we will not order the production of that.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, you may continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't turn it off.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I turned it off, though, so you probably had to re-turn it on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, all control is on the dais.

So back to this page 16, one other question I have on that is you have for 2014 1673, and that doesn't have a comparison to the prior budget, because the prior budget didn't have a 2014; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.  There is no plan-over-plan variance for 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But, Mr. Sequeira, in your report where you were trying to identify the savings, the gap, up to 2014, you didn't have a plan, but you estimated what 2014 would be?

It's the same page, 15 of...

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Thank you.  And you just did a trend line to see where it would end up?

MR. LEAVITT:  The 2014 number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  No.  It would be more than a trend line.  It would be savings associated with particular initiatives, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry.  I am asking Mr. Sequeira.  It says:
"Value shown for 2014 amounts were derived by ScottMadden by reference to the 2009 to 2013 trend."

So is that just a simple trend line, or was it more complicated than that?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I believe it was a sum of the contributions of the individual initiatives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

Now, you have here a line in this number 16, page 16, that we were talking about earlier, the cost plan, that is targeted reductions.  And that line -- you see that line?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That totals $241 million over four years.  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this the equivalent of the five-year total of $344.6 million that we talked about earlier?

MR. LEAVITT:  I'm sorry, I can't remember what we talked about earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  When we looked at the value for money initiatives, you had a total OM&A savings required and you accepted, subject to check - trust me, it is true - that it is 344.6 million.

MR. LEAVITT:  Oh, yes, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is just four years of that five?  They're the same things; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  I believe they are.  These would include both fleet initiatives, and site and business unit commitments to savings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then if you look a couple of lines down - I am going to get to the middle lines in a second - you have a line that says "plan over plan reduction".

That is just the net of the three lines above it; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the target reductions we just talked about.  Then if you look at note 1, the targeted reductions are listed in note 1; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  They are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I see here Darlington.  That has $50.6 million over those four years; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  I haven't added it up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept it subject to check?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this equates to the $77.8 million that you -- on page 14 you said Darlington had to produce over five years; right?  So this is four years of those five?

MR. LEAVITT:  I would have to do the math for each year.  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just trying to get a sense of whether I am looking at this the right way, as these numbers are -- these individual numbers in note 1 are basically the same as page 14, but with one less year.

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, I guess what I can't validate at this time is whether the additional savings in note 3 and the additional expenditures in note 2 were built into those subtotals of the other chart.  I can't validate that at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

Okay, let me.... Hmm.  I will come back to that.

So if I take the -- stay with Darlington for a second; okay?  So if I take these Darlington figures, so, for example, you look at 2010, you are going to save $9 million in these various programs, right, the targeted reductions?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So would I be right that but for these reductions, I could just go to your budget for 2010 and add 9 million and that is what you would have spent but for these -- for this?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, I don't think that would take into account either the other expenditures in note 2 or the other savings in note 3, some of which are common to all business units in nuclear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So actually your spending on Darlington might have been more than that, but for all of these various reductions; right?

You have a budget for 2010 of $298.2 million as your Darlington OM&A.  Just accept that for now.  I don't even know where I got it from.  We will take it as a hypothetical.

We can't just add 9 million to that -- or, sorry, it is 398, and say -- we can't just add 9 million and say that is the number; right?  We have to add 9 million, plus whatever savings there are in notes 2 and 3?

MR. LEAVITT:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

Now, you have a line there that says "additional expenditures"?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you look at note 2, I understand the vacuum building outage, that is a separate case; right?  It is an unusual situation that happened and you already know about it?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then I see one here, for example, "underfunded OM&A project portfolio" of $20 million.  What is that?

MR. LEAVITT:  It represents commitments within the OM&A project portfolio in nuclear that exceeded the OM&A portfolio ceiling for those years and became a push to the established plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is just the offsetting increases.  You have some reductions over here, but then you have some increases over there, because a whole bunch of different projects needed more money, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  I'm not sure just how many projects it was, but there were offsetting puts and takes throughout the business planning process.

Our goal was to end up much better than we were in the prior year's plan, with all changes netted together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the other one we have is NPT shortfall in targeted reductions.

That, presumably, Mr. Tremblay, is the -- the amount that you weren't able to get to the --


MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- target?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On page 14, you have 23 million as your shortfall.  That's changed?  23.1, and this is 21.4.  What is the difference?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is only a small amount, so if you don't have it right away, it is $1.7 million.

If you could just undertake to let us know what it is, I would appreciate that.

MR. LEAVITT:  It would appear to be associated with the years that are included in the different tables.

The data in the note on page 16 includes relevant data up to and including 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  Okay.

MR. LEAVITT:  The information on page 14 of the same exhibit includes five years of the plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I knew it would be something simple.  So that 1.7 million is basically your 2014 number?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you have a third line, "Additional savings," which is $252 million over those four years.  It is actually more than your targeted reductions.

If you look at note 3 below, the biggest chunk of that is:  "Impact of lower labour burden rate," $172.7 million.

Can you tell us what that is?

MR. LEAVITT:  Each year, we receive a burden rate from corporate business planning to be applied to the labour rate, basically, for the staff that had been built into the plan.

This reflects the delta or the change associated with that new rate.  I can't speak to its derivation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is -- I will ask more detailed questions on the finance panel, I assume, but just let me understand a bit, because it is the biggest number on your chart here.

This is -- is this something that is a shift between capital and operating?  Or is it a reduction in the corporate costs that you are having to bear?

MR. LEAVITT:  It is not a shift between operating and capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?

MR. LEAVITT:  This would be -- and it is not really a corporate cost.  It is a cost associated with the labour in the nuclear plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will follow up with another panel, thanks.

Then you have:  "Impact of new labour rates."  Is this a contract that you have signed that is going to save you money?

MR. LEAVITT:  New labour rates were received.  I can't speak to the contractual arrangements that gave us those, those new rates.  I think the corporate business planning panel would be best able to speak to those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They just gave you a new number.  It was lower, and so that saves you money?

MR. LEAVITT:  There were many changes in labour rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Yes, new numbers.  And they saved you money?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the last one is:  "SAVHO reallocation to capital projects."  What's that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Prior to this plan, the costs for vacation and sickness associated with capital projects had been -- had been accumulated in an OM&A account, consistent with policy.

In this year, it was decided that those would be shifted to the capital projects for which the work was being performed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is -- this is an increase to the amount capitalized?

MR. LEAVITT:  It would represent an increase.  No ceiling increase was taken, however.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you have a total of savings.  You see:  "Nuclear operations savings above guidelines."  It totals $383 million over those four years; is that about right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Sorry, what line are you on now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  "Nuclear operations savings above guidelines."

MR. LEAVITT:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept, subject to check, that it is $383 million?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in addition to that, you had an additional 40 million because your guidelines changed for 2010, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think it became 44 through the course of planning, right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You went from 1,679 down to 1,639; $40 million reduction there.  Plus another 44 that you got beyond that, right?  In 2010?

MR. LEAVITT:  Oh, all right.  Okay.  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then can you turn to the next page, page 17?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you see the line "Darlington" there?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these -- these numbers aren't exactly comparable to the numbers on the previous page, are they?  Or are they?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, some are and some aren't.  It has to do with whether we're looking at base expenditures, outage expenditures or total OM&A.

If you look at the total for OM&A for the years 2011 and 2012, you will see 1,535 and 1,549.  Those are the exact numbers in the previous slide for the totals 2011 and 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So these numbers build up that line that says:  "Total OM&A submission 2010 to 2014"?  Right?  This is the breakdown of that line?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

So in Darlington, you have a $35 million drop in your OM&A from 2010 to 2011.  That's because of an outage in 2010, which increased your costs; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  I believe there were two outages at Darlington in that year, with the three -- subject to check, with the three outage -- three-year outage schedule at Darlington, every third year there are two outages in the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, say that again?

MR. LEAVITT:  I believe the costs were associated with an additional outage at Darlington in that year, but I would have to confirm that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, your base OM&A went up, is going up from 2010 to 2011, right?

If you want to take a look at tab 3 of our materials, the first page of tab 3 is Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1.

And table 1 says that your Darlington base OM&A goes from 291.5 to 302.1, from 2010 to 2011; isn't that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask you, while we are on that table -- do you have that table in front of you in tab 3?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have a side question on that.  You see the line there "Pickering B continued operations"?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  9.8, 17.7, 14.7, do you see that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then I look back on the business plan where it says "Pickering B continued operations".  It is 51, 42, 37 for the 2011, 2012, 2013.

What is the difference between two?  Is there something I am missing there?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, which table of the business plan you are looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the same one, page 16 of that table -- of that business plan.  The cost plan has "Pickering B continued operations investment" on page 16, 51 for 2011, 42 for 2012, and 37 for 2013.

But then when I look at the base OM&A, which is tab 3 of our materials, F2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1, it says for 2011 17.7, and 2012 14.7, much lower numbers.

MR. LEAVITT:  Again, I think we're seeing the impact of the type of OM&A expenditure that it is.

In table 1 of F2, tab 2, schedule 1, we are looking at base OM&A.  In the OM&A table, in the business plan on page 16, that is all -- all sources of OM&A.  So it would have in it the base OM&A, outage OM&A and project portfolio OM&A, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, then I am really confused now, because go back to the business plan, and on page 17 in the financial plan, it has a line "OM&A Pickering B continued operations".  It has 19.9 and 17.0, and that is base and outage, isn't it?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.  That would be the incremental funding for Pickering B continued operations.  I don't believe that has -- that includes the project OM&A portion of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I wonder if you could just help us to reconcile this line, "Pickering B continued operations investment" on page 16, those three numbers, 51, 42 and 37, with the numbers on the next page that refer to the same thing, "Pickering continued operations", and tell us where the differences are and where we would find them in the evidence.  Could you do that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  TO RECONCILE NUMBERS FOR PICKERING B CONTINUING OPERATIONS ON P.16 OF TAB 1 WITH NUMBERS ON P.17 OF TAB 1

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sort of done with that for a while.  I want to turn to the benchmarking stuff, but I am still going to look at this business plan, because you have a very convenient summary of those -- the targets that you created as a result of the benchmarking.

And let's start with page 12 of the business plan materials.  This is still at tab 1 of our materials.  Trust me, I will get out of tab 1 sooner or later, but not yet.

Do you see page 12 there, "Reliability Cornerstone"?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so there are a number of programs here.  These are across the fleet programs; right?  The ones that are listed here are across the fleet?

MR. LEAVITT:  These are fleet-wide initiatives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So you have a number of programs here that are designed to improve the forced-loss rate; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you are trying to do is -- and obviously you are going -- I think you said this to Mr. Millar this morning.  You are hoping to have a significant impact on forced outages at Pickering A and B, but you don't have that much room at Darlington.  It is already pretty good; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I just want to ask you about one of these, and that is you have one called "Leveraged Darlington OEMB Process Across Fleet".  Can you tell us what that is?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  One of the -- this is elective maintenance backlog, operating elective maintenance backlog process across the fleet.

Darlington being in the lead, in terms of reliability work, got to I guess what we would consider to be the hardened backlog, those items that are very difficult to get to.  They're in a degraded condition, but because of parts that perhaps vendors are no longer in business for -- just difficult backlog to get to.

And so they essentially put a process together to expedite that, and as Pickering B and Pickering A get to those levels of backlogs, they're running into the same thing.

So it was felt that there could be a significant improvement, acceleration in reducing backlogs.  Backlogs are clearly a risk factor associated with forced loss.

And so the desire was to further enhance their ability to reduce their backlogs.  So that is really what this was about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Darlington was sort of like the pilot project, because they were further along.  And then as Pickering A and B caught up on their backlog, because of that previous temporary bulge in your spending, they're now in the same position, and so you are rolling out the program from Darlington to the others?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It is an industry program.  I would love to take credit for it, but that is not the case.  It is really an industry program and Darlington is seeing the improvements.  Pickering B is starting to see it, and now Pickering A is working.

Chris Johnston is in fact the maintenance manager for Pickering A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other one -- there is only one program here that appears to be directed solely at Darlington, and that is one called work order readiness?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is actually a fleet program, and that is a dedicated program.  And, in fact, that is really looking to improve the way in which we access our work, efficiencies around templating work orders that are repetitive, and enhancing the interaction between the procurement engineers and the system engineers and the designers so we can get bits and pieces in the hands of the maintenance people faster and are more reliable with our work execution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you turn to the next page, this is the human performance cornerstone.  Did I understand correctly that ScottMadden didn't have metrics for this, didn't propose metrics for this; that you added them?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think the issue that we struggled with at the time that ScottMadden did the work was that there are measures and metrics around human reliability in the industry.

We just, in the time that we had, couldn't land on a specific target that was -- that was standardized.  INPO and WANO are working in this area to try to standardize it, because it is a point of interest to all nuclear operators, and have since landed on a prior hours of work measure.  But at the time, it wasn't available.

Clearly human performance bleeds into many of these other areas in terms of reliability and cost, so we felt that there was good coverage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is what I wanted to ask about, and, Mr. Sequeira, perhaps you can help me with this.

As I understood what you said, it was that human performance is important, but the best metrics of how well you are doing is the results.  Human performance is not a results-oriented thing, so it is better to measure your cost, your safety, your reliability as opposed to measuring human performance directly.  Do I have that right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is sort of a combination of factors.

At that time, there wasn't an industry-wide accepted measure for human performance.  When we looked at the leading fleets, many of these same measures were used by one fleet, but no one else, or someone would -- and we have to keep in mind we're talking about use for targeting versus use.

There are hundreds of metrics that are used within OPG at what I would call tier 2, tier 3, tier 4 levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are as management tools?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  These are management tools.  There are small benchmarking consortiums going on all the time, three or four plants, five or six plants looking at something.

When we did the overall benchmarking report for 2009, within the industry, there was no consistent human performance measure.  There were a couple being proposed; WANO and INPO were looking at some.  They were being trial-tested with different subgroups of utilities, but nothing that we thought passed the test of widely used, reliable, clear definitions, clear over time.

So at that point, we did not recommend that for overall benchmarking.

As you can see here, the company still selected other performance measures for targeting, and that is basically management's discretion, to go after any of those, but these were not benchmarked in the original report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So just very briefly, can you tell me what some of these are.  Event-free day resets, what's that mean?

MR. TREMBLAY:  So that is essentially a consequential event, perhaps the loss of a unit from the grid as a result of a human error, possibly a significant safety event, or perhaps a safety system unavailability as a result of human error.

So these are what are called resets for sites, and while it is fairly common in the industry to speak in this way, John talked about the measure itself not being reliable.

I would add that we have subsequently added a measure based on that work, and now have 20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I want to understand event-free resets.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you are measuring is how many times a unit went off-line during the year?

MR. TREMBLAY:  As a result of human error, a breakthrough event, if you will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you are reducing that at Darlington, for example, from eight to four, over five years?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is not per unit, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  That is a site.  That is a station number.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that translates into FLR in capability?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It does, but I would say, as is consistent with our overall approach, it is a cornerstone approach.

So there are a number of areas that we look at.  So it is not just a production, you know, a near-miss, for example, or someone who is injured so badly they cannot return to work.  That would be a lost-time accident and that would be considered a reset on the site, and would focus the attention of the team on finding out what happened and preventing it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand here is that you have, you have, for example, an event-free day reset, and that can be measured in other aspects of your metrics, it feeds those, you have things like your safety requirements.  Those are goals in themselves, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not doing that because you save money?  Well, that too, perhaps, but you are doing that because it is a good goal to have?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, yes, and clearly when someone is hurt, that tends to stop things.  We need to regroup.  That can be very, very costly, from a plant and personnel standpoint.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These other measures, they're -- what does CAP stand for?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Corrective action program.  It is our organizational learning tool.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these are measures of how well you are doing in your internal evaluations of those activities?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's basically three different components of the same -- three different ways of measuring that success?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, there are many.  I think the comment was made that these are typically tier 2 indicators.  They allow us to measure and track performance below fairly significant levels.

For example, you talked about the resets you were asking about.  Those are site resets.  Each of the departments that operate have their own less consequential events that would be triggered, and that causes review and trending and analysis so that we can improve the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it is all about the details, right?  I mean, you get performance better by dealing --


MR. TREMBLAY:  By understanding the underlying causes for performance.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question on this is, then, the training index is how successful you are in improving the training levels of your staff?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  Training is essentially there to enhance and improve sustained performance.

And so we look at that from the standpoint of:  Are we getting value for that, and are we impacting on performance?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am moving to another area that might take a while.  Is this a good time to break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  We will break now until 1:30.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair, there is actually two.  One relates to scheduling for upcoming witness panels.  We had communicated with the various parties and counsel, prior to the weekend, about one of the restrictions of one of our panel members for the nuclear production forecast and outage OM&A panels and that they were limited to being able to attend Friday or Monday of next week -- Friday of this week or Monday of next week.

Unfortunately, another panel member on that same panel has had a death in the family and unfortunately has to attend a funeral on Friday, which then leaves us with the Monday in order to accommodate those interests.

So what we propose to do is obviously continue with panel 2; when they're finished, move to panel 3, which is the nuclear base OM&A and fuels panel; and then on Friday, we hopefully will be able then to proceed with panel 5, with nuclear projects, and then as a certain date proceed with nuclear production forecast at 9 o'clock in the morning on Monday so we could get them in.

I guess two eventualities can happen.  If all things go well and we finish nuclear projects on Friday, great, we are right on schedule.

If for some reason we've gone long and we haven't finished nuclear projects on Friday, then we would want to have them stand down, have production forecast to go on Monday morning, finish them and put projects back on the stand after that.

So I think that would accommodate it.  I have spoken to at least most of the counsel that were in the room during the end of the lunch period, and I think that meets with everyone's needs with respect to that.

So, hopefully, unless my friends have anything they want to advise otherwise, hopefully that will work in terms of scheduling and moving the panels forward.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So the plan and requirement would be in fact to also complete panel 4 on Monday?

MR. KEIZER:  That would be preferred, yes.  And I think the timing estimates right now would permit that to happen.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  So hopefully that stays true to form and the timing estimates don't shift.  Obviously if they do, we will have to figure out some other means to deal with it, but I think right now, based on the timing estimates, we should be able to get panel 4 on and off on Monday.

So that is the first matter, and actually the second only relates to the fact that I have been advised that I believe Mr. Sequeira has a correction he would like to make with respect to something he said this morning, but that is all I have from me.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Sequeira.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.  Earlier - and I can't remember which of the parties asked the question - there was a reference to Exhibit F5-1-2, page 15.  On figure 7 there, there was a projected cost savings.

And the question, I think, arose regarding clarification of the numbers for 2014.  And we had gone through so many loops on this, I had forgotten that when this particular table was prepared, we did not have the results back from all of the initiatives.

So the 2014 projection in this table was merely a projection derived from the trend of the prior years.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could, witnesses, look at the document we were looking at before, tab 1 of our materials.  On page 14, you have this table of value for money cornerstone targets and gap closure.  Do you have that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, all of the initiatives listed here to save money look, to me, to be OM&A initiatives; is that right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But OM&A is only one of your four benchmarks, right, your value for money benchmarks?

MR. LEAVITT:  The value for money benchmarks are fuel costs, non-fuel operating costs, total generating costs and capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So for -- I will leave total generating costs aside, because that is just adding them up, right, adding up the other three?

MR. LEAVITT:  It is just adding them up.  We view it as the most comprehensive measure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So do you have initiatives for fuel costs and for capital costs?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, okay.

So then our focus here is on OM&A.  If we want to get the total generating costs down, the area is OM&A; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  These initiatives focus on OM&A.  That won't preclude us trying to get the best price on fuel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have no target reductions for anything other than OM&A?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So could you turn to tab 4 of our materials?  It is about half way or so in the materials.  The document is your Exhibit F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 8, which we've seen in other people's materials, as well, including my friend Mr. Millar's materials this morning.

And if I just look -- do you have that in front of you?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second page of that is your overall nuclear operations targets; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have the nine safety targets, which we're not going to talk about right now, and the six reliability targets.  Again, we are not going to talk about those.  Then you have the four value for money targets; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You said that the TGEC, the first one is the comprehensive one, so I am just going to skip that and go to the next one -- to the third one, which is fuel costs.

And with respect to fuel costs, all we need to do to figure out how you are doing on that - tell me whether this is right - is look at your fuel cost budget for the year, divide by your production forecast for the year, and that will get what you expect this number to be in the year; right?  Straight math.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes, cost per megawatt-hour.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There are no complications in that.  There is no adjustments you have to make to it.  This is a straight calculation?

MR. LEAVITT:  I am not aware of any adjustments or complications.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then with respect to the total non-fuel operating cost per net megawatt-hour, you take your total nuclear OM&A, right, and divide it by your production to get this number or the comparison to this number; right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEAVITT:  I believe the non-fuel operating cost also includes the non-nuclear portion of allocated costs from corporate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it is the allocated -- the corporate costs that have been allocated to nuclear, though; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're not nuclear in nature, but they're your responsibility?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it includes the outages costs?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it includes the project costs?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all of the OM&A?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have three OM&A numbers; right?  You have the total, you have the base plus outage, and then you have the base; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  The OM&A numbers are the base OM&A, the outage incremental OM&A that fluctuates with the duration or scope of the outage in a particular year, and the project OM&A, which is unique to one-time projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is all three.  So you take all three.  You divide it by your production forecast.  That is your number?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Then the last one is capital costs per megawatt, and that is design engineer rating?

MR. LEAVITT:  Design electrical rating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, electrical rating.  Okay, close enough.

And that capital cost, that is not your rate base; right?  It is nothing to do with your total capital cost.  This is your capital cost spending during the year?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's right, the capital expenditures in a given year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this value for money, these targets, they exclude all of -- everything that is in your rate base prior to the year?  Those aren't included; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Prior -- capital expenditures from prior years?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the rate base as of the beginning of the year, that is not included in your value for money calculations; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's right.  These are capital expenditures in the year of interest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when this says, for example, that the cost per megawatt-hour is 46.86, that 46.86, the TGC, that doesn't include the costs associated with your rate base for nuclear, the depreciation, the cost of capital, any of that stuff?  It is all gone, all not included?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, the total generating cost does include the allocation of corporate and centrally-held costs in addition to the pure nuclear costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it includes capital costs built into those?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think it would probably be best to get the corporate panel to talk about the specifics of what is built into those corporate allocations to nuclear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, why don't I ask Mr. Sequeira?  These are your numbers, right?  These are the benchmarks that you set out, that you said -- set targets based on these benchmarks?

So what is in total generating costs?  Is there any rate base?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  As a benchmark, it is all-in costs.  So it is all costs, but as a target, it is left to OPG to set the target, the actual value here.

The definition of total generating cost is all-in cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it includes rate base?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It includes rate base?  I don't understand the question, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what the ratepayers pay for this stuff is they pay an amount associated with the capital invested.  That is the rate base.  And so we pay the costs of the interest on it, and the return on equity and the depreciation.  We pay all of those things.

And we pay the operating costs, the current costs for the year.

This number doesn't include the former, does it?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I don't know about this number.  The definition for total generating costs, I believe, should include it.  I'm lost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then I'm confused.  So then all these numbers for the other comparators, they include the costs, like their depreciation, for example?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I believe they do, subject to change -- I mean subject to verification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would make a big difference, wouldn't it?  I am a little bit taken aback.  This was actually a set-up question.

I was assuming that you were comparing apples to apples, but if -- or largely apples to apples -- but if OPG's numbers don't include rate base and everybody else's does, that seems like a big difference to me.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. LEAVITT:  Our understanding is that this total generating cost number is all of the nuclear costs that are talked about below, in the other elements of value for money metrics.

But it does include an allocation of corporate and centrally-held costs, the costs such as corporate labour that is ultimately allocated to nuclear, and costs such as pension or other post-employment benefits that, again, are allocated to nuclear on a headcount basis.

But that's our understanding of what's in this number, and some of that is received for addition into the TGC number used by nuclear after all business plans are approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But that wasn't what I was trying to get at.

I'm trying to understand the capital cost figure.

So from a rate-regulation point of view, you have capital costs that are included in rate base, and there are costs that you pass on to the ratepayers associated with that.

And I don't see anywhere here where the TGC includes any of that, and I am asking where it is.

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, there would be interest costs -- interest costs on projects, on capital projects, in the capital cost per megawatt DER number, if that's what we're...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, are you particularly interested in where depreciation costs on nuclear assets are?  And the return on equity, and the cost of debt associated with the nuclear rate base?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  What I am trying to figure out, Madam Chair, is whether the comparators have these things in, and OPG does not, because it would make a huge difference.  I think they probably are both the same.  I just don't know which it is.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Does the panel understand the question that is being asked?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I am not sure I do, but it is probably just my own ignorance.

The numbers that are used in these comparisons for the benchmarking point of view, not from targeting, from benchmarking, are the numbers that were reported by Ontario Power Gen to EUCG, using the same definitions that all the other companies use.

So the definition of what got reported in the benchmark for benchmark comparison should be identical.  What the details of that are, I am probably just ignorant about.  Is...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.  Let's accept that it is the same for the time being, and then let me ask you -- come back to this capital cost per megawatt.

That number is the capital cost spent during the year, right?  It is the capital expenditures during the year?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is your incremental capital spending, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then -- so -- and these other things, they're all incremental costs, right?  This is a marginal cost calculation?  It is how much it is costing us to produce energy from this source, this year?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so whatever sunk costs you have, however it compares to previous -- to other utilities, is irrelevant to this benchmarking exercise?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  I understand that.

And let me just -- the capital cost per megawatt calculation is -- this is hundreds of dollars per megawatt?  This number?

MR. LEAVITT:  Kilo-dollars per megawatt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is hundreds of dollars, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Thousands.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thousands?  Kilo-dollars?  Oh, yeah, okay.

So for example, in 2011 you are expecting to spend $29,000 per megawatt in capital costs?

MR. LEAVITT:  What year, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  2011.

MR. LEAVITT:  My number indicates 37.23 for 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am looking at --


MR. LEAVITT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Perhaps I am on the Darlington page.  Yes, you are correct.  29.02.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is $29,000 per megawatt in capital spending?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you convert that to -- in order to get to the total generating cost number, you convert the capital cost number by dividing by the number of megawatt-hours of production per unit?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or you divide it by 8,760?

MR. LEAVITT:  It is complicated by the fact that the capital cost is per megawatt, design electrical rating, whereas all other units here are in terms of actual megawatt-hours generated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

MR. LEAVITT:  I will ask Mr. --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But Mr. Sequeira's report says that the total generating cost is the other three combined.  So I am asking:  How do you translate the megawatts?  What is the formula to translate the megawatts?

Do you divide by -- that is the capital cost number in megawatts.  Do you divide by 8,760 or some other number?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, subject to confirmation by Mr. Sequeira, in this case, you would have to multiply by the design electrical rating, and then divide by the actual number of megawatt-hours of that year, in order to get common units which then could be combined with the other measures of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you multiply by, in the case of Darlington, for example, you would multiply it by 3,512 or something.

Then you divide by the production, the actual production or the forecast production for the year?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's what I indicated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Okay.

So let's turn to the Darlington page, then.

So then you've got -- you are planning in 2011 your target is non-fuel operating costs of 2,652 per megawatt hour, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And 4.66 fuel costs per megawatt hour?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I get the difference of $4.52 per megawatt-hour for capital, which is simply take that 37.23, multiply it by 1,000 to get it in dollars, multiplied by 3,512 and divide by production, true, and we'll get $4.52?

MR. LEAVITT:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I asked you whether these are marginal costs -- these numbers are marginal costs or, for example, this $35.70 total generating costs, whether that was marginal costs per unit of production.

And that's -- tell me whether this is right.  It is your marginal cost of on Darlington for the year, but it is not your marginal cost per unit of production, right, because if you reduce your units of production, it is not going to reduce your costs by a like amount, is it?

MR. LEAVITT:  It won't reduce this particular measure in terms of megawatts DER, in kilo dollars per megawatt DER.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking now --


MR. LEAVITT:  That is design --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking about total generating costs.  35.70; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That one will fluctuate based on how much electricity is generated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  It will fluctuate because if your capability factor changes, your costs are largely fixed; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what that means is that if you produce less power, then your cost you goes up?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally speaking, except for the fuel cost, it is about an exact ratio.  It is math?

If you increase your production by 5 percent, you will reduce your cost per unit by about 5 percent?

MR. LEAVITT:  It's directly proportional.  There is obviously a dependence of fuel costs on how often or how long the reactor runs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just ask you a question.  I am not going to talk a lot about Pickering, but I just want to ask a question about Pickering on the next page.

So Pickering A, you are expecting that your marginal generating costs is going to be 73 cents per megawatt-hour.  I guess the question is you have a problem with surplus base load generation.  Why wouldn't you be running this less?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think I would ask to defer generating and SBG questions to the panel that has been briefed to address those in the production and outage panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask them about this.  It is not primarily your area.  I am trying to get a sense, from an operational point of view, if you have a surplus base load generation problem, could you run Pickering A for three months in the summer as opposed to all year round and save some money?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I guess this question is better addressed to others in terms of strategy.

This plan simply reflects, you know, the generating costs drawn as a result of the reduction in forced loss rate projected based on the work that we're doing.

You are asking a legitimate question.  I just think that there are others that are better briefed to deal with it.

MR. LEAVITT:  If the question is:  Is it possible?  Yes, it is possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So, now, could you go back to the Darlington page for a second, please, the previous page?  Do I understand correctly that your total generating costs -- I mean, we have been focussing on how you reduce your OM&A costs, but you also get just as big a bang for your buck by increasing your capability factor; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are doing that, as well; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you are expecting from 2010 to 2011 to go from 90.3 to 93.9; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would, all other things being equal, reduce your total generating costs per megawatt-hour; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  They're inversely proportional, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, it is doing that, isn't it?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That number of 35.70 is, in part, a reflection of your increased capability factor, which is driving it down, and, in part, a reflection of your increased budget, which is driving it up; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.  We strive to improve both the -- both factors in that equation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am going to talk to you for a minute about Pickering, again, because your costs for Pickering A are twice the Darlington costs, and even Pickering B is, like, 160 percent of the Darlington costs.

You had a discussion with Mr. Lord last Tuesday, and he was asking you whether, as reactors age, their performance degrades.  And I understood you to be saying it is not a question of the reactors being older.  It is a question of Pickering being an older technology; is that fair?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is certainly an element of it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the actual age of a reactor isn't a significant impact on its performance, is it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We focus more on the material condition of the plant.  Certainly, you know, in OPG's situation, you've got essentially three generations of reactors there that you are looking at.  So naturally the reactor that has built all of the operating experience and design experience from the other plants is doing better, and that is natural.

Can the Pickering plants run better?  Of course they can.  And as you have rightfully pointed out, the capacity factor and the amount of electricity generated is a big factor in the cost.

There is a fairly significant size differential between the Darlington unit and the Pickering one, but certainly Pickering can run and needs to run better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true, but it is also true, isn't it, that because it is an older technology that was developed before you had learned a lot of things about CANDU, it is never, ever going to be at the sort of performance level that Darlington, is it, no matter what you do?

MR. TREMBLAY:  And I think we have acknowledged that in terms of the target setting, it is a balance between really reaching for a higher level of performance and the realism of the plant.

It has narrow margins in terms of, you know, less redundancy, and it has a material condition that is challenged.  Having said that, it is on an industry sort of approach and plan, and we expect to see improved results out of Pickering A, as we have at Pickering B.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to take you to the ScottMadden report number 2.  This is F5, tab 1, schedule 2.  I wonder if you could go to page 49 of 64?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I'm sorry, this is report number 1 or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, number 2, sorry.  Phase 2, final report.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I'm sorry, the page number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The page number is page 49.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually 49 at the upper right, page 49 of 64.  Do you see that?  It is entitled "Scenario 5 - Performance Required To Achieve Benchmark Best Quartile".  Do you have that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Sequeira, this is your calculation, if you like, isn't it, of what OPG would have to do for each of these particular components of their nuclear operations to get their OM&A to the best quartile level; right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I am looking at, for example, Pickering A.  You would have to be at about 40 percent of your current OM&A level; right?  You have to go from 250 million down to 105 million?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not ever going to happen, is it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, certainly the five-year plan doesn't reflect that level of performance, and, to the point you made earlier, unlikely to occur.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Similarly, with Pickering B going from 344 down to 198, you would love to do it, but it is not realistic, is it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you look at Darlington going from 403 down to 368, that is within the realm of possibility, isn't it?  Isn't that something you could do?


MR. LEAVITT:  We believe that Darlington is capable of top quartile performance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will come back to that in a second.

I really want to focus here for a second on Pickering, because what I am trying to get at is, in Pickering, you can get some short-term gains, right?

But really it is about improving relative to very bad; get up to bad, not competing with your comparators?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, you know, I would remind you that there are a whole pile of indicators.  In fact, there are four areas of performance.

And in the safety performance area, which is key to us, the plants are running extremely well and have generally top quartile performance.

And the Value for Money, in terms of the costs of running the plant, I acknowledge the fact that it is unlikely we can get to the top quartile, but we can make improvement.

We didn't commission this report and do this work to put a rosy picture on it, but rather to get a more realistic view of where we are as an organization.

In our view, we are going to move everybody forward including Darlington, to improve level of performance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not being critical on what you are doing on Pickering.

MR. TREMBLAY:  No, no.  I am -- we're just trying to balance it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to get at is a matter of priorities.

Yes, you can get some improvements at Pickering, but the real bang for your buck, isn't it, is getting Darlington up to best quartile?  That is where you really want to be?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, you know, another way of looking at this is to say that Pickering A plant has a very high forced-loss rate.  That is lost revenue and lost generation.

And there is a big turnaround in adopting an industry program in that plant and getting its forced-loss rate down in the lower individual percentages, as opposed to where it is today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's leave that.

Let's go to the next area.

So you talked on last Tuesday and again this morning about the technology differences between CANDU and other technologies.  And there's puts and takes, right?  You agree?

MR. TREMBLAY:  There are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you go to tab -- I have to find it.

Tab 7 of our materials.  It is about two-thirds of the way through.  It is headed up:  "Attachment 3, key drivers of total generating costs"?

MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is your Exhibit F2-1-1, attachment 3.  Do you have that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you've discussed some of this with Mr. Millar this morning, so I am not going to go through it in any detail.

If you look on the second page of that, this is a comparison of technology differences between the various types of reactors, your three generations of CANDU, plus PWR and BWR?  Yes?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And let me just start with -- I don't see any reference here to the difference in fuel.  There is a difference in fuel, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, there is reference to on-line fuelling machines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about that now.  I'm talking about you actually use a different fuel.  Right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it costs a lot less?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that should actually go on this, I guess, to make it comprehensive, right?  If this is the technology differences, one of them is different fuel?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that is an advantage for CANDU, right?  Because you will always be at the top of the fuel comparison, because your fuel is cheaper?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  And the on-power fuelling enables us to avoid outages simply for refuelling the core.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So let's get to on-line fuelling.  You mentioned that again this morning.  And CANDU has that and the other ones don't.

The result of that is that the planned outage rate for a PWR or a BWR unit was going to be higher than yours, because they need to go out of service to refuel, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It can be.  Certainly, you know, through our work at Darlington on reliability, we have managed to go to a three-year operating cycle and there is no really PWR or boiling water reactor that has that periodicity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, in fact, I read somewhere, I think, that they're sort of 18 months or sometimes as high as 24 months?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As their cycle for outages?

So you would expect that Darlington, for example, to have one outage a year, and then every three years you would have two outages, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  As Mr. Leavitt indicated, 2010 Darlington has a spring and a fall outage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But normally you would have one, right?  In the other two years you would have one?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And whereas in a PWR reactor, if they had four, they would have two a year?  Or sometimes three a year?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But if you look down this thing, all of these technology differences have costs implications, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  They do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, you have -- you use heavy water?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is a cost?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It is a cost, and it leads to intricate collection systems, ventilation control and so on, that is an added complexity design.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, That is primarily a capital cost, right?  Because you capitalize heavy water?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, there is a significant OM&A cost associated with maintenance of these systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also have to have the tritium removal facility?  At least, at Darlington you do?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We do have one, yes.  At Darlington, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And on the other hand, your Darlington facility has less standby generators, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Just a function of the design.  There are larger units at Darlington.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Now, Mr. Sequeira, you were asked have you tried to normalize the differences, and I think you said no, that is sort of a mug's game because we end up -- and I talked about this with you earlier -- with people having excuses, rather than actually getting the job done, right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding that CANDU is still being sold all over the world to other users of nuclear?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That's my understanding.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, certainly there are -- there was a table referred to last week that indicated a number of CANDU units relatively new in construction and operation, for the Chinese and the Romanians as well.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is fair to say, isn't it, that when AECL goes out to sell CANDU, they don't say:  Ours is more expensive but it is better.  They say:  No, we can compete on price.  Right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, you would have to talk to AECL, but certainly the performance of the CANDUs internationally is encouraging for them, I'm sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So they are not -- I guess my point is the marketplace doesn't think that CANDU is a more expensive technology than PWR or BWR, does it?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, I can't speak for the international community and their interest or desire on CANDUs.  They are sold internationally, and they compete, certainly in terms of their capacity factors and forced-loss rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the things that is a sort of a theme throughout the application is:  Well, we have CANDU; it is more expensive.  In fact, Mr. Sequeira, you said in your report the fact that they have CANDU technology is one of the reasons why they have to spend more money, right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I guess we alluded to it as a contributing factor.  I don't know if we said exactly what you just said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I might have, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you referred to CANDU technology as one of the three main reasons why there were differences between OPG and its comparators, were you referring to CANDU as being an upward pressure on their costs, or lowering pressure on their costs?  Or neither?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Personally, we never tried -- we've never been able to wrestle it to the ground.

My sense is it probably is a higher cost net, but some of the international CANDUs are doing an excellent job of keeping their costs down.  The data isn't conclusive at this point.

I think you might be right, but I couldn't prove it today, to say that CANDU is definitely a cost driver.

It is clear that the CANDU plants are nestled in the group of higher cost plants, but some of them have done very well, as well.

So I don't know if it is inherent to the technology or the operation of the plants historically to date.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think one thing would be fair -- and you have drawn us to the table, which is appropriate, but certainly the older designs have more equipment to maintain, and that constitutes a larger burden.

And, you know, I would say, again, getting back to this, you know, design and operating experience, it is simply built into the C6 design, international CANDUs.  So they have all of that benefit from past generations.

The reality is that we are going to be hard pressed to -- it's certainly not credible, in our view, to get to top quartile performance, but it is credible and necessary for us to improve performance.  Those benchmarks tell us that, and this plan delivers on improved performance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is true for Pickering.  That is not true for Darlington; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think in many respects Darlington is operating at or near the top quartile in many areas, and the issue there is to sustain that level of performance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful, okay.  So let's talk about the benchmarks for Darlington, and first let me clear one thing up.  Mr. Sequeira, ScottMadden hasn't looked at any relationship between spending more money on a top-rated station and higher safety or reliability; right?

That is, you haven't tried to figure out whether you have to spend more in order to get more safety, or higher safety or higher reliability.  You haven't looked at that connection?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I personally haven't.  We did not do that as a service or a function for Ontario Power Generation.  I can't speak for all of ScottMadden.  It is quite possible we might have done a study along those lines for some particular company, but I am not aware of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no evidence in this proceeding --


MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, there's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- of a connection?  In fact, it is not actually true, is it, that the stations that have the highest costs are the most reliable or the safest?  There is not a correlation there that you know of; right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I am not aware of one, but I would hazard it might just be the opposite.  When a plant gets into trouble and capacity factors start to decline, generally there is an improvement program, which means higher costs in terms of trying to correct the situation.

So you might actually have poorer performing plants being the higher cost plants, but I don't have data to back that up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In the Darlington benchmarks, I want to focus on two of them.  If you could go back to -- where am I here?  If you can go to Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1, which is your report number 1, and I am looking at page 100 and 101 at the top.  At the top of the page, page 100 of 158 and page 101 of 158, do you have that?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Page 100 and 101?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is headed up "2 Year Unit Capability Factor".

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I see that the one on the left -- sorry, the one on page 100 is by station; right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Darlington isn't quite in the best quartile, but is getting there.  It is close?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Part of that is a CANDU advantage; right?  CANDU is more likely to have a high capability factor?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I am not sure that is a direct observation. There will be CANDUs in the low end of this scale, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I see them, but the reason I ask the question is because one of the advantages is online fuelling, which reduces your outages.  So you should have an advantage in capability factor; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  We do have the advantage of online fuelling.

Fuelling with natural uranium fuel requires the use and design of the reactor with pressure tubes and calandria tubes to hold the fuel.  This introduces an additional burden of inspection during planned outages.

So our critical path for an outage is often dominated by the reactor core and the required inspections to prove that the pressure tubes are, in fact, fit for duty.

So there isn't -- it is not a clear advantage.  What you can gain in online fuelling you can eat up in the outage time taken to complete these mandatory inspections.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I thought I heard Mr. Tremblay say just a few minutes ago that CANDU does well in capability factor.  Did I mishear that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  No.  We were talking about on-power fuelling and the advantages that occur from it.

Holistically, there are pluses and minuses.  There are many other factors involved here, you know, and I guess the point I would make here is that we would endeavour to improve everybody, and we think we can run the plants better and are endeavouring to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, let's go over to page 101.  101 shows that one of your Darlington units is absolutely the top -- this is by unit; right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of your Darlington units is the top of all of the units surveyed.  This is the best one, right, in terms of capability factor?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Even your other ones are sort of clustered around the median?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that there is no technical reason and there is no operational reason that you know of why, over time, you can't get the other three Darlington units right up to the top, is there?  In fact, you are trying to do that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, that is the objective, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And as far as you know, that is an achievable objective?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We endeavour to achieve top quartile performance out of Darlington, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if you go over to pages 103 and 104, this has an explanation of the factors that explain why Darlington has such a good capability record.  It does have a very good capability record, right, and a very good forced-loss record, too; isn't that true?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it explains that one of the problems appears to have been, in this particular period, that you had nine planned outages.  This is in a two-year period; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I'm sorry, we are still at one-oh --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I am at page 103.

MR. TREMBLAY:  103, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  103 of 158.  And you had nine planned outages; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Could you just --


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  You are at the bottom of the page now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that period this is a two-year rolling average, right, so presumably that is a two-year number?  Nine is over two years, or is that a one-year number?  This is 2008 we're looking at.

MR. TREMBLAY:  There would be typically one planned outage a year, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, go back to pages 100 and 101, because those pages say "2 Year Unit Capability Factor".

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  That is how the measure is tracked; that's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the review period they're referring to, you had nine planned outages in two years; right?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.  I don't think that is the correct interpretation.

The charts on the opposite page, page 102, indicate data back to 2003 through to 2008.  So there is a number of years included in the analysis.  The average, when taken, is a two-year rolling average, and this is to get around the fact that, for example, at Darlington it is a non-uniform outage distribution of most years having one outage and some years having two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was this number of outages larger than normal?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, again, it's probably best for the operations panel to deal with, but I know there was a time when Darlington went to the three-year outage period.  Prior to that, they were on a two-year frequency.  So there would have been more.

So as planned outages, there would have been two per year, you know, until recently, and then the outages sequentially went to a three-year frequency, and of course in 2010 there were two.

So I think we could certainly reconcile that, but if they were planned outages, they would have been annual maintenance outages for Darlington.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here is why I am asking about this, because --


MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if the study period that ScottMadden used, that is the basis for the benchmarking exercise, had more than normal planned outages, you would agree, wouldn't you, Mr. Sequeira, that we should adjust for that to set targets going forward?

If there is something unusual about the study years, study period, you have to fix it, right?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  The benchmarks are set to reflect what the industry is doing.  So there is a broad group.

OPG, if it experienced an unusual number of outages, which I don't think this is, would be blended in with --especially at the unit level -- with hundreds of other units.  I am not sure it would make a difference.

The review period in question here is the entire trend period, not just the last two years.

So the nine planned outages over seven years is not unusual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is seven years, it is?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, the first year, 2003, is a rolling two-year average.

That number reflects prior time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So let's cut this short.  Can you undertake to advise us whether the number of and the length of planned outages in this study period was greater or less than normal?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Than?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Than your normal, expected planned outages.

MR. TREMBLAY:  So I understand you would like a...

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I'm sorry.  Seven years would be normal.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yeah.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I mean, how long a period is normal, if the last seven years we're comparing to...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  You have said that your cycle for planned outages is every three years, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  How about I confirm -- maybe that is the way to do this, is if I could confirm that those nine outages are, in fact, routine and from is nothing unusual about this part of the normal cycle --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'd like to know is whether they're consistent with your current expected planned outages cycle.  Or whether they are greater or less.

MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.  I think we can undertake to confirm that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  to CONFIRM WHETHER THE NINE OUTAGES ARE ROUTINE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you could go back to the Darlington -- where is it –- Value for Money objectives in tab 4.  Tab 4.  Could you go back there, please?  On capability factor.  Do you have that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are expecting a significant improvement in capability factor for 2011 and 2012, and then a big drop in 2013, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  I believe that is related to specific outages, but again, I think the operations panel are briefed to deal with that issue, so they can explain that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  All I am trying to get at is that you set this target with the knowledge that you have -- have specific planned outages in 2013.

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is no point in having a 94 percent target if there is no possible way you can achieve it because of the planned outages?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, we set -- constrained the outages based on improvements that are being made and to maximize the output of the plant.

The 88.7 is a reflection of that challenge and what we believe we can achieve.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

Now, if you go back down to the Value for Money benchmarks, one of the problems -- we talked about the CANDU differences.  I won't go into that again.  But one of the differences is that your capitalization policies are different from everybody else's, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  There appear to be some differences.  I can't comment on everyone else's.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talked about that in your discussion with Mr. Millar this morning.

As he was asking the questions, I kept saying:  Ask for the undertaking, ask for the undertaking.

So I am going to ask for the undertaking.

Can you undertake to calculate or to provide an estimate of the impact on your capital and operating costs for nuclear, of the very high capitalization threshold that you are using?

It is just a switch from one to the other, right?  It increases your capital costs and –- sorry, it decreases your capital costs but it increases your OM&A, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you could give an estimate of how much -- how many dollars that is in the test period relative to the comparators, that would be useful.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess a couple of questions.

One is I think the witness had indicated that he wasn't aware of what the other capitalization regimes would be, so I am not sure what comparators you're talking about with respect to –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we have a small sample from Mr. Sequeira, number one.  And number two, you are aware generally of what the thresholds are around the industry, right?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that they said this morning that they had called around to various people that Mr. Sequeira was aware of and made some enquiries.  And I think the conclusion that was drawn was that there was a difference, but I don't think that there was actually any kind of firm determination as to what the numbers were on capitalization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  That is what I am asking them to find out.  This could be a big number, right?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess I am struggling understanding what it is relative to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if the standard in the industry is to capitalize $10,000 and you are capitalizing at a $200,000 threshold, and that difference is $30 million a year, that is extra money that the ratepayers are paying this year, and we believe the Board should know that.

The Board may say:  You know, at this time, we don't think that is a good idea.

MR. KEIZER:  But I don't know if it's been established what the standardized level is within the industry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am asking for --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But Mr. Sequeira did testify that he had phoned around.  So he didn't recall the precise average, but he did recall that they were significantly less than the 200,000.

I think the question is can he provide that number to OPG to derive the resulting impact.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  My impression at the time was there wasn't a, quote, "industry standard" or the answers were surprisingly diverse.

Hopefully, we documented the answers and I can recover those, but I am glad to try.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Best efforts is fine, Madam Chair.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whatever we can get.

MR. KEIZER:  So can I just sort of -- back to the beginning, when we had our discussion about what the undertaking is.

So the undertaking is to take the number that Mr. Sequeira had developed through this telephone survey, and use that as a comparator for the capitalization difference between what those other utilities may be, and what OPG does?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  No.  I think what I am asking the OPG members of the panel and Mr. Sequeira to provide is, based on whatever evidence they have, whatever information they have available to them -- which could include Mr. Sequeira's, or there could be other information internally at OPG -- to estimate how much higher that threshold is, the $200,000 threshold is, than what is common in the industry, to the best of your ability, and calculate the impact on revenue requirement.

And if it is only an estimate and if it is best-efforts, that's fine.  It is still better than what we have today.

MR. KEIZER:  So the calculation of the estimate of revenue requirement is, let's say, for example -- I don't know what the number is, but let's say it is 100,000, not 200,000.  So then we would be making a blanket assumption that assuming that everything that was at $100,000 was capitalized, that would be the impact on revenue requirement.  Is that -- the difference is the two?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I think I am asking the witnesses to use their expertise to give us the best estimate they can give us of the impact.  I'm not predetermining --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, maybe the undertaking means that we could look to see if we can do it, if it is possible to do.  And then if -- because I am not sure what the work would be involved to be able to actually do it.

I am not quite sure what the value is, because what --those actual things would be capitalized, I'm not sure.

MS. CHAPLIN:  My understanding of what is being requested is the revenue requirement impact of the difference between the $200,000 capitalization policy and some other number.

What that other number is, I think Schools is asking to use -- OPG to use its best judgment as to what an industry standard should be.

Mr. Sequeira has said, based on his telephone survey, there may not be an industry standard, but the spectrum of values he saw were all substantially less than 200,000.

So I think you are being invited to choose whatever number you want which is less than 200,000, with some sort of explanation for it.

Is that...

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be great.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand the aspect –- sorry, I don't mean to be difficult or thick, but I understand the aspect of picking the number.

What I don't understand is the difference in revenue requirement.  I am not quite sure I understand.   So what we are saying, then, is that we then make an assumption that any capital additions that are being made at that new number, whatever that number is, we would then say, Okay, that all goes into rate base and that gives us a different revenue requirement.  Is that the way it works?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, not that I am giving testimony, but...

[Laughter]

MR. KEIZER:  No, I understand, and I guess we make whatever comments we would as to the validity or usefulness of that number at the time.

MR. MILLAR:  That is undertaking J3.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.9:  to DETERMINE THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT OF LOWER "INDUSTRIAL STANDARD" CAPITALIZATION THRESHOLD

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just before we leave this specific area, I want to ask you to turn up my friend Mr. Millar's materials from this morning, K3.1, and look at page 31.

Do you have that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The point of this discussion about Darlington was really to emphasize that Darlington isn't like Pickering, is it?  Darlington is a much better station than Pickering?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Darlington's performance is very much better than Pickering, yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I am looking at these measures of WANO NPI, and UCF and TGC for all of your stations.  And I will put to you that they're actually misleading, because the right way to compare is on a station-by-station basis, not on an overall basis; isn't that true?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Both comparisons were presented in the report.  This is an operator level comparison.  Equally, plant level comparisons and unit level comparisons were also provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But from the point of view of looking at what you should be doing, how you should be using benchmarking, isn't it correct that you should treat Darlington differently from Pickering, because what you can do in Pickering and what you can do in Darlington are quite different?

MR. LEAVITT:  Sometimes they are.  But I will remind you that a number of the initiatives that were developed to close the gaps to top quartile are, in fact, fleet initiatives and applicable across the nuclear fleet, independent of whether it is Pickering A, Pickering B or Darlington.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually -- I take your point, sir, but I guess I was actually sort of -- I am on your side on this.

I think these statements here that you are the worst performing operator in the world or in North America are misleading, because, in fact, in Darlington you are much better than this; right?  It is only Pickering that drags you down; true?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  The picture would be different if it was just Darlington, yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And from the point of view of your management and your approach to solving the problems, even though you have fleet-wide initiatives - I understand that - it is also true, isn't it, that your focus should be on improving the Darlington performance, because that is where you can really deliver; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, as I mentioned earlier, when you are looking at the forced-loss rates of Pickering A, that is really a key component in getting our costs under control and improved performance.  So there is attention being put there.

I would say we are not -- we recognize that everybody can improve, including Darlington.  There is a lot of focus everywhere at getting performance improved, and we think by moving the entire fleet forward, we are doing the best thing that can be done here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go back to page 100 and 101 of the first benchmarking report, the first ScottMadden report, the pages you had out a minute ago.  Do you still have them out, F5-1-1, pages 100 of 158, and 101?  I should have told you not to close it before.

MR. LEAVITT:  Can I just check the reference?  It is F5-1-1, pages 100 and 101?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes, we are there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks like you have -- and this is probably for you, Mr. Sequeira.  You have a number of facilities that are roughly competitive to each other.  There is a range, but they're roughly competitive.

Then you have a few at the bottom that look like they're sort of outliers, including Pickering?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you go to units, it is even worse.  It looks like you've got some terrible, terrible performers at the bottom, but then you sort of have a bunch that are competitive to each other?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If we would go to costs, we will see the same thing, right, if I can find it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think the other point I would make there is the 2009 picture for Pickering B was a better one with unit 7, for example, performing very well against other CANDUs in other plants.  So it is moving forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go to page 129 of that same report; 129 of 158.  Do you have that?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is non-fuel operating costs, right --


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- by station?

And I take it you would agree that you have five at the bottom, of which two of them are Pickering A and B, that are the dogs.  They're all over $40, and then you have everybody else that are sort of competing with each other; is that fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So one of the things that you do sometimes in benchmarking is you exclude outliers; right?  That is one of the things that is sometimes used as a way of getting to your correct target comparators?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you consider excluding the outliers in these measures?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, because in this case there is more value in understanding the outliers and who they are, which is difficult in the redacted version, because typically there is a story behind each one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would agree, wouldn't you, that there is not much useful to be gained by comparing Darlington to Pickering?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Probably the opposite.  I think we encourage most companies to always look internally to their best performer and do internal benchmarking, as well as external benchmarking.

It also, if I can go to the question as to -- or the implication or conclusion that Darlington would be where you should put your focus, in terms of impact, financially and operationally, a greater impact can be had by focussing on the plants that are struggling the most, because the opportunity for gain there is considerable.

And that impact will flow to the financial picture often faster, because the size of the change is different than trying to, for example, push Darlington the next part of what they're capable of doing, because they are an excellent performing plant and are coming close in many measures, if not several, to what is theoretically possible.

There is often more to be gained by pulling the laggards up to a middle level than pushing the superb plants up another percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would agree, wouldn't you, that comparing Pickering to the comparators is not particularly useful, because it is never going to get to good performance relative to the comparators?  Better to compare it to its previous performance and just make it better?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, that is not the position we have taken.  We have these industry benchmarks.  We know there are significant gaps and we are working to close those gaps, understanding that by closing those gaps we can significantly impact on performance.

And, furthermore, we are seeing the evidence of that.  So we are encouraged to keep going.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have agreed that with respect to Pickering, you can't close the gaps, in fact?

MR. TREMBLAY:  What I have said is it is unlikely the plant will reach top quartile performance.

Having said that, it can improve significantly and we are doing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Darlington can't?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Darlington in many respects is there already.  They need to maintain and continue to improve.

And, you know, furthermore, Darlington is not the best in the three-year non-fuel operating cost per megawatt-hour, and that means we've got room to improve and that's, in part, why we are carrying out these fleet initiatives and driving the organization to improved performance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and I guess that is why I am pursuing this, is because you sound reasonably happy with how things are going at Darlington.  Indeed, there are some good things about Darlington's performance, but if you take out the outliers, I put it to you that Darlington's actually almost bottom quartile, isn't it?  In terms of non-fuel operating costs, clearly?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, what I would agree is that there is significant room to improve.  And I think this benchmarking work highlighted that for us.  And I think we are trying to leverage the advantages.  The three-year operating cycle is a good example of that.

But we acknowledge we've got room to improve, and I think this business plan demonstrates that.  We are not leaving anybody behind, and we are not satisfied with Pickering or Darlington, to be honest with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said this morning that Darlington, on Value for Money, Darlington was top quartile.  That was in error?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, Darlington has some room to improve.  It is not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not even median, is it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It has room to improve.  I think there is evidence to suggest exactly where it is, but it certainly can get better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn to our tab -- to tab 8 of our materials, which is near the end.

This was referred to, I think, this morning, and this is SEC Interrogatory No. 26, which is L-12-26, under Issue 6.4.

Do you have that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your targets for Darlington include increases, which you talked about with Mr. Millar this morning, four percent per year, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that if you were able to meet the existing average, the $25.10 average that you had up to 2008, if you were able to maintain that, you would save $95 million over the test period.  Is that what this says?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. LEAVITT:  Can you show us where you got $95 million?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The test period is 2011, 2012.  40.89 plus 54.62 is 95.51, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  That is confirmed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you did that, you would still have an increase in your budget, right?  Because your higher capability factor means that you would have more -- more overall budget, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  We've talked before about how the total generating cost or -- and the non-fuel operating cost, depends not only on the costs, but the amount of electricity generated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So if you go from 27.74 terawatt-hours to 29 terawatt-hours, that is an increase in your budget, right?

Even if your unit costs remains the same, you have more money to spend?

MR. LEAVITT:  It is an increase in the electrical generation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if your unit costs remains the same, you have more money to spend, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  It would allow greater dollars per megawatt-hour to maintain a –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not --


MR. LEAVITT:  Sorry, greater budget to maintain a constant dollars per megawatt-hour.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If your non-fuel operating costs are $25.10 in 2010, and your production is 27.74 terawatt-hours, and your non-fuel operating costs remain the same, but your production target goes up to 29 terawatt-hours, can you confirm that that means your budget increases by roughly $35 million?

You can undertake, if you want.

MR. KEIZER:  When you say "budget" are you referencing a budget for costs or budget for revenue?

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much you have to spend on operations.  These are non-fuel operating costs.  The total non-fuel operating costs would be higher if you have the same unit cost and higher units, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And can you confirm that that is about $35 million?

MR. KEIZER:  We can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or undertake to do the calculation?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  We can undertake to do the calculation.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.10:  to CONFIRM BUDGET INCREASE OF APPROXIMATELY $35 MILLION IF PRODUCTION TARGET IS INCREASED TO 29 TERAWATT-HOURS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, can you go to the next tab, which is tab 9, which is updated SEC Interrogatory No. 29.  This was updated last week, right?  Or no, the week before last?

It is L-12-29, under Issue 6.5.  Do you have that?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these numbers originally, in the original version, the numbers here for non-fuel operating costs were the same as your targets, right?

So for example, that number on the second page under 2012, that number which is now 25.43, was actually 26.98, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  I can't remember the previous version, but I believe that was part of the reason for the correction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the problem is that you had other post-employment benefits in your targets, and that was skewing your numbers, right?  Isn't that what this says?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think the original number of 31.56 excluded other post-employment benefit costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you adjusted it to add those in, right?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  They were added in for 35.70 and 36.69 in 2011 and 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that is TGC, and that is all -- that all goes into the total non-fuel operating costs, as well, right?  So that would also be adjusted by the same amount?  OPEB is in that line?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  Sorry, what line are you on now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the line I am looking at right now is non-fuel operating costs per net megawatt-hour, on page 2, which for 2012 is 25.43.

But your target is 26.98, a $1.55 difference.  And my understanding of your explanation is that you had to adjust for the fact that the 26.98 includes OPEB, and to fairly compare with your comparators, you need to use a number that doesn't include OPEB, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so am I right in understanding that the difference, that $1.55, if I just multiply by the production number I will get the total OPEB, about $45 million?

MR. LEAVITT:  I am not sure if it is that simple.  I can't confirm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You will agree that OPEB has gone up a lot more than anything else?

You had –- 25.10 becomes 24.88, and 26.98 becomes 25.43, so there is a big -- if that is all OPEB then there is a big increase in OP, right?

MR. LEAVITT:  There was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry to interrupt, but would the OPEB value be the difference in between the original version and the corrected version in the top line, the total non-fuel operating costs, because they're the same figures for 2008, but then different figures for 2011 and 2012?  So the fact they have been changed was just to remove those; do I understand that correctly?

MR. LEAVITT:  That is my understanding, that the first line, total non-fuel operating costs, has been corrected to exclude OPEB costs for comparison.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my last area -- and, Madam Chair, my last area will take about seven or eight minutes.  Do you want me to finish, and then break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My last area is the impact of your benchmarks in practice, the targets in practice.

And two of you are senior executives at OPG Nuclear; right?  Each of the senior executives has incentive compensation as part of their remuneration package?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you each, individually, know the metrics that drive your incentive compensation?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me deal with each of you in turn.  Mr. Leavitt, you're vice president of nuclear finance?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you take a look at -- if you go back to F2-1-1, which is our tab 4, I think, and look at the targets there?  Do you have them?

MR. LEAVITT:  Sorry, what is the reference number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is our tab 4.  It is F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 8.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Attachment?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Eight.  It is our tab 4.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Eight.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's easier.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you just tell us which of those targets directly influences your incentive compensation?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes, I can.

Starting from the top, all injury rate influence it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  We are influenced -- we are all influenced by total OM&A expenditure, total capital expenditure and total provision expenditure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wait a second.  I don't see those on here.

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, those are the constituent parts of the TGC metric, total dollars per megawatt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So indirectly the TGC affects your compensation?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes, it does, both in the dollar factor and also in the megawatt-hours that are generated, because total nuclear generation is another factor in all nuclear management AIPs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So UCF is not part of your compensation, but total generation is?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  But given that total generation is dependent on unplanned capability, they're tied.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Anything else?

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.  All nuclear management is influenced by the completion of business planning initiatives to close the gaps to top quartile.  So seven initiatives, in particular, have been placed on the management annual incentive plans to incent their successful completion.

In addition, collective radiation exposure is reflected in all nuclear management annual incentive plans, and then there are several project initiatives which, although not directly on the benchmarking list, do influence the total generating costs per megawatt-hour, and these are items like successful completion of the Pickering vacuum building outage, both from a schedule and a cost point of view, and successful layup or transition to safe storage for Pickering units 2 and 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But none of those things are on here, right, directly?

MR. LEAVITT:  They're not specifically on here, but if you complete a vacuum building outage on time and on budget, then you are helping the total generating cost metric, because electricity production will return upon completion of the outage and your outage costs are minimized by shortening the duration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Mr. Tremblay, are you in the same boat?  The same ones affect you?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I am.  The only exception would be that the corporate lead for the nuclear improvement initiatives, the dedicated focus areas is a senior leader who works for me.  So I have that added aspect to my pay for --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, which one is that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It's the -- Mr. Leavitt talked about the business plan initiatives that are part of the corporate picture.  I have the added aspect of direct supervision of those resources.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and do I assume correctly that the people who then report to you have sort of parts of these goals as their targets --


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to beat?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas you might have the all injury rate as one of your incentive components, you have somebody who works for you who has some component of that process?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I didn't hear you say that - maybe I misunderstood you - that you get any incentives directly related to achieving any of these particular targets.

For example, total generating costs, if you make 46.86, is there an incentive you get for that or not?

MR. LEAVITT:  Not directly.  To achieve 46.86, you would have to achieve both the cost target, which is reflected, and the electrical generation target, which is reflected.  So we've essentially broken one measure into its constituent parts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my last question.  Mr. Sequeira, in terms of implementing benchmarking targets, would it be better or is there some value in considering tying executive compensation directly to the targets that have been set out?

Does that -- is that something that should be considered?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Tying the implementation to the executive incentive plan, indeed, should be covered.  I am not sure in the case of total generating costs.  Because it is expressed as a ratio per megawatt-hour, dividing it into two pieces, the megawatts and the costs, in making those two metrics, the executive is, I think, perfectly acceptable.

It is easier for everybody to relate to those two sub-components than it is the ratio, and it can be calculated easy enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will take our afternoon break now and resume in 20 minutes.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:07 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:36 p.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Okay.  I think next is Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


I have two very specific IRs of VECC's that I would like to follow up on, so I am only going to be maybe five minutes, five, 10 minutes.

I am going to start with VECC IR No. L-14-13, which is under issue 6.5.  So that is L-14-13.

MR. LEAVITT:  We have that turned up.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Great.  The question, it was a general question about the recommendations provided by ScottMadden, and there was a question asking you to list the recommendations in OPG's responses to each one.

I am interested, in particular, to the responses as they relate to the GOSP framework.  My understanding is the GOSP framework refers to a type of governance framework which -- the GOSP stands for:  Govern, oversee, support and perform; is that correct?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at the table that was provided as part of the response, GOSP is first referred to in the first box of recommendations under the second bullet, and the recommendation was:

"Accountability for certain nuclear oversight functions should be clarified and documented using the GOSP framework."

And the answer from OPG was:

"OPG adopts the second recommendation.  OPG is reviewing the GOSP framework for the reasons set out below under:  'Adoption of the GOSP model.'"

And then over the page, the GOSP framework is referred to again, under the first full box under the first bullet, where it says:

"Adoption of the GOSP model.  Adopt the GOSP model and clearly identify all plant functions and their appropriate designation, govern, oversee, support, perform."

And then:

"Ensure that managers, supervisors and employees are training in the GOSP concept and appreciate the respective roles and responsibilities."

Now, before I get to OPG's response on that, presumably there is a difference between the governance framework that OPG is operating under, and what is, strictly speaking, the GOSP framework that ScottMadden is recommending.

Am I correct in that assumption?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  Certainly, what I would say is that, certainly consistent in the same time frame that ScottMadden was assisting us with the top-down management process, there were other inputs to OPG with regards to the effectiveness of the peer team, the fleet view approach that we use.

So, you know, on the strength of that and discussions we have had with John and his people, we've essentially retooled the -- our approach to fleet teams and peer teams.

So we have made a number of changes consistent with the general philosophy here, and, you know, very much have moved to strengthen the oversight of specific functions.

Obviously, I will let ScottMadden talk about this on their own, but the objective of this, you know, the way I interpret it and we interpreted this, was that we weren't holding the peer teams as accountable as we should have, in a number of areas.  You know, performance was -- was, if you will, stable and non-improving.

So we agreed with that, felt we needed to accelerate things, and aside from the initiatives themselves -- which are being directly managed -- have made a substantial change to the governance and to the -- our approach with regards to the fleet approach.

So I can talk more about that, but that was essentially driven by this exercise, and by additional feedback we got from groups like WANO.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it sounds like, one, you accepted the recommendation, in terms of implementing GOSP framework, but reading -- and it sounds from what you just told me that there are a number of areas where this recommendation has influenced what you are doing or proposing to do -- but just reading the response at that second -- or that first full box, it says:  "OPG intends..."  This is the second sentence of the longer response:

"OPG intends to continuously improve its governance framework, e.g. by improving accountability for nuclear oversight, and it will consider the GOSP model in that context."

Which, in reading that, it suggests to me that there is still a gap, which I guess is part of the terminology here.  There is a gap between what ScottMadden would call the GOSP framework and what you are doing, and that you intend to look at what you are doing and moving forwards GOSP, but I am still missing what is it that - what needs to be done in order to -- I am not sure this is the right way to describe it, but to fully comply with the recommendation that you move to a GOSP --


MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.  Good observation.  I guess what I would say is, you know, socks before shoes.

Our framework has had a significant upgrade, in terms of focussing on results and program management.  We have had discussions around the right people in oversight roles for peer teams.  We have accelerated their appearance before the executive committee.  We have done a lot of work consistent with this.


Is it, per se, pure GOSP, as others perhaps have implemented?  We have kind of -- we are heading sort of in our own direction, if you will, but very consistent with the principles.

We have talked about our program owners and making sure that, you know, they understand their accountabilities.  We have made revisions to those.  We hold workshops for our program owners, and we have really, if you will, accelerated the oversight of our fleet teams.

Many of these initiatives are with the peer teams for improvement, and again, I won't speak for ScottMadden.  We have had discussions and are planning more work in this area, but it is very consistent with, if you will, a top-down approach and holding people accountable for improving the business, in all facets of our cornerstones.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there a time point in the future where you anticipate being able to say -- and maybe ScottMadden could comment on this -- where having looked at what OPG is doing, where you will be able to say:  Well, we have completely or we will almost completely have complied with that recommendation?

Because it sounds like you are in a transitionary period.  You are working in almost baby steps towards getting towards compliance with that particular recommendation.

I am wondering if ScottMadden agrees with that in terms of the plan it has seen that OPG has implemented.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Let me answer the question and then perhaps...

What I would say is that we do assess the approach.  We are, in fact, just concluding a self-assessment that we have carried out into this process, to see what else we need to do, what adjustments we need to make.

And it is really a work-in-progress.  It is going to evolve with time.  I think our focus has been getting the right people on the -- in the leads for these programs, for example, maintenance lead or outage lead, and essentially driving for results.

If I could use, perhaps, the seven focussed initiatives that were part of the submission, those appear before the executive committee on a monthly basis.  We track the milestones.  In fact, the milestones themselves are part of the annual incentive plan, which was referred to a while back.

So there is a lot of additional focus in this area.  We have established templates of performance reporting, looking at all aspects of the functions.

So certainly we get lots of feedback in terms of how we're doing.  We are evaluated on an ongoing basis, and it will evolve.  Would I say that we're there?  No, but we have taken some significant steps forward, and, you know, maybe with that, I will stop and you can get some comments from John.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We are all looking at Mr. Sequeira.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes, pardon me.  We made the recommendation based on the status of our observations, and they were primarily observations around the fleet-focussed functional peer teams.

Remember that this was back in -- while doing the phase 2 report, so there have actually been some changes to those functional teams since then.

Within the area of the functional teams, I think OPG has made a number of changes to come into alignment with standard or leading practice.  I say "leading practice" in the industry relative to functional peer teams in their management.

The overall GOSP concept is actually pretty simple.  It is just a matter of these are different functions.  There is a governance function.  There is an oversight and support and perform.

The recommendation is that everybody, relative to their personal job and the components of their job, understands which parts of those are those of GOS&P, so I understand my responsibility.  Do I perform this responsibility for this function, or am I a support function relative to this, or am I governance and oversight?

I would say the area of most weakness during the observation period had to do with the functional peer teams, and a lot of emphasis is put on that.

I don't know whether or not -- because mostly it was about adopting a series of definitions and making sure everybody was communicated to those.

I don't know, and just because we are not -- I am not involved in it and we weren't involved in it subsequently -- whether or not that broad communication of these definitions so that everybody can say, Sam, you have "G" responsibility on this, which facilitates understanding - that is really all this is about - has taken place or not.

Certainly around the functional peer teams there has been tremendous improvement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you for that.  Actually, the second part of my question actually refers to peer teams.  I am looking, in particular, at VECC IR No. L-14-16, so three IRs beyond the one we were just looking at.

And at the beginning of the response, the answer from OPG is this:
"OPG has adopted the three fleet-wide improvement initiatives 'Related Recommendations' found on Ex F5-T1-S2, page 34, except for the expansion of the number of peer teams.  OPG does not believe more peer teams will improve performance until changes are made in the way existing teams are managed."


I just want to follow up with that particular part of the answer.  You did mention peer teams and I think improvements that are made in terms of the way peer teams are run.

Am I correct in understanding that you are taking it as a sort of a step approach, improve how you manage existing peer teams, and then expand the number of peer teams, or am I overstating it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  That would be a fair characterization.  We have the core teams, the maintenance, the work control, the outage and engineering teams.  They in fact embody most of the things we are trying to do.

We are doing some work at linking them together so they're not siloed in the way they approach their improvements.  They recognize they impact on each other.

We want to do an exceptional job in the core areas before we branch out.  It doesn't mean to say that community of practice groups don't get together.  They do.

But in terms of focussing on the business, we felt it more important to get the right people, get them properly focussed and hold them to account for results.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

I have Energy Probe next on my list.  Mr. Rubin, you're the one asking the questions, I believe?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  That is correct, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I want to start with a couple of current small questions that are related to safety, and I am wondering if they are related to your safety benchmarking.

And, specifically, I am wondering if any of the panel is familiar with recent discoveries about a computer virus called the Stuxnet worm, which may be a threat to nuclear safety, and has it affected budgeting or targeting or any of your jobs?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I am not.

MR. RUBIN:  Haven't heard of it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.

MR. RUBIN:  And --


MR. LEAVITT:  I am not familiar.

MR. RUBIN:  Zero for three?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I have heard of it and am aware of it primarily with relation to Iran, where I think it was targeted.  I have no indication of whether or not it is an issue at OPG.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, I will move on. How about the recent discovery of inadvertent contamination of workers at Bruce with alpha radiation, alpha sources, and has that changed your jobs any?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, that in fact was alluded to by myself this morning in the testimony with regards to the RP function.

Certainly we are aware of it, have been working with Bruce Power, had in fact been enhancing our alpha monitoring program, so very much is in the core of our business and the changes that we're making.

MR. RUBIN:  And so this was in the context of the plan to eliminate full-time equivalents and to save money in that field?

MR. TREMBLAY:  What it was, the challenge in the current business plan is that there are some additional instruments that were required, instruments surveys, characterization of plant, and so on, to enhance the existing program that was there.

And that work is being absorbed within the confines of the existing resources as opposed to increasing staff numbers

So we are seeing some -- and we are leveraging those efficiencies.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  Before I leave the safety cornerstone, when I think of nuclear reactor safety, and I think when most normal people think of nuclear reactor safety, I don't think any of us think primarily of the things that are on your list of benchmarks or targets.

We think -- and even when nuclear safety regulators turn their mind to the questions of nuclear reactor safety, a lot of it is focussed on avoiding large releases, large accidents.

And you can focus on small things, but they should be small things that seem to be precursors or somehow related to avoiding catastrophic accidents.

I don't see that on your list.  You are avoiding spinal injuries to people who lift heavy things, and you're -- I mean, the majority of this list of your list of benchmarks, for example, and targets within nuclear safety doesn't seem to have much to do with that.

Did I miss it, or are you more interested in keeping your staff out of the chiropractor's office?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, just from the point of view of the benchmarks, I mean, there are nine benchmarks in safety.  I think your observation is a fair one with respect to the all injury rate and the two-year industrial safety accident rate.  Those are basically employee-focussed safety issues.

Beyond that, most of these are what we would consider precursors or indicators of more fundamental problems, and if left unattended could result in the types of incidents that you are referring to that the industry is concerned about.

For example, the feedwater system being unavailable, not a good thing.  AC power not being available is not a good thing.

So I think if you get beyond the first two, where I think the observation is valid, I would say the others indeed are focussed on what the industry is focussed on relative to nuclear safety.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Certainly the other point I would make is that, you know, aspects of safety culture, safety analysis, licensing issues, the details of what we do, is certainly at a lower level than you would typically find business plan, certainly safety culture, safety culture assessment, our corrective action program which was the source of a number of the level 2 indicators that we talked about is all about us as an organization understanding our problems and issues, calling them out.  Analyzing them and solving that.

And it is really being in the nuclear business is the learning business and, you know, that is the way I would suggest to you that perhaps at the very high level indicators there is not as much visibility.  Certainly at the lower levels and in the oversight, in terms of our attention and effort, it is very much at the front of our thought and work.

MR. RUBIN:  You mentioned, Mr. Tremblay, that -- I think it was the collective radiation exposure is something that you are, I believe, personally incented on.  Is that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, let's take that as an example, because it seems to me if I were focussing primarily on avoiding the big one, I might find myself in a trade-off between having to send human beings into the reactor, which is known to be radioactive, and increasing their radiation dose in order to fix something or replace or upgrade something that might help prevent a serious accident, if only we had a better one in there.


And I guess my question to you in general is, let's say -- God forbid – we have an international nuclear event scale accident of some big number -- I think the scale runs from 1 to 7 -- is there any incentive, you know, are you penalized in any way if OPG has an INES scale 5 event next year?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I mean, our fundamental jobs here is the safe, reliable operation of the facility.  So a lot of time and effort is focussed on that.

The INES scale that you referred to is an international scale.  Our intent and our managed practices are to avoid that.  Clearly, a significant event would require, likely, the shutdown of reactors, and a whole lot of our business would be set aside in dealing with a significant issue, and that would very much impact all of us, including, likely, the livelihood of some of our employees.

So being vigilant to safety, highlighting issues, looking after the small stuff so we don't have to worry about the big stuff is what we're all about.

You know, on the radiological front, in terms of internal and external exposure, we care about every single rem of exposure.  And you will find initiatives in this package that relate to trying to reduce exposure, to facilitate the various reactor face inspections that we do, and we compare ourselves to others.

The tritium makes it more difficult, if you will, because we have to protect ourselves from that.  And that is a factor in terms of the overall radiological exposure of our staff.

But I would say that there is a lot of sweating that goes on about every rem of exposure, and our work and our preplanning is around avoiding it altogether.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, let me just put a proposition to you, because I would certainly concede that the last three events, the last three categories in safety are just the kind of thing I am looking for, because they have to do with the unavailability of POI systems that are there to keep accidents from becoming more serious.

So I would certainly grant you those.

The one above, the reactor trip rate, one could argue either way.  I see it as kind of neutral.  The others I frankly all see as routine, and some of them as being inimical to investing in safety.

And let me just add another consideration for your comment, and that is that the pressures which are increasingly being brought to you personally as incentives, as well as to the corporation through this benchmarking and targeting and gap filling, those pressures, many of them are financial.  And they reward you for cutting effort.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I would say that, you know, that the watchword of our business is -- is around safety and recognizing the unique aspects of nuclear power.

In fact, on, I think -- I believe it was last week, we spoke about -- I think it was customer impacts, and there was some discussion and a challenge to me around:  Are you suitably sensitive to impact and why aren't you moving faster?

And my response was to focus on the fundamental aspects of a balance report card that requires us to not only improve in areas of reliability and value for money, but also to enhance or maintain our safety record.

Nothing will derail our program faster than a significant event.

And so quite the contrary, we recognize the responsibilities we have to maintain these plants safely, and so you will see that we are not proposing outrageous levels of performance.  We are realistically assessing the performance of the Pickering plants, the older reactors, and are suggesting that while we can make improvements, those improvements have to be made in the context of the size, the technology and what we need to maintain to promote safety at the plant.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I have a couple of quotes.  I hope I don't have to turn you to them.  They're quotes from Mr. Sequeira.  Is that how you say your name, sir?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I have learned over the years to respond to most anything that starts with S-E-Q.

[Laughter.]

MR. RUBIN:  What is your favourite way to say it?  Please say it for me.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  My favourite way is Sequeira.

MR. RUBIN:  Sequeira.  I will try that.  Sequeira.

All right.  In your cover letter to your phase 2 report, you mentioned that OPG management hasn't yet made the required changes.  Here's the part I am quoting literally:

"Changes in the company's governance, performance tracking and accountability practices."

And that I think in context, that was just clearly a question of timing.  You were expecting it to be done, but you couldn't verify that it had been done.

And similarly -- again, I hope you don't have to turn to this -- in your phase 2 report on page 38 of 66 you say:

"Due to time limitations, ScottMadden was unable to perform an analysis as to whether OPG has the structure, process and methodologies in place to manage transformational change initiatives of the scope envisioned."

I guess I just have an open-ended question.  First of all, are you aware of reasons for those of us in this room to be confident that those things have been done or underway?  And, if not you, then your colleagues on the panel?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, I will take the first step in that.

The comments in the covering letter go to a number of areas.  One, governance, which I think we touched upon with GOSP; performance tracking, which I think was touched upon relative to what's in AIP; and accountability.

And those, we have not been directly involved in.  We have been retained to assist with establishing a management framework for implementing the fleet improvement initiatives, which goes to the second reference.

So I probably have a much clearer understanding of progress made in that area than in the rest of the company.

So, Pierre, I will let you take the second part or earlier part, but relative to the recommendations that were discussed on pages 38 and 39, I think OPG -- probably because they're good listeners -- have put into practice all of the recommendations of what we have seen works in nuclear fleets, in trying to implement improvements across the fleet.

They have established a nuclear fleet improvement program, staffed it with a director-level executive.

We assisted in designing the governance processes for managing those initiatives, coordinating them.  Many are cross-functional, so they step into each other's territory, so they need a coordinating mechanism.  That is in place.

And we have just recently finished documenting a manual for managing all of that, and OPG has hired a staff to work under the director, and they are at this point managing that portfolio of fleet initiatives.

MR. TREMBLAY:  So maybe just to carry on from that, I mean, we were very sensitive to the criticism of the company at the last rate hearing, around benchmarking and failure to leverage that.

And so, you know, in part in reaction to that, in part because it is the right thing to do, we retained a credible external source to help us, if you will, holistically look at our performance.

I don't think anyone looking at the phase 1 report could suggest that we were sugar coating the results.  They show some significant challenges.

Further to that, given the experience that this vendor had in this area, we leveraged that to essentially get us going around not only benchmarking, but business planning processes that we could utilize and control processes to make good traction.

If you will, there is a bit of a transition here from a joint piece of work, where we looked at ourselves critically, to owning the improvement plans and the commitment through the business planning process.

And I think the point that ScottMadden was making is that you can't make these changes business as usual.  You can't just go on and expect those to take fruit, and then move on, because there is resistance that will take place.

And so we put very capable people in charge of this, dedicated them to the integrated improvement initiatives, and then put an accountability framework in place.

And as John has indicated, that is what works, and we are seeing the fruits of that going forward.

MR. LEAVITT:  Nuclear finance has also revised the business planning governance for nuclear to reflect the top-down approach to business planning and the use of benchmarking.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  I want to take you to an exhibit that Mr. Shepherd took you to.  In fact, if it is easier for you, it is his tab 7, but it is also attachment 3 to, I think, the main evidence here, Exhibit F2-1-1.  It is attachment 3.  It is the "Key Drivers of Total Generating Costs".

And I don't know.  I hate to tip my hand.  I have been told I shouldn't, but this seems to me an excuse document.  We have already spoken about excuses earlier in the day.

Let me just start with one challenge to you.  There are -- I will just read the headings here, "Complexity", "Generation Technology", "Safety and Regulatory Training", "Material Standards" and "Work Environment".  And in each category, we are told that you have a harder job than the people you are being benchmarked against.

And my general question to you is:  Outside of complexity and generation technology - and I will get back to that one - for the other areas, safety and regulatory training, material standards and work environment, can you tell me which of those your nuclear peers don't also have to worry about in very parallel and similar ways to yours?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. TREMBLAY:  I think the document really, you know, specifies the drivers, things that could explain, you know, differences in terms of general cost and approach.

I think the approach we took in terms of looking at this -- and it is important to understand the differences, but the approach we took really was to say, yes, granted there are clearly some differences in technologies, but, at the end of the day, there are controllable costs.  There are things that we can do better.  So rather than focussing entirely on that, let's recognize and acknowledge there is a gap in performance that needs to be closed.

So, in other words, get the excuses out of the way, if you will, to use your parlance, and let's focus on improving performance.

Clearly there are some significant differences, and, in the end, whether you are running a 540 megawatt plant or 934 megawatt plant, it is going to make a difference to how much power you generate, because, by and large, you have the same processes, the same systems that you need to operate in, and so you are going to be more efficient.  There is no way of getting around that.

Having said that, can you get better?  Are there some controllable costs?  Of course there are.  So let's focus on those and let's see what we can do about it.

MR. RUBIN:  I appreciate that this is kind of a negative exhibit and you would like to be positive.  And I apologize for that.

On the other hand, can you tell me anything about safety and regulatory, or training, or material standards or work environment that isn't common to the nuclear industry?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I can tell you that everyone needs to focus on it.  I can tell you that the regulatory environment in this country is different than others.

MR. RUBIN:  Do you think it is holding you back?  Do you think it is causing you to perform worse?  Do you think it is pushing you down in the benchmarking compared to --


MR. TREMBLAY:  I think it is a potential factor, but, again, I don't think that this particular one is necessarily a significant one.

Training, everyone needs to do training and there are high standards in the nuclear business.  We are not running a bakery.  We are running a nuclear power plant.  There are many specialized skills.  We need to train our staff.  This wasn't to say, necessarily, that our job is tougher, and I acknowledge that the certification training occurs globally.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, let me just take you back to the first sentence:
"OPG Nuclear business planning has historically been driven by certain key factors that drive costs, many of which are unique to CANDU... operations."


I would submit to you that the vast majority of these are not.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, again, the CANDU reactor is more complex.  There are more interrelated systems.  That is a fact.

MR. RUBIN:  That's number one, I grant you that one.

MR. TREMBLAY:  And, you know, the heavy water management enhances the complexity of it.

MR. RUBIN:  In return for higher fuel efficiency and lower fuel costs.  You have already agreed --


MR. TREMBLAY:  I talked about that, yes.  And I would say, you know, the other point that I think I have made a number of times is that there are technological differences between Pickering A, B and Darlington, and we see that in terms of the operation of the plant, the vulnerabilities, from single-point vulnerabilities, and that accounts for some of the difference in performance, as well.

MR. RUBIN:  That is all under complexity.  That is all listed on your first one, which I granted you has some validity to it.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  I just don't see any validity in any of the others.  The other one that appears that might have validity is generation technology, which is really about age?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  And I guess, Mr. Sequeira, can you confirm for me that the average age of the benchmark plants in the United States is comparable to, if not older than, the average in the OPG fleet?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Not at this moment.

MR. RUBIN:  You can't confirm it at this moment; is that what you mean?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I can't confirm at this moment.

MR. RUBIN:  I see.  Do you have any evidence that the United States -- that the fleet of benchmark comparables is younger than the OPG reactors?  You can't confirm that?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, I don't.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That is not to say it is not true, I just don't have the evidence at this moment.

MR. RUBIN:  Do the gentlemen from OPG have any indication that your reactors are older, because this is -- basically, this generation technology paragraph I take as crying the blues about old reactors and being the first to undergo certain steps.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think, you know -- and Mr. Leavitt spoke about that briefly.  The life-limiting component in our reactors are the pressure tubes.  And certainly if you look, the continued life plan for Pickering B, for example, requires extensive amount of work on the reactor face to validate and verify the safety case going forward.

And, you know, again, it typically drives critical path through outages and is an extensive burden, if you will, on the facility.

That certainly is different, and with new designs come new specifications and improved performance in those areas.

MR. RUBIN:  Again, I am trying to focus on this document, other than the section on complexity and technology differences between CANDU and light water reactors, and, you know, I am asking you whether the other pages and paragraphs of this document have anything to them that justifies that first sentence?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think another aspect of the age factor is that on the same piece of lake front, we have three different generations of CANDU reactor --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Leavitt and Mr. Tremblay, I think we are anxious that your panel complete today.  It would be very helpful, I think, when you are asked a direct question, to try and answer that question in the first instance, and then if you want to amplify it with other considerations, that is certainly acceptable.

But I think Mr. Rubin is trying to find out if there are aspects of these specific categories -- they being safety and regulatory, training, material standards and work environment -- that are particular to your facilities and substantially different than what other nuclear operators face.

MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.  Thank you.  I think I referred to training as being a global requirement, so I don't see that particularly different.


There are different material issues within the confines of our plant.  I would just refer you to the fact that the Canadian - or the nuclear industry in the U.S. is much larger, a lot more standardization, better access to the parts and components.  That certainly is an element for us.

And the only other one I would suggest to you is in the safety and regulatory area; we simply have a different regime.  The U.S. operates much more deterministic, and often there is more effort and work required in Canada, in our regulatory environment.

But aside from that, I will grant you the others are considerations and aspects for every nuclear operator in the world.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Turning to Mr. Sequeira, as I recall, you and your company, ScottMadden, has done an awful lot of consulting work.  You have been involved with -- do I remember right that it is something like two-thirds of the utilities in the United States or in North America, or the nuclear utilities?  Anyway, some -- am I close?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  More than 150 utilities.  I think you are probably referring to some percentages of the number of nuclear operators that we had worked with, and it is -- we provided services to approximately 70 percent of the commercial nuclear generation fleet operators.

MR. RUBIN:  And again, at the risk of being a wet blanket in a group that is trying very hard to be positive -- but it is my job -- your benchmarking and targeting and gap-closing operations, I take it most of them result in significant improvements, and you find later that the utilities have achieved some gap-closing.

Would that be fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It would.

MR. RUBIN:  And can you talk a little bit about the others?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  The others being those that do top-down gap planning, and get worse?

MR. RUBIN:  Or have you been involved in helping a utility decide that it wanted to throw in the towel, that it wanted to get out of the nuclear business, that it wanted to sell a reactor, that it wanted to decommission it, that it really wasn't cut out to do the job it was doing or it was too hard or that these cost drivers were just so overwhelming that this was too tough a way to make a buck?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We have been involved in mergers and dis-mergers, but nothing that would come close to meeting the definition or the type of scenario you just outlined.

MR. RUBIN:  No reactor sales?  No shutdowns?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We get involved in one company that was in the process of acquiring.  It did not get approved by the regulators, and therefore it all had to be undone and sort of dis-merged, when they were several years into the process of merging at that point.

MR. RUBIN:  And you were working for the possible buyer, rather than the possible seller?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  We were.

MR. RUBIN:  Were you involved in any way, or was your firm involved in OPG's decision not to refurbish Pickering B?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, we were not.

MR. RUBIN:  Do the OPG witnesses know if OPG made use of either the benchmarking results in the ScottMadden reports or in any other benchmarking kind of information in making that decision?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.  We are not aware.  That would probably be best directed to the base panel.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Sequeira, I am sure you will agree with me that as a mechanical asset gets older, there comes a time when it no longer makes sense to spend a lot of time and money to improve it or upgrade it.  Isn't that fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I think that is fair.

MR. RUBIN:  And nuclear reactors are not immune from that basic fact?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  No, they're not.

MR. RUBIN:  And in the case of a nuclear generating station, the change over time, the change from beginning-game to middle-game to end-game, wouldn't just be in capital expenditures, it could also apply to OM&A level of effort?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It could.

MR. RUBIN:  Now, without going into my experience with old cars, can you tell us anything in your benchmarking that would help us -- and by "us" I mean that in the broad sense of OPG, the Ontario Energy Board, and the intervenors -- that would help us locate the seams between mid-game and end-game, that would help us find the bright line that says:  It's time not to close these gaps?  It is not worth it anymore?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  And the question was, whether... I understand the concept.  What was the question?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  How can we read your benchmarking to help us all locate those lines?

My particular interest is Pickering A, you know, but it is a general -- at this point, it is a general question.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, the benchmarking was not undertaken with the intent of identifying those seams.  We have not attempted to try to analyze it to identify the seams.

MR. RUBIN:  But you would agree with me that, for example, if -- let's say if it turns out in hindsight we are at or past the inflection point for Pickering A.  Let's assume hypothetically we are throwing good money after bad, that history will show the truth of that hypothetical, and your role was to come in and identify targets and to spur on the troops to exert a little more effort to whip Pickering A into better shape so that it can move up a quartile in the benchmarking, I am sure you would agree with me we would all regret that, if that turned out that is your role was.  That is not why you went into this line of work.

So I mean, I guess the question is:  How can you help us tell whether we are at or past that inflection point, and whether we should not be talking about closing gaps for Pickering A?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I would be delighted to undertake the work if retained to do that --


[Laughter.]

MR. SEQUEIRA:  -- by your organization, but we have not been retained to do that at this point.

I can imagine some avenues of analysis, but we haven't performed that.

MR. RUBIN:  If a generating station has total costs, and here I mean total costs, that are significantly higher than the available alternative market price of power, if it takes extra money, if it already has high OM&A costs, I mean, I would submit to you, Mr. Sequeira, you have already shown a number of flags which could be interpreted to mean that we have hit that point.

And you have not interpreted them that way.  You have not been asked to interpret them that way.  But would you want to slow me down if I interpret them that way?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I am trying to grapple with the fundamental assumption, which is that the best way to improve overall fleet performance is to abandon the weak performers and focus on the outstanding performers.

I would just hypothesize, until the analysis is done, it might very well be the opposite.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, could you repeat that last part of that?  I didn't understand it.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  It might very well be the opposite.  And by that, I meant that relative to the payback for the investment, in terms of additional generation on-line versus the cost of getting the additional generation on-line, it may very well be that focussing on the weak performers will get you that payback in a higher percentage of payback than focussing on the outstanding plants.

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  So I mean, you're telling me that if you are scoring 20 percent, and 100 percent is theoretically possible, you have farther to go, and if you focus on the plants that are scoring 95, you may be wasting your money because they don't have far to go?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  For every dollar invested, you just might get more off the 20 by moving them up five than moving the 98 percent a half of a percent to 98.5.

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  History might turn out that way.  That is what you're telling me.  And I am telling you, and I am sure you would agree, that history might turn out the other way and you will look back and say, We were throwing good money after bad.  You will acknowledge that is also possible?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Yes.  Both scenarios are possible.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I was hoping for some guidance on trying to figure out which might be more likely, but thank you for what you have given me.

Wouldn't you expect a major refurbishment to improve benchmarking results?  Wouldn't you expect them to improve - what is the term - material...

MR. TREMBLAY:  Condition.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Material condition.

MR. TREMBLAY:  The Pickering A restart was not a refurbishment.  Pickering A has new pressure tubes, but the plant was really, from a refurbishment standpoint, a much different outage than what would be done through a refurbishment.

The proposed refurbishment that we decided not to proceed at Pickering B, for example, would have brought in new steam generators, new calandria tubes, new feeders, much different scope.

So I would say that Pickering A return to service was not the subject of a major refurbishment.

MR. RUBIN:  There was an environmental assessment hearing on what it would involve and what it would not involve, was there not?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  And were there not literally more than 100 work orders or aspects of things that were upgraded during that return to service?

MR. TREMBLAY:  There were a number of changes made, that is correct, and I would also suggest to you that there are modest improvements going on today in terms of the plant.  And the biggest bang for the buck, in terms of Pickering A, is focussing on its reliability.

And as was said, given the forced loss rate of the plant, there are tremendous returns that can be achieved by industry approach that's being used to enhance that plant's performance.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  Excuse me, I am under some time pressure here.  I am trying to focus on what happened just before it restarted.

And my recollection is that many, many hundreds of millions of dollars were spent, perhaps more than has ever been spent spiffing up any CANDU reactor in the world and perhaps any reactor in the world, and you are telling me that this was much more limited than a refurbishment?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  I was just trying to be accurate.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  What are all of the beeps?

The OEB in its last decision on OPG payments urged OPG management to produce further benchmarking studies.  I am reading from a quote that is actually from the ScottMadden phase 2 report, but, anyway, this is -- I am sure you will all recognize this.

There were three things that the OEB directed:  produce further benchmarking studies, use these studies to determine what level of cost and operational performance improvement is justified, and, three, develop an improvement plan for execution.

We have spent a lot of time discussing benchmarking studies and improvement plans, and I don't think we have spent much time on number 2:
"Use these studies to determine what level of cost and operational performance improvement is justified."

And I am wondering, perhaps starting with you, Mr. Sequeira, if you can help me interpret your study to -- your work to -- did your work give guidance to how much effort is justified?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Our work under phase 2 was to establish a business planning process fundamentally different than the one that was currently in place.

We facilitated meetings in which targets were set, but those targets are at the discretion of management.  What we did is provide the benchmarks, facilitate a process where those were apparent and made it easier to make decisions in a balanced way across all of the cornerstones for the executive team.

MR. RUBIN:  Is it fair -- what I recall from reading through quickly those documents is it seemed like kind of a Goldilocks process.  You said, We could, you know, kind of go nuts and try to hit the top quartile.  How much would we have to spend?  How much would we have to do?  What would have to change?

And, you know, everybody shrieked and you gave four or five different gradations on the menu, and then management decided what level of effort they would pursue.  Is that basically what happened?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  You used some terminology that is new to me, Goldilocks.

What we put in front of management, just so that they would understand and make more tangible what these benchmarks meant, is, relative to cost, if that is what you are referring to, we did put together five scenarios, just because saying "top quartile" is one thing.  Looking at the number and what you need to get to, and the duration in which you have to do it do it, is quite another thing.  We put together a range of scenarios, from low to very aggressive, just to facilitate the understanding of the extent of change required to get to some of these benchmarks.

MR. RUBIN:  But, again, I don't want to duplicate the last line of questioning that perhaps didn't get me very far, but it seems to me that in this number 2 directive from this Board, the Board was asking for something not unlike what I was asking for in judging what is justified in terms of effort and spending, for example, on Pickering A.

And the direction was to use the benchmarking studies to determine what level of cost and operational performance improvement is justified.  And can any of you help me after I say I don't see that?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEQUEIRA:  I'm sorry, to start with, can we back up one step?  Can you point me to the language, because I am finding different language and it might be relevant.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  It is on page 8 of 66 in one of your reports, whichever one has 66 pages in the PDF file.  That would be number 2.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you referring to the page numbers at the top right-hand corner?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, 38 of 66 are the exhibit page numbers.

MR. KEIZER:  I have 64.

MR. RUBIN:  Oh, maybe they're not.  They're the PDF.  Hang on a second.  Let me see if I can find this.

Yes, 8 of 66 is the electronic version and the top of the page says 6 of 64.

And it is in the first full paragraph and it reads as I read it before.  It begins, "The OEB directed OPG management in its last decision to..."  And there is a footnote to the OEB decision with reasons.  I assume it is an accurate quote.  I haven't checked it, but...

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Since we quoted it, I hope it is an accurate quote.  I was focussed actually on the objectives of the studies down below, which was to identify potential cost and performance improvement areas for inclusion in the business plan.

I would say at no point in this exercise did ScottMadden make or deliver an opinion whether or not the investments were justified.

We just identified the performance in the industry, helped OPG document where they were themselves, documented the gap, set up a process for management, closing the gaps across the indices in each of the four cornerstones.

MR. RUBIN:  So then I guess I would turn to your panel colleagues to say what -- is there anything in the evidence that turns its mind to this question and answers it?

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, I might direct you to Exhibit F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1.  This is the business plan, and on page 14 of this evidence, for example, it is one of the matrices that documents the initiatives that were ultimately selected for inclusion in the business plan.

And as testified to earlier in the day, the cost impact, in this case to capital, of those initiatives, 33 initiatives were ultimately incorporated into the business plan.  But it was weeded down from over 150 initiatives to start with.

So decisions were made on the level of investment in each of these particular initiatives, as a matter of discussion and preparation of the business plan.

Now, this is at a very low level in terms of evaluating whether an initiative would, in fact, pay for itself in the long run, but this is an example of decisions on investment, yes or no, and ultimately selecting those that would give OPG the best payoff.

MR. RUBIN:  With respect, you are telling me that you had a big menu and you didn't choose everything, and that you rejected some, and that's how you addressed number 2 of the OEB's directives?  Is that fair?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think what I am telling you is, in response to your question -- is there anything in here that would provide an example of an investment decision based on the benchmarking -- this is an example.

MR. RUBIN:  No, no.  Excuse me, I don't think I said that at all.

I said is there anything here that answers, that accomplishes the directive, number 2, that you got from the OEB, which is:

"Please use these studies to determine what level of cost and operational performance improvement is justified."

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think maybe, you know, at a high level, you know, certainly the target-setting exercised, and perhaps there is professional judgment in there as well, but, you know, landed on a pace of improvement, changes that could be made, and a recognition of the obvious, which is with small reactors, with a challenge, top quartile performance was not appropriate and the investment was better -- was not justifiable, if you will.

Same would be for radiological exposure, for example, where we could spend a lot of money to get very little benefit, and it wasn't seen as appropriate.

MR. RUBIN:  I notice that the 2014 benchmarking goal or target has Pickering A going from 56.6 percent capability factor to 84 percent.  Others have commented on this.

How much of Pickering A's planned improvement to total generating cost per megawatt-hour is due to cost-cutting, and how much is due to forecast increases and capability factor?  Have you broken that out somewhere?

MR. LEAVITT:  That is not broken out in this evidence.

MR. RUBIN:  Am I right in assuming that that is math that is well within OPG's capabilities to produce?

MR. LEAVITT:  That is a correct assumption.

MR. RUBIN:  Could I get you to undertake to do so?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.11.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can we just frame the undertaking?  So the undertaking, again, is to...

MR. RUBIN:  To answer that question:  How much of the planned improvement or reduction in total generating cost per megawatt hour for Pickering A is due to cost reductions and how much is due to forecast increases and capability factor.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.11:  TO ADVISE HOW MUCH OF PLANNED REDUCTION IN TOTAL GENERATING COST PER MEGAWATT-HOUR FOR PICKERING A IS DUE TO COST REDUCTIONS, AND HOW MUCH IS DUE TO FORECAST INCREASES IN CAPABILITY FACTOR.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.

Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  I just wanted to clear up a couple of small items before I get to my main cross.

You were asked earlier by Mr. Shepherd -- and this is in reference to Pickering -- about, given -- he looked at the cost of operating Pickering on an, as he described it, incremental basis, the annual cost.

And because it was at a certain price, he then suggested to you:  Well, why don't you just run it during the summer and not during the rest of the year?

You recall that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, I do.  And while the scenarios and strategies are probably best dealt with with someone else, it is clear that these plants are really designed and staffed for base load operation.  And you know, basically letting the plant idle for a few months would simply drive the costs up.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me just ask the question a slightly different way.

If you were running it for three or four months during the summer, the other eight or nine months of the year, what proportion of Pickering's total cost could you shed, in effect, during the months of non-operation?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I don't have that specific number --


MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm not asking –-


MR. TREMBLAY: -- but clearly, we could potentially divert other resources elsewhere to support maintenance outages and so on, but the bulk of the cost would remain.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Put the other way, the short-run marginal cost of operating Pickering for an additional megawatt-hour is what?

I don't mean to quantify it specifically, but is it a big number or is it a small number?  Literally the next megawatt-hour, today?

MR. LEAVITT:  That is a small number.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And relative to other generation sources in Ontario, is it a big number or small number?  The incremental cost of the next megawatt-hour, today?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. LEAVITT:  I guess the incremental cost would be a small number.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.

MR. LEAVITT:  If we are comparing it against all other energy sources in Ontario, wind and others.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Another question.  There was a -- in your material, I read that in terms of the implementation of the ScottMadden recommendations, there were certain ones within the time frame that were done earlier and some that were done -- are to be done.

One of the factors you took into account in terms of what was going to get done sooner was the items that did not require CNSC approval, in any sense, to implement.

Are you familiar with that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I think, in fact, it may have been perhaps in relation to your evidence this morning about the radiation protection, that there was some CNSC-related issue, in terms of the implementation of that recommendation; am I right about that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I believe it was the days-based maintenance reference, that requires minimum complement changes to be made, that require regulatory approvals.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You are right.  I was confused.

And my question for you is this:  Are there others -- are there other, amongst the ScottMadden recommendations, that cannot be implemented in the absence of CNSC approval of some form?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. TREMBLAY:  One particular recommendation with regards to the reporting line inside the nuclear power plant talked about going to a concept of a plant manager accountable for more aspects of the operation than is currently the case with the work management director sharing responsibility with the plant manager.  That would require regulatory approval as well.

I would say the -- there may be others as well, but those are two that come to mind.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But in terms of what is achievable -- or what you plan to achieve over the planning period, needless to say, the CNSC may or may not agree.  Fair?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Have you identified what proportion of planned savings, for example, from various initiatives are at risk of CNSC approval or non-approval?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I do not have an aggregate on that.  Certainly we aim to be upfront with the regulator, let them know what we're doing, and, if you will, anticipate questions and issues and deal with them.  The days based maintenance, for example, I had a team in Ottawa last week discussing the general concept and the approach.  So we try to manage that, but clearly that is a risk.

As to a total that may be at risk, I don't have that information.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Can I just add some clarity around the process?

As we went through all of the ultimate, last year, 33 initiatives and they completed the template which is submitted as evidence, nearly all of the initiatives have some risk associated with them.  You identified one, which is regulatory approval, but there are unions to deal with and many different obstacles, hurdles, you know, steps that need to be made that are potential risks.

The top-down business process basically commits or management is committing to achievement of a target with a portfolio of improvement initiatives at a particular point in time, many of which have risks, all of which -- not all of which, but many of which the executive team is not clear how they're going to get there.

That is a great difference, which is part of the cultural shift and the pain of moving to top-down.  Before people are asked what can you do next, they all knew exactly how they were going to get there.

Now, they're told to go some place they don't know exactly how they're going to get there.  That is a big cultural change.  It takes a lot more fortitude on the part of top management to say, This is where we're going, this is what we need to do to be at this place in the industry, and a good deal of faith and a lot of hard work from everybody underneath.

The reason I am bringing it up is many of the initiatives will hit barriers and never be implemented, because they're guessing.  I mean, they would never have guessed on whether or not they would get regulatory approval.  They wouldn't have put it in the business plan if they didn't have regulatory approval.  So it is very, very conservative.

Now we're saying this is what we think we can do, but it is contingent on other things.  Many of those will not happen.  The difference is management is committed to, if that doesn't happen, we will find another way to get there with another initiative or another two initiatives in order to make up from what we're losing from that initiative.

That is a fundamentally different commitment and a much stronger commitment, and we are going to get to the end result.  We are not absolutely sure of these 33 initiatives.  We will get there in exactly the way they're expected to contribute, but we will find a way to get there.

So it just puts it in context.  Some of these risks will materialize, but it doesn't change the target.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So it may be a faith-based budgeting system, but I want to know what is legally at risk.

At the moment, you have indicated to me that there are certain initiatives which are legally impossible.  Until you get the regulator to say "yes", you can't do it; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is fair enough.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And regulators can have a fiercely independent streak; fair?

[Laughter]

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that is fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sometimes no matter how good a case you make, you can't convince them; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  I guess to get back to John's point, we have -- this is an evolving area, and more ideas come forward, more granularity appears in terms of the plans.  They become more detailed.

And what we are committed to is delivering the results.  But I take what you are saying, and perhaps we could review what is currently in the plan for that specific question that you asked.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I get the undertaking from you to take a look at it and to advise, to the extent you are able, as to what is at risk vis-à-vis CNSC approval?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We will do that.  Thank you.  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, when you say what is at risk, are we simply asking what needs CNSC approval and what doesn't?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That is what I will endeavour --


MR. STEPHENSON:  No, no.  Actually, Mr. Keizer, I did put it a slightly different way earlier, and let me repeat it that way, which is, in terms of initiatives that are going to generate some your planned cost savings for the planning period, which of those require CNSC approval and what are the dollars attached?  What are the dollars at risk?

MR. TREMBLAY:  All right.  I understand.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.12:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON INITIATIVES THAT ARE GOING TO GENERATE SOME PLANNED COST SAVINGS FOR THE PLANNING PERIOD, AND WHICH OF THOSE REQUIRE CNSC APPROVAL AND WHAT ARE THE DOLLARS ATTACHED.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me talk to you for a moment about benchmarking and top-down budget making.

These are two concepts that I gather can work together, but can also be done separately.  You can have top-down budget making without benchmarking, and you can have benchmarking without top-down budget making; fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  In theory, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I gather that, in fact -- I don't know if any -- how long -- I've forgotten how long you folks have been at OPG.  This is at least the third go-round of top-down budget making I have seen at OPG and its predecessor in the last 15 years, and none of the prior two have taken.

Coming back to faith for a moment, what is the faith that this Board should have that this top-down budget making should succeed when the prior ones have failed, other than the skill of your particular consultant here?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I ask Mr. Stephenson if there is somewhere in the evidence he can point the witnesses to as to the other two approaches which have failed?  I am not quite sure what he is basing his question on.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In fact OPG says it doesn't remember.  There was an interrogatory about this.

The two prior occasions were in 1994, when Maurice Strong became the CEO of Ontario Hydro, and then, again, under the Nuclear Asset Optimization Plan.  I am not sure if either of these two witnesses were here during either of these two eras, but top-down budgeting was implemented on both of those occasions.

Are either of you familiar with that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I certainly lived through both those periods of time with the company.

I think there is an interrogatory that speaks specifically to this.  I can't really address the '94 time period.  Certainly the '97 time period was a time when really the company introduced a lot of processes and a lot of structure, and began to look externally in terms of best practices and rigour in process, engineering change control, work management, and so forth.

And, you know, much was done and much was accomplished back then.

The way I would characterize the organization today is we are very much open and understanding where the world is in terms of performance.  And this benchmarking exercise was different, in the sense that while we benchmark a lot of different areas, this exercise brought them altogether and allowed us to look more holistically at the business.

Furthermore, the approach that has been taken, in terms of our benchmarking and our business plan approach, is more from the standpoint of getting the peers together, having them consider areas of performance improvement and making tweaks and adjustments to the process as opposed to bringing in something brand new.

So, furthermore - and this was evidence that was discussed earlier today - the management of the initiatives, the work itself, is under a tremendous amount of scrutiny and rigour in approach, and whereas in the past we would have tried to do 150 things, we recognized that that was too broad a mandate for the organization.

We picked the high value ones.  We recognized the ones that were interrelated with each other and put dedicated teams to manage and drive that.  And we have a project management office today.

We also put skin in the game for everybody in terms of the achievement of those initiatives.

So while I will grant you that this company has had some variability in performance, I am very confident that this plan will be met and that the savings that are identified are going to be achieved, a different order of approach.

And I will grant you that the management team was taken out of its comfort zone, for sure.  We talked about the cultural shift, but there is a lot being invested in this area.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I right that the advantage of linking benchmarking with top-down budgeting is that the benchmarking gives the budget more credibility, in the sense that it tells the company that the targets that are being driven down by the top -- from the top, rather, are achievable?  They're achievable because you can point out in the industry and say:  There's other folks that are doing this, and better.  Is that fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I think that is fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of the credibility of the numbers -- let me back it up.

Would you agree, if you are going to use benchmarking for that purpose -- in other words to bolster the credibility of a top-down budget -- that enhances the need for the benchmarking to have some solid validity.

I mean, this is not just simply a directional thing, but there really has to be real numbers attached to it that are meaningful and that people can rely upon?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  I think that is fair to say as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And benchmarking, at the end of the day, is a management tool.  Would you agree with me?  It is designed to instil a sense in management about where they should go, and the fact that these are achievable objectives?  Fair?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  That's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the things that is -- I have seen attached to benchmarking, but I don't think I have saw it in this case, is a best-practices kind of analysis, where you look out to the industry and you see what particular highly-ranked companies are doing and what their practices are, and compare them to your own.  You weren't asked to do that function; am I correct?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  There was some portion of that done.

There are two kinds of benchmarking.  You can benchmark performance, which is the benchmarking report that this is.  And the other is benchmarking leading practices.

In this particular case, since it is tied to business planning directly, it was primarily performance-based business planning, but some of the key teams, key functional teams of the fleet-wide peer teams and working groups, were also supported by external consultants who provided to them what were the leading practices being followed by others.

And so that was, again, informational.  It wasn't we are going to do this, but this is what others are doing.

I think days based maintenance is one of those practices that was presented.  I think the team already was aware of that, as they were over most of the leading practices, when presented, they had heard about it, knew about it and understood the concept.

So there was an aspect of that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to suggest to you -- and this is really for the folks on the panel from OPG -- that at least with respect to the phase 1 report, frankly, the benchmarking didn't tell you anything you didn't know already.

I mean, it may have validated what you knew already, but it didn't tell you anything knew, did it?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think, as I mentioned earlier, we've certainly -- we are certainly aware of our index, you know, the WANO index.

However, one of the things it did do was, you know, more holistically look at the entire business from all of the cornerstones.  And that facilitated, I think, a very healthy discussion around where do we need to be over the next numbers of years.

And the very discussions and debates we have been having here were certainly held internally, and drove the organization, I think, into a more structured approach.

So while I will grant you that individually we knew perhaps where all of these were, putting it together had a tremendous benefit for us.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I just get you to turn up for a moment -- it was Mr. Millar's compendium, K3.1.  Fortunately, I am not going to take you beyond the first page.

And I want to talk for a moment about controllable costs and controllable processes and practices, because would you agree with me, at the end of the day, that as management and as a corporation you can only -- there are certain things you can control and there are certain things you can't control, and the goal of any good management is to do a great job at the things you can control?  Fair?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Fair enough.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, let's just -- there are these two pie graphs here of the contributing factors to capability factor performance for Pickering A and Pickering B.

And if I can, I just want to find out what you would characterize in these charts as controllable.

I am assuming that human performance in both pie graphs, you would characterize as controllable, to some degree in any event?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Certainly.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair?  Am I right that design basis is not controllable now that you have bought the plant?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, much less so, yes.  That is correct.

There may be some adjustments or minor modifications that can be done to reduce vulnerability, but they tend to be expensive.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It is not meaningfully controllable in the near term?  Fair?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Fair enough.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Planned outage, I mean, I appreciate that you can conduct your planned outages well or poorly, and to that extent it is controllable.  But I am assuming that at a gross level of operation, the need for planned outages is not controllable?  And at some gross level, the magnitude of the planned outages is not controllable?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think there is certainly mandated inspections that define critical path.  The question for us and the aspect of focus is on better planning, preparation for the outage, and crisp execution.

And that is a major focus of our work program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Is it sort of 50/50 between -- would you call that partly controllable, partly not?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  That would be a fair comment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Equipment reliability, obviously, you want to do a good job there, and I know that is part of your targets.  But again, in the near term, I take it that is only partly controllable at best?  Is that fair?

I mean, you are stuck with the equipment you got?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, I would say it is, you know -- it is a significant components of Pickering A's forced-loss factor, and a diminishing contribution to Pickering B, but it is still a significant factor.  This is all about essentially classifying as maintenance, moving to preventive maintenance and so on.  But there is a certain element of this that requires, again, perhaps a redesign or replacement, and then there is a cost-benefit required to decide whether we are going to go there or not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Am I right -- and I am not -- this is not a scientific exercise, but at least -- on the basis of our discussion, at least about half of this pie graph is not controllable in any meaningful way in the near term?  Is that fair, for both cases?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, in the short term, there are limited things that can be done.  That is in fact the reason why the targets for Pickering A and B differ from those of Darlington.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then if I can take you for a moment to the total generation cost metric for a moment, and I think this is at -- bear with me.  This is the Value for Money metric.  It starts at page 122 of 158, of the -- I think it is the first report.  Do you have that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to be clear, the reason why you view the total generation cost metric as the key metric here is it eliminates, if I can call it, the substitutability problem, as between capital and O&M; correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. LEAVITT:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  By adding them together, the substitution becomes irrelevant; correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That being said, I think it is -- is it not fair to say -- I think you concluded that capital costs are not particularly controllable from a management perspective; is that right?

I mean, leaving aside this issue about how you characterize them.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Well, I think we have -- don't we have an undertaking to look into --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  You know what?  Fair enough.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  -- thresholds?

MR. STEPHENSON:  You're right.  Deal with it through that way.  Fuel cost, I appreciate you go and get the best deal you can, but there is a world price here for your fuel; correct?

MR. SEQUEIRA:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You can negotiate around the margins and you can hedge and so forth, but you're governed -– it's sort of like the price of oil.  There is a price out in the market; correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then I want to talk, in terms of non-fuel operating costs, I just want to make sure I do understand this correctly.

You list a total of one, two, three, four -- five items here.  Capability factor, station size, CANDU technology, you say -- you characterize as none of those three are controllable, correct, in any meaningful way?

MR. LEAVITT:  I think capability factor is controllable.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You are quite correct, and you deal with that over on the reliability side of your analysis as distinct from in this section; correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  Reliability from forced loss rate and outage durations through effective execution and planning.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Right.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Certainly size and technology are fixed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the corporate cost allocation, again, I take it at one level this is sort of like the capital OM&A issue.  In one sense, depending on how the corporate costs get allocated, they might fit in some version of this calculation, but from -- as ratepayers, the ratepayers pay it regardless of how it is allocated.  So, I mean, to that extent it is not controllable?

MR. LEAVITT:  No.  I would say corporate allocations are controllable.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And are we now talking about allocations as between the regulated business and the non-regulated business, or the allocations between the stations and head office?

MR. LEAVITT:  I am talking about the allocations of corporate costs and centrally-held costs, like pension and OPEB, to the stations on a modelled basis, you know, dependent on how many people are there, or how many computers are there, or how much real estate they have, that sort of an allocation model.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And that may affect the cost of a particular station, but we are paying -- in this hearing, we are paying a rolled-up rate for your entire nuclear business.  We don't really care about that.

MR. SEQUEIRA:  There are two pieces to that.  I think what is commented on is the allocation process.  And, you are right, no matter where you push it, it is going to show up some place in the rate case.

The other is the actual cost itself.  I mean, are the costs that are being allocated -- can those costs themselves be reduced?  And those may be direct nuclear-related costs.  They might be IT, HR, finance department.  I mean, those are all types of costs which have two elements, the cost itself, and then how it is allocated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And am I right, then, you then go on and you look at each of your three plants and assess the key cost drivers for each of them in terms of these metrics?

It is fair to say that, with respect to the two Pickering plants, the cost drivers are the non-controllable factors, the key ones are -- station size, CANDU technology are the first two, and, to a degree, capability factor.  That is what you say about Pickering.  That is on 121.

MR. LEAVITT:  Well, I think what we would like to say about Pickering is obviously the station size is fixed and it is not going to change.  The technology is established.  The capability factor is where we're looking for significant improvements.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Right.  Let me come back to Pickering for a moment on significant improvements.

Are you familiar with the evidence in the last case from three or four years ago when you were here on the -- the company was in on the payments?

MR. LEAVITT:  Some of it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  At the time, for Pickering B, the business plan had certain targets regarding performance.  Do you remember -- are you familiar with that and what they were?

MR. LEAVITT:  I am not familiar.  I don't think this panel is familiar with those.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I can tell you it is not very complicated.  It was repeated time and time again.  It was called 85-5.  Does that ring a bell?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  Yes, it does.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that was, if I am not mistaken, 85 percent capacity factor, 5 percent forced loss rate; correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that was at the time viewed as a target; correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Can I just take you, then, to the phase 2 benchmarking report, page 7?  And, sorry, that is page 7 at the bottom, page 8 at the top.

Am I right, if we look at the chart here, this is the 2008 Pickering B two-year forced loss rate, 18.19?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that is the number that was -- the target was five; am I right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Then the capability factor at 73.17, that is the number that was the 85; correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Then if we go ahead in this document --


MR. TREMBLAY:  And I would say a big component of that was a specific issue associated with unit 7.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  And that is the nature of these numbers, isn't it, that when you are dealing with -- the units are big -- relatively big units.  There's a small number of big units, and if something goes wrong with one for any particular period of time, it can drastically skew the outcome; correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Like, a single event can have a big impact on the outcome; correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  If we then go to page 15 of the phase 2 report - that's page 16 at the top - this is where you are now targeting to be at 2014; correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think there is a chart that actually shows the specifics.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think this has it.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Okay, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Pickering B, it is in yellow on mine at 4 percent.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So that is better than 5; right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, it is.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, that is good.  And then right below that, the two-year -- two-year unit capability factor, 81 percent?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So the ScottMadden exercise, at least vis-à-vis the Pickering units -- or Pickering B, in particular, I take it it hasn't in fact changed the target vis-à-vis those two key metrics, at all; is that fair?

I mean, it is four instead of five, and, in fact, 81 instead of 85, but it hasn't really changed them?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I am not sure your point here, that the...

Yeah, the target is -- for 2014 is 4 percent for both Pickering A and B.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  My point was this.  Vis-à-vis Pickering B, I am trying to -- it's a brave new world.  You have gone out and hired these fine folks at ScottMadden.  It has told you a bunch of information that confirmed what you already knew, and for the purposes of at least the key generation output metrics, you have come up with targets for 2014 which are virtually the same as you had three years ago; isn't that right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Certainly a slight improvement there, but, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, no.  Actually, if you look at the capability factor, it is worse, 81 versus 85.

MR. LEAVITT:  I don't think we should lose sight, though, that this business plan incorporated the work to support Pickering B continued operations, which introduced additional outage time for inspections and additional cost into the parameters to add another four years to the life.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, fair enough.  But we are basically -- your target today isn't materially different than what your target was when you came in here three-and-a-half years ago, fair, on the production side?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  I guess I would say that the -- that there has been some adjustment, some improvements, and obviously on capability factor we need to appreciate that conditions change, and so that would bring some difference.  But certainly we have continued -- if there is one thing that is done, it is reinforced the need to continue to improve performance.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me just ask you this question.

Now -- and this is a rare case where I am in blinding agreement with my friend, Mr. Shepherd.  He said to you you can't really expect the Pickering units to do as well, no matter what you do, as the Darlington units are doing today, and I think you agreed with him that that is true, but you also said, We need to improve them all; fair?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of a benchmarking exercise, wouldn't comparing your Pickering units against your Darlington units be a more accurate benchmarking exercise than the good folks at ScottMadden did for you?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I don't believe so.  The reality -- that would presume, I guess, that Darlington was where it needed to be.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Not at all.  Let's look at it from a perspective of Pickering.

MR. KEIZER:  Let him answer the question, I think, first.

MR. TREMBLAY:  I would simply point out that the broader benchmarks provide more granularity in terms of where people are performing.  And on reflection, it is recognized that there is more to be done at Darlington.  There is more work to be done, and the plan, I think, if anything, encourages us to do more.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me just finish with this.  The one thing that was clear from your evidence is that you haven't made any attempt to actually quantify that portion of the cost differential as between you and the benchmarked utilities, in terms of which items are meaningfully within your control and which ones aren't; correct?

That was earlier described by our friend from ScottMadden as a rat-hole that you shouldn't go down; correct?

MR. LEAVITT:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In the absence of that information -- and I am not talking about calculating down to the last dollar, and I know that that's where the rat-hole goes -- but how is the Board to understand the magnitude of the achievable differences between you and the median of the benchmarks, when they don't know how many dollars are actually controllable and how many aren't?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think, as you point out -- do we have a pinpoint accuracy on the differences, what is controllable and what isn't -- I guess our approach and our philosophy was to get beyond that and look practically at the changes we could make and the performance levels that we could achieve.

And so that is what essentially we drove in the organization.

In addition to that, we ensured that we had enough dialogue with the line leaders in the organization, and through the peer teams, that looked at the way we were doing business, looking for opportunities.

So it wasn't just a chasm, if you will.  I'll grant you it is aggressive in terms of improvement, but there are lots of clues and approaches and ideas that came forward, that we are confident that we can achieve what we have set out, recognizing that there are, as you point out, some initiatives that will not get the approval, things will change, and we will need to back away from this and move in a different direction.

That is expected over the next few years, and this plan is evolving.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But here is where I am going -- and this is my last point -- if the cost on -- you know, and going back to figure 8 on page 15 -- you know, if -- and we just use the total generating cost metric, the best quartile is $42.60 in -- sorry, this is the... pardon me, I am looking at the wrong page.  Sorry, I am on page 7.

The best quartile in 2008 was 32.31 is the median.  Median, pardon me.

And Pickering B, let's use that one, is 58.68.  Do you see that?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Isn't it important for the Board to know that the difference those two numbers, which is -- whatever it is, $26, right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Part of that $26 is under your control, and part of it isn't, in terms of your ability to change that?  Fair?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  It would be wrong for the Board to reach the following conclusion, I am going to suggest to you and I want you to see if you agree with me.

Let's say the Board concluded the following:  There is a $26 difference in 2008 between Pickering B and the median.  We think that that is too much.  It is obvious that that $26 difference is very substantial, and OPG is all to blame, and therefore, their OM&A should be disallowed, to the tune of 30 percent.

Not only would that be the wrong conclusion, that would be the wrong analysis; isn't that true?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, yes, I would believe it is.

I would suggest to you that there is a balancing exercise around the aggressiveness with which we pursue this.  We believe we can make these improvements.

We believe it is not possible to get to top quartile, and furthermore, you know, Pickering B is still doing lots of improving as a plant.

So we believe this plan strikes that balance, and is appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I hate to interrupt my friend, and I know we are towards the end of the day.

His cross-examination is starting to sound a lot more like examination in-chief or re-direct than a cross-examination.  It seems to me to be seeking to supplement the record, which is a role for the Applicant, not for an intervenor, and particularly where an intervenor chooses to go last in the order, where no one else has an opportunity to challenge any of this.

I don't know if this is continuing, but I see this as a problem here, and it may well be a greater problem in panels to come.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I just comment on that?

In the last hearing I was in, in this room, I was criticized for exactly the opposite, that my questions were too much like cross-examination and not enough like examination in-chief.

So I would just ask Board Staff to pick one --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Stephenson -- sorry, Mr. Stephenson, one moment please, just before you continue.

Regardless of what happened last time, let's just address the issue of today, because I do not have before me the record of last time, and I don't really see how it is relevant.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well –-

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think Mr. Millar has made an observation, and so I welcome your comment in response to that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am happy to respond.  The form of the questioning, with all due respect, is entirely irrelevant.  The issue is whether the questions and answers are relevant to the matter.

The fact that the questions are more open-ended makes them less objectionable at this stage of the game, because of course I am not suggesting the answers.

I am asking the panel, I thought, what would be a very helpful question, which is:  Would the Board be doing the right thing, in your view, if it did this?  I would have thought that is precisely the information the Board needs.  I am not sure how that is supplementing the record in any different way than anybody else that has asked any questions.

I am seeking information that I would think the Board would want to know, that is what is the panel's view of taking this approach or taking -- reaching this conclusion.

So I don't agree with my friend's view.  I don't think I am supplementing the record, any more than any other question that is being asked provides information which is not already on the record.

So I don't understand the objection.  I don't agree with it.  And to my view -- and I am certainly happy to conclude.  I am virtually -- I think I am done, but I am concerned about the objection partly because of its inconsistency, but partly because I don't understand how it is, in any way, objectionable.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?

MR. MILLAR:  Only very briefly, and I am sure this will come up in further panels, but the form is exactly the point and the position Staff is taking is not inconsistent.  Mr. Stephenson is asking cross-examination questions, but his point is really much more akin to examination-in-chief.

It is not appropriate to put the answers to witnesses when you are essentially seeking to supplement the record.  You can't suggest the answer in the question.  Of course, he is technically doing cross-examination because he is not the applicant, but it is not appropriate to ask questions in that fashion when you are seeking to essentially agree with OPG or, if anything, push the payment amounts up as opposed to pulling down as all of the intervenors have done.

If he is done for today, then that's fine.  I don't know that we need to go into it any further, but I have heard this complaint from others.  In fact, some people have e-mailed me while we were speaking today, and I suspect this won't be the end of it if we have a similar cross-examination that comes at the end on another panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  We will -- I take it, Mr. Stephenson, you are approaching your conclusion today?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't know if the witness had answered the question, and that was my only -- but assuming he has answered the question, then I don't have anything further.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, we will make sure.  I am just trying to ascertain where we are today.

The Panel will certainly consider the comments you have made, as well as Staff counsel, and we may have something further to say on that.  We won't say anything more about that now.

Now, do you want to just assure yourself that you have completed your questions for this panel?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I guess my only question was whether or not, in fact, you had completed your answer, sir?  And I am not sure if you can remember it at this stage.

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Ms. Spoel, I think you had a...
Questions by the Board:


MS. SPOEL:  I have one question.  It is really just a clarification.

On figure 8 on page 16 of 64 of the phase 2 report from ScottMadden, under "2 Year Industrial Safety Accident Rate", there is a best quartile of 0.05, a median of 0.09.  So I assume that a small number is better than a big number.

And then Pickering A is in green at 0.015, as is Pickering B, as is Darlington, and the key is that green is the best quartile performance, which I assume would therefore have to be a number of 0.05 or smaller.

I just want -- the same thing happens on the two-year reactor trip rate, where a green number is actually larger than the median.  And I just wondered if there was a mistake in this table or if I am missing something?

MR. LEAVITT:  No, it is not a mistake.  We gave two criteria to a green shading, actually.  One is top quartile.  This is reflected in the note or the key at the bottom of the chart.

So if it is best quartile performance, we would shade that box green.  But, in addition to that, if it is a parameter that is one of the factors in the Nuclear Performance Index, NPI, and we are already achieving maximum points as per WANO guidelines for that indicator, we also gave it a green rating in that case.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, so that little slash there between the two means "or"?  Your key at the bottom says, "Green = best quartile performance/max NPI points achieved if applicable".


I assumed that little slash meant "and", but I guess it means "or"?

MR. LEAVITT:  It does mean "or".

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you for the clarification.  That was it for me.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  The Board Panel has no further questions.

Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I have no re-direct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks.
Procedural Matters


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I can get one clarification before we close up.  Mr. Rubin elicited a response from the panel with regard to the role of benchmarking for the purposes of the decision on the Pickering B refurb or no refurb.

He was directed to go to the base O&M panel, from my recollection of the response.  I would have thought that the issue would have been more appropriately taken up with panel 6, rather than panel 3, and I just was seeking clarification as to where to send questions of that nature.

MR. LEAVITT:  What is panel 6 again?

MR. ADAMS:  Panel 6, nuclear refurbishment.

MR. KEIZER:  No.  Actually, I believe it is panel 6 that is probably the best location for that question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So we are adjourning now until Thursday.  On Thursday, we will be starting at 10 o'clock.

Subject to any other -- is there anything else?  Thanks again.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:31 p.m.
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